

UV response of mammalian p53 tumor suppressor gene

Tarja Mälkönen



Haartman Institute Department of Virology University of Helsinki Finland

UV response of mammalian p53 tumor suppressor gene

Tarja Mälkönen

Haartman Institute Department of Virology University of Helsinki

Academic Dissertation

To be presented with the permission of the Faculty of Medicine, University of Helsinki, for public criticism in the Small Lecture Hall of the Haartman Institute, Haartmaninkatu 3, Helsinki, on September 10 th, 1999, at 12 noon.

Helsinki 1999

To Mum, who never ceased to love life

| Supervisor: | Doc. Marikki Laiho Department of Virology Haartman Institute University of Helsinki Helsinki, Finland | |
|-------------|--|--|
| Reviewers: | Prof. Juhani Syväoja and University of Oulu Biocenter Oulu and Department of Biochemistry Oulu, Finland and University of Joensuu Department of Biology Joensuu, Finland | Doc. Pirkko Härkönen University of Turku Institute of Biomedicine Department of Anatomy Turku, Finland |
| Opponent: | Prof. Klas G. Wiman Karolinska Institute Microbiology and Tumor Biology Center Stockholm, Sweden | |

ISBN 951-45-8693-X (PDF version)

Helsingin yliopiston verkkojulkaisut

Helsinki 1999

TABLE OF CONTENTS

| ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS | 3 | |
|--|----|--|
| ABBREVIATIONS | 4 | |
| SUMMARY | 5 | |
| INTRODUCTION | 7 | |
| REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE | 9 | |
| CELL CYCLE CONTROL AND CANCER | 9 | |
| Cell cycle regulators | 9 | |
| Cellular response to DNA damage | 10 | |
| UV RADIATION | 12 | |
| DNA lesions induced by UV radiation | 12 | |
| Nucleotide excision repair | 13 | |
| RETINOBLASTOMA GENE PRODUCT | 14 | |
| RB pathway in cell growth control | 14 | |
| Inactivation of RB | 17 | |
| p53 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR PROTEIN | 19 | |
| Loss of p53 function in tumor formation | 19 | |
| The structure of the p53 protein | 21 | |
| Induction of p53 by physiological and genotoxic stress | 25 | |
| Activation mechanisms of p53 | 27 | |
| Multiple effects of p53 | 31 | |
| Transcriptional target genes of p53 | 36 | |
| p21 CDK-INHIBITOR | 39 | |
| Cellular effects of p21 | 39 | |
| p53-dependent and -independent regulation of p21 | 41 | |
| CELL CYCLE REGULATORS IN MELANOMA | 42 | |
| p53 changes in melanoma | 42 | |
| p16 mutations | 43 | |
| Other | 44 | |
| AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY | 45 | |
| MATERIALS AND METHODS | 46 | |
| RESULTS AND DISCUSSION | 52 | |
| Transient growth arrest induced by UV radiation | | |
| Function of pRB in G1 phase arrest | 55 | |
| Dependency of p53 accumulation on cell cycle phase | 57 | |
| Dissociation between transactivation and accumulation of p53 | | |
| p53-independent induction of p21 upon UV treatment | 62 | |

| Aberrant p53 functions in UV-treated melanoma cell lines | 66 |
|--|----|
| CONCLUSIONS | 70 |
| ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS | 72 |
| REFERENCES | 74 |

ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

The thesis is based on the following original articles, which are referred to in the text by their Roman numerals.

- I Haapajärvi, T., Kivinen, L., Pitkänen, K., and Laiho, M. Cell cycle dependent effects of UV-radiation on p53 expression and retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation. *Oncogene* 11: 151-159, 1995.
- II Haapajärvi, T., Pitkänen, K., Tsubari, M., and Laiho, M. p53 transactivation and protein accumulation are independently regulated by UV light in different phases of the cell cycle. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17: 3074-3080, 1997.
- III Haapajärvi, T., Kivinen, L., Heiskanen, A., des Bordes, C., Datto, M., Wang, X-F., and Laiho, M. UV radiation is a transcriptional inducer of p21^{Cip1/Waf1} cyclin-kinase inhibitor in a p53 independent manner. *Exp. Cell. Res.* 248: 272-279, 1999.
- IV Haapajärvi, T., Pitkänen, K., and Laiho, M. Human melanoma cell line UV responses show independency of p53 function. *Cell Growth & Diff.* 10: 163-171, 1999.

ABBREVIATIONS

| AP | apurinic/apyrimidic |
|----------|---|
| ARF | alternative reading frame |
| ATM | ataxia telangiectasia mutated |
| ATR | ATM related |
| hn | hase pair |
| 5-BrdUrd | 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine |
| | chloramphenicol acetyltransferase |
| Cdk | cyclin dependent kinase |
| CID1 | Cdk inhibiting protein 1 |
| CV | cuk minotung protein 1 |
| | caselli killase |
| | cyclin kinase innibitor |
| | Cockayne s syndrome |
| DNA-PK | DNA-dependent protein kinase |
| EMSA | electrophoretic mobility shift assay |
| ERCC | excision repair cross complementing |
| FCS | fetal calf serum |
| GADD | growth arrest and DNA damage inducible |
| GAPDH | glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase |
| HPV | human papilloma virus |
| hsp | heat shock protein |
| ΗŪ | hydroxyurea |
| IGF-BP | insulin-like growth factor binding protein |
| IL. | interleukin |
| INK4 | inhibitor of Cdk4/6 |
| INK | iun amino-terminal kinase |
| IFS | I i-Fraumeni syndrome |
| ΜΔΡ | mitogen activated protein |
| MDA | melanoma differentiation associated protein |
| mdm? | murine double minute gene 2 |
| MEE | murine ambrue fibroblest |
| | mathenal |
| | |
| | messenger ribonucierc acid |
| NBC2 | newborn call serum |
| NER | nucleotide excision repair |
| PAGE | polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis |
| PBS | phosphate-buffered saline |
| PCNA | proliferating cell nuclear antigen |
| PI3-K | phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase |
| pol | polymerase |
| RB | retinoblastoma |
| RT-PCR | reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction |
| SDI1 | senescent cell-derived inhibitor 1 |
| SCID | severe immunodeficiency |
| SV | simian virus |
| TAF | TBP-associated factor |
| TBP | TATA box-binding protein |
| TBS | Tris-buffered saline |
| TGF | transforming growth factor |
| TTD | trichothiodystrophy |
| UV light | ultraviolet light |
| VFGF | vascular endothelial growth factor |
| WAF1 | wild_type n53 activated factor 1 |
| VD | varoderma pigmentosum |
| Λſ | Actouctina pignicillosulli |

SUMMARY

To prevent accumulation of genetic lesions, cells subjected to genotoxic stress have two equally important ways to respond. Most commonly, DNA damage elicits a replicative arrest at various cell cycle checkpoints in order to give the cell time to accomplish DNA repair. Alternatively, in the case of intolerable or unrepairable DNA lesions upon excessive insult, apoptosis remains the only possibility to remove genetically damaged material, which may otherwise predispose the cell to genomic instability and cancer.

The ability of p53 tumor suppressor to inhibit malignant transformation and cancer formation has been addressed as far as its capability to control cell cycle progression and induction of apoptosis. A role of p53 as a mediator of growth arrest and apoptosis has been suggested, since it is well established that after γ -irradiation, and many other DNA damaging stimuli, p53 is needed for normal cellular response. At the beginning of our study, little was known about the activation pattern and requirement of p53 after UV radiation, which causes DNA damage very different from those generated by ionizing radiation.

To study the action of p53 in UV-damaged cells, a fruitful approach turned out to be UV treatment of mouse fibroblasts synchronized to a particular cell cycle phase. This method allowed us to explore in detail the UV-induced cell cycle responses and cell cycle phase specific activation of p53 as well as other regulators of proliferation. Contrary to expectations, p53 accumulation failed to occur in UV-treated, G1-phase arrested cells, but accumulation was observed when the cells recovered from the G1 arrest and entered the S phase or, alternatively, when the cells were irradiated and subsequently arrested in S. Rather than being dependent on the cell cycle phase as such, p53 accumulation in G1/S and S phases appeared to be dependent on replication of damaged DNA. Furthermore, pRB hypophosphorylation, which was shown to occur independently of functional p53, correlated with the kinetics of both general UVtriggered growth arrest and specific G1-phase arrest. Further studies indicated, however, that despite absent p53 accumulation p53 had a transactivation function in all cell cycle phases. Thus, in contrast to replication-dependent accumulation of p53 its UVCmediated transactivation seemed independent of cell cycle phase and protein stabilization.

In contrast to the majority of cancers, p53 mutations are seldom detected in human melanomas. Of seven melanoma cell lines studied, three carried a mutation, and cell lines harboring normal p53 expressed high levels of wild-type p53, another special feature of p53 in melanomas. Although all p53 target genes (p21, GADD45, and mdm2) were induced upon UV in cells expressing wild-type p53 – and most of them also in cell

lines with mutant p53 cell lines – their induction was dissociated from p53 function. Interestingly, GADD45 induction, but not p53, correlated with growth arrest and induction of apoptosis. In addition to abnormal stabilization of wild-type p53, many aspects of the p53 pathway showed abnormalities, and UV responses did not significantly differ among cells carrying mutant or normal p53 suggesting functional inactivation of wild-type p53 in melanoma cell lines.

Since previous studies were highly suggestive of p53-independent regulation of p21 cyclin-kinase inhibitor, UVC responses and p21 activation were examined in p53-/mouse fibroblasts. UVC radiation induced rapidly and efficiently both protein and mRNA levels of p21 also in the absence of p53. In contrast to p53+/+ MEFs, however, high UVC doses abrogated p21 protein induction in p53-deficient cells, and secondly, p53-/- cells were more prone to apoptosis, suggesting a requirement of p53 function in these responses. p21 promoter assays confirmed transcriptional activation of p21, and UV-inducibility was mapped to two regions in the p21 promoter, both lacking p53-binding sites.

These studies have particularly shed light on the cell cycle phase-specific regulation of p53 accumulation and transactivation in UVC-damaged cells. In addition, by using several different approaches, p21 induction upon UV treatment was confirmed to occur at the transcriptional level also independently of p53. Finally, despite a wild-type coding sequence of p53 several p53 regulatory steps were proved to be disturbed in melanoma cell lines suggesting that defective function of p53 may, after all, play a role also in this cancer type.

INTRODUCTION

Cancer is a disease characterized by a loss of normal control of cell growth.

Uncontrolled growth of malignant cells results from their disability to respond to extracellular cues leading either to growth arrest, differentiation, or apoptosis. After transformation the malignant cell proliferates independently ignoring the signals from the environment. Several different alterations in multiple pathways can cause genomic instability, and according to a multistep theory one harmful genetic change predisposes the cell to another, parallel mutation. Even if loss of one cell growth regulator could be succesfully compensated, two or more changes may permanently disturb the growth control and give rise to clinical cancer. Activation of proto-oncogenes, inactivation of tumor suppressors and defective DNA repair processes are all mechanisms that disrupt the control of cell division and potentially lead to accelerated, inappropriate cell proliferation.

Compared to oncogenes, the study of tumor suppressors has proved to be quite difficult. While one mutated allele of an oncogene is usually sufficient for altering the phenotype, the recessive nature of most tumor suppressors requires the inactivation of both alleles. Moreover, by the definition, growth suppressors inhibit growth making their identification even more difficult. At present a dozen tumor suppressor genes have been identified; the retinoblastoma gene product (pRB), p53, and more recently, some cyclin kinase inhibitors, are most extensively studied.

pRB, which is at the interphase of the cell cycle machinery and transcriptional control mechanisms, represents a classic recessive tumor suppressor, while mutation in one allele of p53 gene may suffice for cancer formation. p53 mutations, often in conjunction with other cellular changes, are detected in about 60% of all human cancers. As a transcription factor p53 has the potential to affect diverse cellular processes via target gene activation, and its role in DNA-damage induced growth arrest, induction of apoptosis, and DNA repair processes is well established. Because p53 is involved in cell cycle checkpoint control, its activation by different DNA damaging and growth arresting conditions is of special interest.

p53 protein accumulates in response to diverse genotoxic insults. p53-mediated apoptosis and growth arrest due to cytotoxic drugs and ionizing radiation have represented the main streams for exploring p53 function. At the beginning of our studies the need and requirement of p53 function for UV-radiation caused growth arrest and apoptosis were undefined, but it was generally assumed that UV, although causing DNA lesions totally different from those upon γ -irradiation, elicites a similar response to damage. Similarly, despite the evident participation of p53 in the regulation of cell cycle progression, little was known about the cell cycle phase-dependent activation of

p53. In earlier studies p53 target genes appeared to be under strict control of intact p53, but later these proteins, all involved in cell cycle control, apoptosis, or DNA repair, were found to be regulated by multiple pathways.

Rather than studying the p53 conformation and downstream events the focus in p53 research has now been turned to exploring specific regulation of p53, the events that earlier practically nothing was known about. Due to its apparent clinical importance, p53 has been one of the most vigorously studied molecules in the field of cancer molecular biology, and even now, after twenty years of research, the interest still shows no signs of subsiding.

REVIEW OF THE LITERATURE

CELL CYCLE CONTROL AND CANCER

Unlimited growth, the most characteristic feature of tumors, represents the sum of unfavourable events. First, a genetic change, due to intrinsic or extrinsic signals, has taken place and secondly, recognition of DNA damage or its repair process has failed. Once genomic instability has arisen, additional changes accumulate more easily. Later, selection favours malignant cells with increasingly aggressive growth properties and allows rapid expansion of the tumor. Although a cell has diverse cautionary measurements to prevent loss of growth control, some of them may fail. Most commonly, cancer results from tumorigenic abberrations of cell cycle regulators, in particular, those governing the G1 progression and G1/S-transition.

Cell cycle regulators

Cells, tumor or normal cells, follow the steps of cell cycle consisting of G1, the actual growth phase during which they prepare to synthesize DNA; S, DNA replication; G2, a second shorter growth phase; and M, mitosis. Cells that have transiently or permanently exited the cell cycle, for example because of serum starvation, terminal differentiation, or senescence, remain in the G0 phase. Cells are constantly a target for mitogenic and antimitogenic signals that affect them only during the G1 phase. Growth factors are required for progression through G1 to a specific point called the restriction point (R-point), after which the cell is committed to complete the division cycle even in the absence of growth factors thereafter (Pardee, 1989) (Fig. 1).

The role of cyclins and cyclin-dependent kinases (Cdks) in the precise control of cell cycle is well established. Mitogenic signals cause the assembly of different kinase holoenzymes, that are composed of a cyclin regulatory subunit and a Cdk catalytic subunit. These complexes are formed and activated at specific phases of the cell cycle, and their coordinated function is required for progression through the S and M phases. Contrary to cell cycle phase-specific expression of cyclins, Cdks are expressed constitutively, but are not active until complexing with suitable Cdk. Additionally, the kinase activity of certain Cdks can be regulated by phosphorylation of critical residues, or kinase activity inhibited by various Cdk-inhibitors (CKI), some of which have been shown to possess tumor suppressive properties. p21, p27 and p57 are universal Cdk-inhibitors with broad specificity for Cdks, whereas the INK4 (inhibitor of Cdk4/6)

family members p15, p16, p18, and p19 selectively inhibit only the kinase activity of Cdk4 and Cdk6 in the G1 phase (Kamb, 1995).



Fig. 1. Cell cycle phases. p53 functions at all checkpoints, while pRB activity varies in a cell cycle phase dependent manner. R= Restriction point, \rightarrow = activation, \rightarrow = inhibition. Modified from Grana and Reddy, 1995.

The tumor suppressor gene p53 and the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene (RB) are both involved in the regulation of the cell cycle and are closely linked to cyclin-Cdk pathway. While retinoblastoma protein (pRB) is required in the control of normal progression of the cycle, p53 is called into action in the case of genetic insult. pRB is phosphorylated in a cell cycle dependent manner and is in the hypophosphorylated, active form in the early G1 and binds transcription factor E2F-1. Phosphorylation of pRB by cyclin D-Cdk4/6 in the late G1 results in the release of E2F-1, which activates genes required for the progression to the S phase (Fig. 1.). At present, pRB is the only known target of cyclin-Cdk activity in G1.

The antitumorigenic potential of p53 correlates with its ability to check the integrity of the genome and cease the progression of the cell cycle when DNA damage is encountered. Upon genetic insult, p53 transactivates, among other target genes, the expression of p21 Cdk-inhibitor and thus participates in the growth arrest of cells (Fig. 3). p53, often called the guardian of the genome, is the most often mutated gene in human cancers, stressing the importance of p53 and cell cycle control in tumorigenesis. Whatever the mechanism, increased activity of cyclins and Cdks as well as decreased function of CKIs, pRB, and p53, highly predispose cells to transformation.

Cellular response to DNA damage

Cells are constantly exposed to both extrinsic and intrinsic DNA damage signals. Extrinsic sources of damage include irradiation and chemical mutagens, while intrinsic damage is generated by the cell itself. Despite the high spontaneous chemical reactivity of DNA, only one error is made during replication of the $3x10^9$ bases of human genome. Proliferating cells have a great capacity to tolerate genomic errors, as cells can repair about 100 spontaneous alterations per hour (reviewed by Lehmann and Carr, 1994).

DNA damage types can be grouped into two main categories: damage modifying nitrogenous bases, and damage alterating the phosphodiester backbone. Chemical agents can be covalently attached to bases making intrastrand or interstrand cross-links or cause depurination or depyrimidination of DNA (reviewed by Friedberg, 1995). Ultraviolet (UV) radiation causes special kinds of changes: cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers and (6-4) photoproducts. These lesions are repaired by photoreactivation of DNA and by nucleotide excision repair (NER). Most DNA lesions produced by free oxygen radicals are corrected by base excision repair which is distinct from NER. In this repair system the damaged base is cleaved from its deoxyribose moiety and the apurinic or apyrimidic (AP) sites are excised followed by DNA repair synthesis and ligation. AP sites can also result from spontaneous depurination or depyrimidination of DNA. Mismatch repair, on the other hand, refers to correction of mispaired bases, which are frequently produced during replication and recombination. It can occur by several biochemical pathways including base excision (reviewed by Friedberg, 1995). Broken phosphodiester bonds, on the other hand, cause double-stranded breaks which are repaired by nonhomologous end-joining or by the addition of new telomeres (Wilkie et al., 1990).

Cells have a number of systems to interrupt cell cycle progression when damage to the genome is detected or when cells have failed to complete the preceding cell cycle phase. The DNA damage checkpoint can be regarded as a signaling system, where information flows from factors detecting DNA lesion to cell cycle targets. Signals activating the checkpoints can be produced from recognition of DNA damage itself, during repair, or during replication of damaged sites (Lehmann and Carr, 1994). DNA damage checkpoints act at the G1/S border, during S, and at the G2/M boundary. Although arrest points are scattered throughout the cell cycle, the same or similar proteins are often involved in all of them. In addition, many of these proteins function not only in checkpoint control but also in DNA repair, apoptosis, and transcriptional induction (Paulovich et al., 1997). p53, for example, has a role in each DNA damage checkpoint, in spindle checkpoint, and in apoptosis.

The desired outcome of DNA damage checkpoint control is either a successful repair of DNA after growth arrest, or, in the case of permanent damage, induction of apoptosis. In both these situations DNA errors are not mediated onwards, whereas replication of damaged DNA leads to accumulation of mutations or genomic instability. In addition to the intrinsic error rate, the checkpoint control system may fail because of adaptation or selective pressure. In adaptation, the cell cycle continues after an interval of arrest even if the damage remains unrepaired (Sandell et. al., 1993). In some pathological conditions, like cancer, selection favours cells with defective checkpoints, since genomic instability gives rise to multiple genetic changes needed both for the primary transformation and for increased invasiveness (reviewed by Paulovich, 1997).

UV RADIATION

UV radiation can be divided into three main classes according to its wavelength; UVA (320-400 nm), UVB (290-320 nm), and UVC (100-290 nm). Because the atmospheric ozone layer efficiently absorbs the shortest waves of UV radiation, solar light consists only of UVA and UVB. Even if human skin never meets UVC light, the same DNA lesions, although at a lower efficiency, are produced after longer wavelengths of UV. Besides typical UV-induced lesions, UVA/B also causes considerable oxidative damage. Being usually easily available and measurable, UV radiation, especially UVC, has been quite extensively used in studies of DNA damage and repair. When DNA damage studies are evaluated, the nature of genetic insult is of great importance, as the damage response differs between DNA damage types.

DNA lesions induced by UV radiation

UV radiation causes the formation of a specific type of DNA lesions, the "UV footprints". When DNA is exposed to UV, adjacent pyrimidines become covalently linked by the formation of four-membered ring structures, referred to as cyclobutane pyrimidines or pyrimidine dimers. These lesions distort the helical structure of DNA, and some isomeric forms, but not all, are able to obstruct DNA replication and transcription (Taylor et al., 1990). Formation of pyrimidine dimers is a reversible process, and with high UV doses an equilibrim between the formation and dissociation of dimers by photoreversal can be reached. The dimer formation seems not to take place randomly between pyrimidines, but thymine containing dimers are preferred over cytosine containing ones. With UVC of 254 nm the ratio of T-T to C-T to T-C to C-C was found to equal 68:13:16:3 (Tornaletti et al., 1993; Mitchell et al., 1992).

Another typical UV-induced DNA lesion is the formation of pyrimidine-pyrimidone (6-4) photoproducts, most often of the TC and CC types, which considerably distort the DNA helix (Taylor et al., 1988). Generally the incidence of photoproducts after UV radiation is several times lower than that of pyrimidine dimers, although at occasional sites in DNA (6-4) lesions may occur as frequently as dimers (Bourre et al., 1987) . However, the frequency of UV-induced nonsense mutations correlates better with the frequency of photoproducts than of pyrimidine dimers, suggesting that (6-4) lesions may have a stronger contribution to the mutagenicity of UV radiation (Mitchell et al., 1989).

Although UV and γ -radiation seem to cause quite similar cellular responses, growth arrest and apoptosis, the nature of DNA damage is quite different. The most striking lesions made by ionizing radiation are direct single and double strand breaks, which are almost never caused directly by UVC. However, DNA-protein cross-links and DNA strand breaks are sometimes detected at longer wavelengths of UV (Tyrrell, 1991).

Nucleotide excision repair

Nucleotide excision repair is the most extensively studied, universal, and highly conserved DNA repair mechanism, which is used in all cell types. Many types of DNA damage, particularly those produced after UV radiation or exposure to chemical agents, are repaired by NER. As in base excision repair the damaged base or nucleotide is excised and replaced with a newly synthesized DNA strand by using a complementary strand as a template. An enzyme system hydrolyzes two phosphodiester bonds, one at either side of the damage, to generate an oligonucleotide carrying the lesion. After removing the oligonucleotide, the gap is filled by repair synthesis and ligated to the existing strand (reviewed by Frieberg, 1995). Upon UV radiation, DNA strand breaks are formed only in the context of repair, not directly by UV. Rationally enough, NER occurs more efficiently in the leading strand of DNA and in actively transcribed genes (Mellon et al., 1987). Moreover, some components of TFIIH, a factor essential for transcription initiation, are also required for NER suggesting that repair and transcription are not fully separate processes but are linked to each other and share, at least partly, the same components (Bootsma and Hoeijmakres, 1993). For example, in NER several DNA unwinding enzymes called helicases are needed for damage recognition and removal of a damaged segment, and some of these helicases, ERCC2 and ERCC3, are also components of TFIIH complex thus acting both in nucleotide excision repair and in transcription initiation (Bootsma and Hoeijmakres, 1993).

Three distinct hereditary diseases are associated with defects in nucleotide excision repair: xeroderma pigmentosum (XP), Cockayne's syndrome (CS), and

trichothiodystrophy (TTD). Although in all syndromes gene(s) involved in NER is/are mutated, the clinical pictures are quite diverse. Contrary to expectations, only XP patients are prone to cancers. They exhibit many sun light-induced diseases, including skin cancer, and some neurological defects (Bootsma, 1993). In fact, discovery of defective NER in XP patients led to subsequent cloning of nuclear excision repair genes, which were named XP genes or ERCCs (excision repair cross complementing). XP patients have been assigned to seven different groups (XP-A through XP-G), each carrying a mutation in a different gene. In Cockayne's syndrome, the CSB (=ERCC6) and XP-D (=ERCC2) genes are mutated, resulting in a unique repair defect; a lack of the coupling of transcription for repair (van Hoffen et al., 1993). TTD is caused by mutations of at least XP-B (=ERCC3), XP-D (=ERCC2), and XP-G (=ERCC5) genes (Stefanini et al., 1993). Although XP patients have a high incidence of UV-induced malignacies, there is no other evidence of malfunction of NER in cancers, besides this rare syndrome.

RETINOBLASTOMA GENE PRODUCT

Children with familial retinoblastoma carry a germline mutation on one allele of the retinoblastoma gene (RB1), and mutation of the other allele later gives rise to clinical cancer at very young age (Cavenee et al., 1988). It was soon discovered that RB was mutated in several other cancer types as well, and the identification and characterization of the RB gene made it the first tumor suppressor cloned.

RB pathway in cell growth control

Rather than a tumor suppressor only, pRB should be considered as a core element of an essential pathway governing cell cycle progression, differentiation, cell death, and tumorigenesis. This "RB pathway" consists of D-type cyclins and Cdk4 and 6, which are largely responsible for the cell cycle phase-specific phosphorylation and inactivation of pRB, p16 CKI inhibiting the activity of those kinase complexes, pRB itself, and the family of E2F transcription factors regulated by pRB (Fig 2.). The intactness of this pathway seems to be of utmost importance in tumor suppression, since one or more of these cell cycle regulators appear to be aberrant in nearly every tumor (reviewed by Sherr, 1996). Activation of components with oncogenic potential (cyclin-Ds, Cdk4/6, cyclin E, E2Fs), or inactivation of tumor suppressors (CKIs, pRB) may lead to uncontrolled cell proliferation. Depending on cancer type, a variety of different molecular mechanisms are detected in deregulation of different components of this pathway.



Fig. 2. RB pathway. Cell cycle phase dependent phosphorylation of pRB by cyclins D and Cdk4/6 releases E2F function. p16 and p21Cdk inhibitors are able to inhibit cell cycle progression.

Phosphorylation of pRB

The main task of pRB is to control the progression of the cell cycle through late G1 and the commitment to enter S. pRB is periodically phosphorylated on its serine and threonine residues; at least a dozen phosphorylation sites have been identified (Knudsen and Wang, 1996). Unphosphorylated pRB has to exert its functions during the first two thirds of the G1 phase, during which the cell is sensitive to mitogenic signals. Around and after this restriction point pRB becomes phosphorylated, and is in this form unable to influence the course of the cycle until it is dephosphorylated again after M phase (Ludlow et al., 1990)(Fig.1.). Cyclin D1, 2, and 3 together with Cdk4 and Cdk6 are most prominently involved in the phosphorylation of pRB, but overexpression of cyclin E and A also enhances the phosphorylation of pRB in vitro (Hinds et al., 1992). Probably cyclin Ds are responsible for pRB phosphorylation during G1-phase progression, while kinases associated with cyclin E/A take over the phosphorylation of newly synthesized pRB at the G1/S transition and thereafter (Weinberg, 1995; Bartek et al., 1996). Cyclin D1 overexpression often seen in squamous cell carcinomas is mainly due to gene amplification, whereas in mantle cell B lymphomas an increased level of cyclin D1 is caused by cromosomal translocation t(11;14) (Bartek et al., 1997).

The activity of pRB is modulated in response to both positive and negative growth signals: mitogens favoring cell proliferation raise the level of cyclins leading to phosphorylation of pRB, whereas growth inhibitory signals, such as transforming growth factor β (TGF- β) and contact inhibition, modulate the activity of Cdks by CKIs resulting in inhibition of pRB phosphorylation (Reynisdottir et al., 1995). Thus, neither signal types affect pRB directly, but through modulating the function of cyclin-Cdk complexes.

Complex of pRB with E2Fs

pRB exerts its effects by interacting cell cycle phase-dependently with a range of factors regulating proliferation and differentiation. The growth-inhibitory function of hypophosphorylated pRB was thought to be based on its ability to bind and sequester E2F transcription factors (Chellappan et al., 1991)(Fig. 2.). Later, the pRB-E2F complex was found to actively reppress gene transcription (Hamel et al., 1992; Weintraub et al., 1992), and a recent piece of evidence indicates that the active repression by E2F-pRB complex, not the inactivation of E2F, is the prerequisite for pRB-mediated G1 arrest (Zhang et al., 1999). pRB is a member of the "pocket-protein" family, as a large A/B "pocket" consisting of A and B protein-binding domains is responsible for binding E2Fs and many other factors. The E2F family comprises six transcription factors (E2F1-5 and dE2F), which heterodimerize with members of DP family and control the expression of a number of S-phase genes containing E2Fresponsive elements in their promoters (reviewed by Dyson, 1998). The growth inhibitory function of pRB is not limited to E2F repression-mediated inhibition of RNA polymerase (pol) II, but pRB can also inhibit the activity of pol I (Cavanaugh et al., and pol III (White et al., 1996). Moreover, pRB is able to repress the 1995) transcription of Myc (Cziepluch et al., 1993) and Fos via retinoblastoma controlling element and to enhance the transcription of insulin-like growth factor II (IGFII).

Excess RB has been reported to protect cells from apoptosis, probably by inhibiting E2F-mediated apoptosis (Haas-Kogan et al., 1995; Haupt et al., 1995; Berry et al., 1996). E2F-1 overexpression drives cells inappropriately into the S phase (Johnson et al., 1993) and causes apoptosis, supposedly in a p53 dependent manner (Qin et al., 1994; Shan and Lee, 1994; Wu and Levine, 1994). Interestingly, expression of p19ARF, an activator of p53, is induced by E2F-1 providing a link between the pRB and p53 pathways (DeGregori et al., 1997). E2F-1 seems to be a protein of dual nature. On one hand, it behaves like a classic oncogene in transformation assays (Johnson et al., 1994) and its overexpression promotes tumorigenesis in transgenic mice (Pierce et al., 1998). On the other hand, E2F-1 knock-out mice suffer from numerous tumors (Yamasaki et al., 1996). These opposite effects seem to be dependent on the concentration of E2F in a specific manner: high levels promote apoptosis, medium levels allow cell cycle progression, and low levels cause growth arrest. It is particularly the capacity of E2F-1 to induce apoptosis that seems to be relevant for its conditional tumor suppression function (Macleod, 1999).

The inhibition of E2F has turned out to be too simplistic an explanation for the tumor suppressing properties of pRB. In contrast, it has been shown that E2F binding is not sufficient for growth suppression by pRB (Qian et al., 1992). Moreover, amplification

of E2F in cancer cells is extremely rare and has been found only once (Saito et al., 1995). However, tumors in RB +/- mice are smaller and are formed later in the absence of E2F (Yamasaki et al., 1998). To date, pRB has been found to bind to at least 50 different proteins, and clearly some of these interactions may have a significant role in RB-mediated tumor suppression. For example, the C-terminal domain of pRB binds mdm2 (Xiao et al., 1995) and c-Abl tyrosine kinase (Welch and Wang, 1995), both involved in regulation of tumorigenesis. By binding multiple effectors pRB can simultaneously modulate the signals from diverse growth controlling pathways.

The balance between RB and p16

The inverse correlation between pRB and Cdk-inhibitor p16 expression that is observed in many cancer types indicates that they are connected to each other by a negative feedback loop. As a G1 phase specific Cdk-inhibitor, p16 is mainly involved in the suppression of pRB phosphorylation by cyclin D-Cdk4/6 complexes.

One of the first observations indicated that p16 was overexpressed in tumor cells harboring oncoprotein-inactivated pRB (Serrano et al., 1993). Subsequently, the loss of RB function was associated with high levels of p16 in many tumor types, particularly in gliomas and bladder carcinomas. The introduction of wild-type p16 arrests normal cells in late G1, a mechanism requiring functional pRB (Lukas et al., 1995; Serrano et al., 1995). The ability of pRB to negatively regulate p16 promoter explains the high levels of p16 in the absence of functional RB (Li et al., 1994). Conversely, p16 has been shown to induce transcriptional downregulation of RB, completing the feed-back loop (Fang et al., 1998).

Point mutations and small deletions of p16 are common in pancreatic adenocarcinomas, esophageal carcinomas, and biliary tract cancers, and germline mutations of p16 are found in hereditary melanomas and pancreatic cancers (reviewed by Pollock et al., 1996). Other possible inactivating mechanisms include homozygous deletions and methylation of the p16 locus. p16 Cdk-inhibitor is also the most often lost cell cycle regulator in established cell lines; 70% of immortalized cell lines contain no functional p16.

Inactivation of RB

In addition to disturbing RB function by abnormal regulation of its phosphorylation, pRB activity can be prevented by point mutation or deletion of RB gene, or by binding of pRB with viral oncoproteins. The protein products of transforming DNA viruses, such as simian virus 40 (SV40) T antigen (DeCaprio et al., 1988), human papillomavirus (HPV) E7 protein (Dyson et al., 1989), and adenovirus E1A protein

(Whyte et al., 1988) are able to bind to the hypophosphorylated form of pRB and prevent its association with E2F. Elimination of pRB activity is necessary but not sufficient for virus induced transformation, and explains why the same viruses, though through different proteins, also target p53.

Besides being defective in all retinoblastomas, inactive RB alleles are encountered in approximately 90% of small cell lung carcinomas (Harbour et al., 1988; Yokota et al., 1988; Horowitz et al., 1990), in 20-30 % of non-small cell lung cancers (Reismann et al., 1993), and frequently in bladder, pancreatic (Ruggeri et al., 1992), prostate, breast (Lee et al., 1988; T´Ang et al., 1988; Bookstein et al., 1989), and mesenchymal cancers (Friend et al., 1986; Weichselbaum et al., 1988). Patients with familial retinoblastoma are also prone to soft tissue sarcomas and osteosarcomas (DerKinderen et al., 1988). While major deletions are responsible for defective RB in retinoblastomas, inactivating point mutations in the pRB pocket are more common in other cancers. Interestingly, high levels of pRB in bladder cancer has been associated with as poor a prognosis as is loss of pRB, and overexpression of pRB was found to correlate with loss of p16 further confirming the importance of the intactness of the whole RB pathway (Benedict et al., 1999).

RB appears to be indispensable for development, because RB-/- mouse embryos die at midgestation due to defective erythropoiesis and uncoordinated proliferation and cell death in the liver, lens and nervous system (Clarke et al., 1992; Jacks et al., 1992; Lee et al., 1992). Although RB is clearly important in cellular differentiation, RB knockout mice develop normally until the 13th gestational day, and RB-/- mouse embryo fibroblasts (MEFs) derived from RB-/- mice before this stage are able to proliferate but have a somewhat shorter G1 phase than normal MEFs (Herrera et al., 1996). Other RB family members, p107 and p130, may partly take over the functions of pRB and explain the normal growth at very early stages of development. RB heterozygous mice are viable and develop pituitary and thyroid tumors, but contrary to expectations, exhibit no retinoblastomas (Hu et al., 1994; Nikitin and Lee, 1996). However, RB+/- p107 -/- mice show retinal dysplasia (Lee et al., 1996) or retinoblastoma (Robanus-Maandag et al., 1998) depending on the mouse strain, suggesting that due to overlapping functions inactivation of both pRB and p107 is needed for retinal phenotype. Simultaneous inactivation of pRB and p53 also predisposes to retinal tumors; p53 function would otherwise commit the cells to apoptosis (Howes et al., 1994).

p53 TUMOR SUPPRESSOR PROTEIN

Loss of p53 function in tumor formation

Originally, p53 protein was found to complex with SV40 large T antigen (Lane and Crawford, 1979; Linzer and Levine, 1979), and its overexpression appeared to cause oncogenic transformation of cells. These findings misled the first investigators to regard p53 as a tumor antigen or an oncogene. Later, when the wild-type conformation of p53 was found, the true nature of p53 was revealed. Wild-type p53 was often found inactivated in human tumor cells (Wolf and Rotter, 1985; Baker et al., 1989; Kelman et al., 1989; Nigro et al., 1989) and, when introduced into cells, was growth suppressive rather than oncogenic (Finlay et al., 1989; Baker et al., 1990; Michalowitz et al., 1990).

p53 mutations

p53 function is lost in over 50% of human cancers evidencing the role of p53 in tumorigenesis (Hollstein et al., 1991). A recent database contains over 7500 p53 mutations in all human tumors (Beroud and Soussi, 1998). The mutation frequency varies from one cancer type to another; the average mutation frequencies in most common malignancies are 70% in lung carcinoma, 65% in colon cancer, 45% in stomach cancer, and 30% in breast and prostate cancers (Beroud and Soussi, 1998). Tumor types that rarely contain p53 mutations may still harbor some other changes inactivating p53 pathway. Nevertheless, some cancer types, such as teratocarsinomas, seem to be highly resistant for selecting p53 mutations (Lutzker and Levine, 1996). Most commonly the genetic change comprises a missense mutation in one allele, producing a faulty protein with an increased half life. The vast majority of these p53 mutations are clustered in the DNA-binding domain of the protein, particularly within the four evolutionary conserved regions, the so-called hot spots (Hollstein et al., 1994) (Fig.3). Point mutations can be divided into two classes according to the way they change the DNA-binding ability: "contact" mutants decrease p53 DNA-binding by interfering with those amino acid residues making contact between p53 protein and DNA, whereas "conformational" mutants, making up only 7% of p53 mutations, disrupt the structural elements of the protein. Instead of a specific, common mutant conformation of p53, mutant p53 is more likely a defectively folded form of the protein (Cho et al., 1994).

The mutants of p53 may achieve tumorigenic properties also with a mechanism other than losing the wild-type functions. Some p53 mutants can oligomerize with wild-type p53 and hinder the DNA-binding and transactivation functions of p53 through their dominant-negative effect. For example, p53 wild-type mice with a dominant-negative

transgene developed tumors in which selection has favored mutant p53 over wild-type p53. Moreover, mutant p53 transgene was able to cause tumors in mice harboring one or two alleles of wild-type p53, but not in mice lacking p53, demonstrating the difference between dominant-negative effect and gain-of-function properties (Harvey et al., 1995). Although generally inactive, some mutant forms are still capable of binding DNA and transactivating p53 target genes, at least to a certain degree or in certain circumstances.

While some p53 mutants may mimic the actions of wild-type p53, some wild-type p53 proteins can be functionally inactive. The cytoplasmic location of wild-type p53 sometimes seen in certain rare forms of breast cancer, neuroblastoma (Moll et al., 1995), and melanoma (Weiss et al., 1995) renders p53 incapable of transactivating genes in the nucleus. High levels of mdm2, due to gene amplification or other modifications, may also inactivate wild-type p53 by inhibiting the transactivation capability of p53 and by targeting p53 protein for degradation.

Although inactivation of p53 may be unnecessary or insufficient for tumor initiation, in many cancers it contributes to malignant progression, metastatic potential, and invasiveness (Hsiao et al., 1994). Tumor development requires adequate and continuously growing blood supply, and the involvement of p53 in angiogenesis explains its participation in later stages of tumor progression . Expression of wild-type p53 has been shown to stimulate inhibitors of angiogenesis (Dameron et al., 1994; Van Meir et al., 1994), and a mutant p53 can participate in the stimulation of the angiogenic vascular endothelial growth factor (VEGF) gene (Kieser et al., 1994). In addition, hypoxia, the usual condition in the center of a tumor, induces p53-dependent apoptosis of cells containing wild-type p53, whereas cells harboring mutant p53 survive allowing tumor expansion (Graeber et al., 1996).

p53 mutations in Li-Fraumeni syndrome

Li-Fraumeni syndrome (LFS) provides a human model of nonfunctional p53. The patients have inherited germ-line p53 mutations, which highly predispose them to multiple primary cancers at an early age (Malkin, 1993). The characteristic neoplasms in this dominantly inherited disorder include breast cancer, sarcoma, and glioma, as well as several more rare tumors arising in childhood (Birch et al., 1994). Families with a germline missense mutation in the DNA-binding domain of p53 possess higher cancer rates at earlier age than the families with other type of p53 mutations (Birch et al., 1998). However, heterozygous germ-line p53 mutations have been found in only 71% of LFS families, and many tumors in these patients show no loss of heterozygosity (Sedlacek et al., 1998), questioning the role of p53 as the sole cause of cancer development (Varley et al., 1997).

p53-/- mice and MEFs

p53-/- mice, contrary to RB deficient mice, are viable but are highly prone to both spontaneous and induced tumors, especially lymphomas (approximately 60 % of tumors) and soft tissue sarcomas (20% of tumors) appearing within first 6 months (Donehower et al., 1992; Harvey et al., 1993a). The tumor incidence in heterozygous p53+/- mice is intermediate compared to normal and homozygous p53 -/- mice, and tumor cells of these mice have often lost the remaining wild-type allele. Interestingly, the tumor spectrum in these animals consists predominantly of osteal and soft tissue sarcomas instead of lymphomas (Harvey et al., 1993b). The difference in tumor spectra between heterozygotes and homozygotes may depend on how easily a particular tissue type loses the wild-type allele or how low levels of p53 can still maintain normal p53 functions. The predisposition of p53-/- mice to lymphomas is also of interest, because the loss of p53 is rarely encountered in lymphomas.

p53-/- MEFs derived from p53-deficient mice show several cellular abnormalities: the cells have shortened halflife, they fail to senescence at high passages, and are able to grow at low density (Harvey et al., 1993c). In addition, chromosomal abnormalities and aneuploidy appear at early passage giving rise to genomic instability. Cells lacking p53 are also highly tolerant to different genotoxic impulses leading to accumulated, unrepaired DNA lesions (Lowe et al., 1993a).

Loss of p53 may sometimes be sufficient for immortalization of cells, but more often a lack of p53 allows other genetic changes favoring tumor formation, for example oncogene activation, to occur. Thus, depending on the original genetic backround as well as on accumulating of other mutations, a considerably different tumor pattern and incidence may arise.

The structure of the p53 protein

p53 is a nuclear transcription factor, which activates the transcription of several target genes involved in the regulation of cell growth and apoptosis. Human p53 protein consists of 393 amino acid residues, which can be roughly divided into four structurally and functionally different domains (Fig. 3.). The acidic amino-terminal domain consisting of the first 42 aa is responsible for the transactivating properties of the protein, without which the induction of target genes cannot occur. Amino acids ranging from 102 to 292 form the central sequence-specific DNA-binding domain (Bargonetti et al., 1993; Pavletich et al., 1993), the most common location of p53 mutations. Between these two domains a novel proline-rich domain localized between aminoacids 64 and 92 has been identified (Walker and Levine, 1996). The carboxy-terminal domain displays



many functions, and can be further divided into the oligomerization domain (amino acids 324-355) and the basic C-terminus with the last 30 amino acids.

Fig. 3. Structure of human p53 protein. In the upper panel main functional domains and *in vivo* phosphorylation sites of p53 are shown. In contrast to other modification sites, Ser376 should be dephosphorylated and Lys382 acetylated for increased activity of p53. In the lower panel five conserved regions as well as the three most often mutated amino acids are indicated. \bigcirc = serine, \bigcirc = threonine, \square = lysine.

Amino-terminal domain

The N-terminal as well as the C-terminal domain of p53 binds to numerous proteins involved in DNA replication and repair. A list of factors binding to and affecting the transactivation domain includes many general transcription factors, such as TATA boxbinding protein (TBP) (Horikoshi et al., 1995) and TBP-associated factors (TAFs) TAF70 and TAF31 (Lu and Levine, 1995; Thut et al., 1995), all of which are subunits of the general transcription factor TFIID. By binding to TBP, wild-type p53 can repress genes lacking a p53-binding site. p62, a component of the dual transcription /repair factor TFIIH, and RP-A, a single stranded DNA-binding protein, also interact with amino-terminus of p53. p53 can thus induce growth arrest not only by activating growth suppressive target genes but also by the repression of transcription by sequestering and binding to TBP, RPA and other proteins involved in replication (Seto et al., 1992; Mack et al., 1993). C-Abl is activated after DNA damage and binds to the N-terminal domain of p53 enhancing its transactivation function (Goga et al., 1995), whereas adenovirus E1B 55 kD protein inhibits p53-mediated apoptosis. Most importantly, the negative regulator of p53, mdm2, binds to the N-terminus of p53, sharing the same amino acids 22 and 23 of p53 with E1B 55 kD protein (Lin et al., 1994). In addition, both N- and C-

terminus are subject to diverse phosphorylation modifications that are involved in the regulation of p53; these changes are discussed in the context of p53 regulation.

The proline-rich domain

This domain contains five repeats of the PXXP motif, where P represents proline and X any amino acid (Walker and Levine, 1996). Removal of proline-rich domain does not affect cell cycle arrest but results in an impaired capability of p53 to suppress growth of tumor cells (Walker and Levine, 1996), and impaired apoptotic activity (Venot et al., 1998; Zhu et al., 1999). Interestingly, p53 mutants lacking the proline-rich domain can selectively transactivate certain target genes; natural p21, mdm2, and bax promoters are stimulated while the transactivation of PIG3 is inhibited (Venot et al., 1998). Additionally, this domain seems to be important for transcriptional repression (Venot et al., 1998), which together with selective transactivation is involved in apoptosis mediated by the proline-rich region.

DNA-binding domain

The central sequence-specific DNA-binding domain is an independently folded, Zn^{2+} ion requiring domain. The four conserved regions within the core domain make contact with the major and minor grooves of p53-binding sites, while the less conserved regions serve as a structural element, the ß-sandwich, which helps positioning the residues that interact with DNA (Cho et al., 1994). Proteins defective in DNA binding are incapable of transactivating target genes and transmitting most of the effects of p53. The importance of DNA binding for p53 function is underscored by the fact that p53 residues most often mutated in human cancer, among them Arg248, Arg273, and Arg175, are involved in DNA binding and located in conserved regions (Fig. 3). SV 40 T antigen binds to and blocks the DNA-binding domain, whereas the p53 binding proteins 53BP1 and 53BP2 enhance p53-mediated transcriptional activity (Iwabuchi et al., 1998). Although the tumor suppression function of p53 is highly linked to the core domain, other domains may also be needed for the full suppression of transformation.

The three-dimensional co-crystal structure of the DNA-binding domain (Cho et al., 1994) confirmed the tetrameric nature of p53 molecule. In solution and in wild-type conformation p53 is found as a stable dimer of a dimer, a conformation characteristic but not unique to p53 protein. Four DNA-binding domains together are more effective than one in reaching multiple and sometimes distant p53-binding sites in a target gene promoter (for example in p21 and cyclin G genes) (Zauberman et al., 1995). Tetrameric p53 protein binds to two repeats of a consensus DNA sequence 5′-PuPuPuC(A/T)(T/A)GPyPyPy-3′ (El-Deiry et al., 1992).

The C-terminal domain

A flexible linker connects the DNA-binding domain to tetramerization or oligomerization domain. The structure of this domain has been elucidated by threedimensional nuclear magnetic resonance spectroscopy (Lee et al., 1994; Clore et al., 1995a; Clore et al., 1995b) revealing a certain homodimerizable motif (β -sheet-turn- α -helix). Only a small fraction of point mutations in p53 are located in this domain, and some evidence suggests that tumor cells select for an intact oligomerization domain, because tetramerization may be needed for complexing with wild-type p53 and exerting dominant-negative phenotype. Although the role of the oligomerization domain in transformation may be negligible, it is, as well as the activation domain, needed for growth suppression.

The extreme C-terminus is an important and autonomous domain regulating the activation of the whole p53 molecule. It can bind nonspecifically to different forms of DNA-strands (Bakalkin et al., 1994; Lee et al., 1995) and reanneal complementary single strands of DNA and RNA (Brain and Jenkins, 1994; Wu et al., 1995). Normally, the carboxy-terminus acts as an autoinhibitory region, but several factors are able to abolish this negative-regulatory function. p53 function can be activated by C-terminal deletion (Hupp et al., 1992), antibody binding (Hupp et al., 1993; Halazonetis et al., 1993), phosphorylation or other posttranslational modifications (Shaw et al., 1996), or by binding of small C-terminal peptides (Hupp et al., 1995). Monoclonal antibody PAb421 recognising amino acids 370-378 is a well known activator of p53 sequencespecific DNA binding. Besides activating wild-type p53, some of these modifications can reactivate most naturally occurring mutant p53 proteins (reviewed by Selivanova et al., 1998). For example, C-terminal synthetic peptide corresponding to residues 361-382 has been shown to restore the apoptotic and growth suppression functions of at least two common p53 mutations (R248Q and R273H) in human tumor cells (Selivanova et al., 1997). According to the allosteric model, the interaction between the C-terminal regulatory domain and its binding site in p53, probably in the core domain, results in a conformation that is unable to bind DNA. C-terminal modifications are postulated to change the conformation of p53 so that the DNA-binding domain is exposed and sequence-specific binding is allowed. Recently it was demonstrated that the peptide derived from the C-terminal domain of p53 binds to the core domain of mutant p53 (Selivanova et al., 1999). The binding of C-terminal peptide may relieve the inhibition by disrupting the interaction between C-terminus and its binding site by competitive inhibition, and moreover, the peptide may stabilize the DNA-binding domain or establish new DNA contacts (Selivanova et al. 1998).

Short (20-39 nucleotides) single strands of DNA interact with the C-terminus and effectively activate DNA binding of p53, whereas longer and double stranded DNA

inhibit this function (Bakalkin et al., 1994; Jayamaran and Prives, 1995). Thus, the role of the C-terminus in damage recognition and DNA repair is significantly based on its ability to 1) bind single stranded DNA, generated for example during replication errors and excision repair processes, 2) catalyze the reassociation of single stranded DNA into the double stranded form, and 3) interact with DNA helicases. Interestingly, antibody pAb421 that activates the DNA-binding function of p53, can at the same time inhibit the nonspecific binding and reannealing activities (Jayamaran and Prives, 1995; Wu et al., 1995). It has been postulated that two different active conformations of p53 may exist, one being activated by an antibody or phosphorylation and leading to enhanced specific but decreased nonspecific DNA binding, and the other being incapable of DNA binding but remaining active for other functions. Thus, many kinds of modulations in the C- and N-terminus can regulate the p53 molecule between inactive and active, perhaps more than one, conformations.

p53 homologues

Quite recently two p53 homologues, p63 and p73, have been identified, sharing considerable homology with the activation, DNA binding, and oligomerization domains of p53 (Kaghad et al., 1997; Yang et al., 1998). However, p73 is not induced by DNA damage, but its overexpression causes growth arrest and apoptosis (Jost et al., 1997). Both p63 and p73 are able to transcriptionally activate p53 target genes depending on which of the multiple isoforms they exist in (Jost et al., 1997; Yang et al, 1998). A tumor suppressor function has been suggested at least for p73, since neuroblastomas often lacking p53 mutations exhibit deletion of the genomic region containing the p73 gene.

Induction of p53 by physiological and genotoxic stress

Several different cellular and environmental conditions, usually harmful to the cell or organism, cause the accumulation and activation of p53, resulting in growth arrest or apoptosis. Although high p53 levels are detected during development at specific tissues including the central nervous system, p53 protein is otherwise present at a very low level in normal cells. Although the protein is being constantly translated, it is actively and efficiently degraded until needed. The half-life of normal, unactivated p53 protein is less than 30 minutes, whereas posttranslational stabilization increases the time to several hours (Kastan et al., 1991). Additionally, p53 can itself regulate its activity at the translational level. In normal cells translation of p53 mRNA is constitutively inhibited by its 3' untranslated end. Furthermore, p53 protein can bind to its own mRNA repressing its translation, but upon DNA damage the repression is suppressed

(Mosner et al., 1995). The presence of p53 at extremely low levels in normal conditions and its activation upon damaging or otherwise harmful situations suggest that p53 is not needed during the normal cell cycle, but is called into action when problems arise. This mode of function differs from the action of other tumor suppressors, for example RB, which is constantly working throughout the cycle.

Genotoxic stress, for example UV and γ -irradiation, and cytotoxic drugs, is a strong inducer of p53 (Fig. 4.). Although the extent and kinetics of p53 accumulation and activation differ somewhat among these stimuli, the common denominator is the presence of DNA strand breaks (Nelson and Kastan, 1994). Besides DNA double-strand breaks, which are directly formed by γ -irradiation and indirectly by DNA repair processes after UV radiation and cancer therapy drugs, single strand breaks can also induce p53 (Di Leonardo et al., 1994). Introduction of restriction enzyme nucleases into the nucleus results in an increase in the level of p53 demonstrating that strand breaks are sufficient for activation of p53 (Siegel et al., 1995).

Furthermore, more general stress situations arising from suboptimal growth conditions, such as hypoxia (Graeber et al., 1994), alterations in redox balance (Hainaut and Milner, 1993), heat, starvation, and nucleotide depletion (Linke et al., 1996) induce p53 (Fig. 4.). Since oxidation inhibits and reduction induces DNA binding of p53 (Hainaut and Milner, 1993; Hupp et al., 1993), inactivation of p53 provides a mechanism by which oxygen radicals can promote tumor formation.



Fig. 4. Inducers of p53 activity. Growth arrest and apoptotic functions of p53 are induced by diverse physiological and genotoxic signals.

In all the above mentioned situations, as a physiological response, p53 is accumulated and activated at the same time, but in other contexts p53 may be accumulated without activation. p53 may complex with viral oncoproteins, for example SV40 T antigen, leading to an increase in the amount of p53 protein but not in activity. On the other hand, E1A and E7 proteins, which complex with pRB instead of p53, cause p53 stabilization and p53-dependent apoptosis (Lowe and Ruley, 1993; Demers et al., 1994). In addition, p53 mutations couple increased p53 protein level with decreased or absent function. In conclusion, all conditions where p53 is accumulated carry an increased risk for transformation, regardless of the mechanism or reason for accumulation (DNA-damage, infection with tumor viruses or mutation of p53).

Activation mechanisms of p53

Mdm2-mediated degradation of p53

Tight regulation of growth suppressive and apoptotic properties of p53 is essential. Although p53 needs to be rapidly and efficiently activated, it is equally important that p53 response is later adequatly attenuated. It was discovered quite early that p53 was a target of common ubiquitin-dependent proteolysis (Chowdary et al., 1994), and that HPV E6 protein inactivated p53 by targeting it for degradation by the proteasome (Scheffner et al., 1993). Later proteasome inhibitors alone were shown to be able to stabilize and activate p53 (Maki et al., 1996).

Mdm2, itself a target gene of p53 and induced by it, negatively regulates p53 in two ways: by physically interacting with p53 it represses the transcriptional activity of p53 (Oliner et al., 1993; Wu et al., 1993) and mediates its degradation (Haupt et al., 1997; Kubbutat and Vousden, 1997). Mdm2 interacts with p53 N-terminal residues 17-27 (Picksley et al., 1994), which are located in the transactivation domain of p53 and are also subject to a variety of phosphorylation changes. Moreover, this region is one of the highly conserved segments of p53 further highlighting the significance of mdm2 as a regulator of p53. Mdm2 is able to shuttle p53 from the nucleus to cytoplasm (Roth et al., 1998), where the degradation takes place. Additionally, mdm2 may function as an E3 ubiquitin ligase (Honda et al., 1997), whereas others have hypothesised that binding of mdm2 to p300 transcriptional activator/ histone acetylase might be a precondition for degradation (Grossman et al., 1998). Involvement of mdm2 in the degradation of p53 also helps explain why mutant p53 is stable. Mutated, inactive p53 is not able to induce mdm2 and thus degradation via this pathway is blocked leading to increased amounts of defective p53 protein.

Until recently the upstream pathways of p53 between the initiating signals and activation of p53 at the molecular level have been largely speculative, and several different mechanisms for p53 activation have been suggested. At present, the best known activating mechanisms merge into the the same end result: inhibition of mdm2-

mediated suppression of p53. Thus, p53 seems to be activated by releasing it from inhibition.

Phosphorylation of p53 by DNA damage

Posttranslational modification of p53 by phosphorylation of both N- and C-terminal residues has proven to be one of the most important mechanisms for regulating the activity of p53. Phosphorylation of multiple alternative phosphorylation sites in the N-terminus impairs the interaction between p53 and mdm2 and leads to accumulation of p53 (Shieh et al., 1997) (Fig. 5.). Although several kinase and phosphorylation site candidates have been presented, their physiological role still requires clarification. While casein kinase I (CKI), DNA-dependent protein kinase (DNA-PK), mitogen activated protein kinase (MAP), and Jun amino-terminal kinase (JNK) are able to phosphorylate many N-terminal amino acids *in vitro* (reviewed by Steegenga et al., 1996), phosphatidylinositol 3 (PIK-3) like kinases ATM, ATR and DNA-PK have more recently awaken interest as kinases phosphorylating several N-terminal serines *in vivo*.

Kinase mutated in ataxia telangiectasia (ATM) has been demonstrated to possess a central role in the posttranslational activation of p53 after ionizing radiation (Banin et al., 1998; Canman et al., 1998). AT patients suffer from increased cancer risk and show hypersensitivity to ionizing radiation (Savitsky et al., 1995). γ-radiated AT cells with defective ATM show only a minimal increase in the amount and activity of p53, indicating that ATM functions upstream of the p53 signaling pathway (Kastan et al., 1992). ATM, which has a substantial similarity to other proteins in the PI3-K family, has been shown to phosphorylate serine 15 of p53 after γ-irradiation (Banin et al., 1998; Canman et al., 1998). Interestingly, ATM kinase activity is increased only after ionizing radiation, because cells lacking ATM show normal p53-dependent responses (Khanna and Lavin, 1993) and Ser15 phosphorylation (Siliciano et al., 1997) after UV radiation. Ionizing radiation may induce co-factors that differ from those activated after UV-radiation or, alternatively, direct double strand breaks are needed for enhanced ATM kinase activity. Ser15 is probably phosphorylated after UV radiation by ATR, an ATM related kinase (Tibbets et al., 1999).

DNA-PK, an other member of the same kinase family, is known to phosphorylate p53 on Ser15 and Ser37 leading to stabilization and inhibition of p53 degradation by mdm2 (Shieh et al., 1997). Mice with severe immunodeficiency (SCID), which were believed to have no DNA-PK activity, were found, however, to respond to DNA damage normally in a p53-dependent manner (Gurley and Kemp, 1996; Araki et al., 1997). Later it was specified that cells from these animals have retained some DNA-PK activity explaining the normal p53 functions. When true DNA-PK deficient mice were developed, DNA damage was found to accumulate but not activate p53, supporting the

role of DNA-PK in p53 responses (Woo et al., 1998). Although DNA-PK activity is needed for p53 activation upon ionizing irradiation, it is not sufficient alone (Woo et al., 1998). Since Ser15 is phosphorylated by, at least, two different kinases, DNA-damage induced phosphorylation of this residue has been sugggested to be essential for p53 function. Ser15 lies at the N-terminal border of the mdm2-binding site in p53 and phosphorylation of it weakens both the association of p53 with mdm2 and the repression of p53 by mdm2 (Shieh et al., 1997). In addition to phosphorylation of Ser15, Ser33 and Ser37 are also phosphorylated by both UV and ionizing irradiation (Shieh et al., 1997; Siliciano et al., 1997; Sakaguchi et al., 1998). At present, a constant flow of novel N-terminal phosphorylation sites are emerging, exemplified by Ser20 (Shieh et al., 1999; Unger et al., 1999), Ser46, Thr81, and Ser91; all these sites are phosphorylated by DNA damage.

The C-terminus of p53 is also modified by cellular stress (Fig. 3.). An expanding list of protein kinases have been shown, notably in vitro, to phosphorylate p53 at different C-terminal residues: protein kinase C (PKC) at Ser378 (Takenaka et al., 1995), CKII at Ser392 (Herrmann et al., 1991), and Cdk2 at Ser315 (Addison et al., 1990; Bischoff et al., 1990) (Fig.3.). UV but not γ -irradiation induces phosphorylation of human Ser392 representing the only UV specific effect on p53 in vivo (Kapoor and Lozano, 1998; Lu et al., 1998). Dephosphorylation of some residues, for example Ser376 after ionizing radiation, appears to be as important for the activation of p53 as is phosphorylation of other residues (Waterman et al., 1998). Moreover, DNA damage has been reported to induce acetylation of C-terminal lysine 382, which has been suggested to reveal the autoinhibition by the C-terminus together with phosphorylation of PK-C and CKII sites (Gu and Roeder, 1997; Sakaguchi et al., 1998). However important phosphorylation of p53 may seem, two recent reports have demonstrated that phosphorylation may not be absolutely required for p53 activity or accumulation after DNA damage (Blattner et al., 1999; Ashcroft et al., 1999). Although nearly all known phosphorylation sites in the Nand C-terminus were mutated, p53 stabilization by UV, gamma irradiation and actinomycin D was not impaired (Blattner et al., 1999), and the mutant p53 proteins retained normal stabilization and transactivation functions upon UV treatment (Ashcroft et al., 1999).

Activation of p53 by p14ARF

A different p53 activation model has been presented in the form of p14^{ARF}, ARF standing for <u>a</u>lternative <u>r</u>eading <u>f</u>rame. A single genetic locus, *INK4a/ARF*, encodes two different proteins, p16^{INK4a} Cdk-inhibitor and p14^{ARF} (Quelle et al., 1995a). p16^{INK4a} protein is encoded by three exons, 1 α , 2, and 3, of which exons 2 and 3 are shared by p14^{ARF} but read in a different reading frame. In addition, exon 1 α of p16 is replaced by

exon 1ß in p14^{ARF}, resulting in two totally different proteins with no amino acid similarities (Mao et al., 1995; Quelle et al., 1995a; Stone et al., 1995). The ARF protein, of size 19 kD in mouse and 14 kD in human, induces G1- and G2-phase growth arrest when introduced into a variety of different cells. However, this activity depends on intact p53 (Quelle et al., 1995b; Stott et al., 1998). Ectopic ARF expression leads to stabilization of p53 and induction of its target gene transcription (Kamijo et al., 1997). The dependency of ARF on p53 was evidenced by experiments where transfection of p53-positive but ARF-negative NIH3T3 cells with ARF led to p53-dependent induction of p21(Kamijo et al., 1998). However, ARF -/- cells overexpressing p53 were not able to induce p21, indicating that an increase in the level of p53 alone in this setting was not sufficient for p21 induction, and demonstrating that ARF acts upstream of p53 (Kamijo et al., 1997). Thus, while ARF function is dependent on functional p53, p53 action can be activated without ARF, suggesting that different p53 activating signals utilize independent signaling pathways.

Different proliferative signals, such as c-myc (Zindy et al., 1998), E1A (de Stanchina et al., 1998) and E2F (Bates et al., 1998) lead in normal fibroblasts to ARF activation and p53-dependent apoptosis. These proteins can activate p53 also ARFindependently, but much higher concentrations of oncoproteins are required in the absence of ARF. The underlying mechanism of p53 activation by ARF involves inhibition of mdm2 function. The N-terminus of ARF interacts with the C-terminus of mdm2, leading to repression of the mdm2-dependent suppression of p53 (Pomerantz et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 1998). ARF, which is localized in nucleoli (Quelle et al., 1995a; Pomerantz et al., 1998), inhibits the nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of the mdm2-p53 complex and prevents the degradation of both p53 and mdm2 (Roth et al., 1998; Zhang and Xiong, 1999 (Fig.5.). Moreover, ARF may inhibit ubiquitin ligase function of mdm2 (Honda and Yasuda, 1999). The human p14^{ARF} appears not to interact directly with p53 (Pomerantz et al., 1998; Stott et al., 1998; Zhang et al., 1998), but in mouse some evidence has been obtained about the physical interaction between p53 and p19^{ARF} without mdm2 (Kamijo et al., 1998).

After developing ARF knockout mice, it was soon discovered that ARF-/- MEFs were immortalized (Kamijo et al., 1997). Furthermore, like many established cell lines, the ARF-/- cells were easily transformed and immortalized by oncogenic ras, in contrast to normal MEFs in which overexpression of ras leads to a growth arrest (Kamijo et al., 1997). p16 knockout mice lacking exons 2 and 3 were created before ARF was discovered, and numerous tumors in these animals and the aberrant growth of the MEFs derived therein were thought to result from the absence of p16 (Serrano et al., 1996). Surprisingly, when true p19^{ARF} knockout mice, lacking only exon 1ß were developed,

the tumor spectrum and incidence were identical to that of "p16-/-" mice, and tumor cells were shown to express normal p16 (Kamijo et al., 1997). These observations support the role of ARF as a tumor suppressor and may question the role of p16 in tumorigenesis until a knockout mice with loss of only p16 expression are developed.

According to the knowledge gained so far, p53 seems to be crucial in its own regulation. p53 upregulates its inhibitor mdm2, and downregulates its activator ARF (Stott et al., 1998) to keep the inhibitory and stimulatory signals in balance and the p53 level low. As if the activation models are separated and independent they seem ultimately to inhibit or weaken the mdm2-p53 interaction and mdm2-dependent degradation of p53: DNA damage-associated phosphorylation of p53 (ATM/DNA-PK activation pathway) attenuates the interaction between p53 and mdm2, while oncogene activated ARF binds to mdm2 and inhibits destruction of p53, both leading to stabilization and activation of p53 (Fig. 5.).



Fig. 5. Regulation of p53 by pathways involving kinase and p14ARF activity. Despite having different activating signals both pathways result in inhibition of mdm2-mediated repression of p53 leading to stabilization and activation of p53. \rightarrow = activation, \rightarrow = inhibition.

Multiple effects of p53

The p53 tumor suppressor protein limits cell proliferation and inhibits tumor formation by two main mechanisms: by inducing growth arrest and/or apoptosis (Fig. 4.). The organism is protected from accumulating genetical changes by halting the propagation of harmful mutations to daughter cells. This is achieved by either arresting the cell cycle and allowing time for DNA repair, or by committing suicide by
programmed cell death. In addition to growth and tumor suppression functions, p53 is involved in development and differentiation processes.

Growth arrest

The best characterized antiproliferative function of p53 is its role in G1-phase growth arrest. γ -irradiation of cells rapidly and efficiently leads to p53-dependent G1phase arrest (Kastan et al., 1992; Kuerbitz et al., 1992). Activation of p53 induces the expression of several target genes, especially p21 Cdk-inhibitor gene (El-Deiry et al., 1993). Upregulation of p21, a potent inhibitor of all Cdks, blocks the catalytic activity of the cyclin-Cdk complex preventing the phosphorylation of many regulatory proteins and leading to inhibition of cell cycle progression (Dulic et al., 1994; El-Deiry et al., 1994). Among the best known consequences is the maintenance of pRB in the underphosphorylated form binding transcription factor E2F-1 (Demers et al., 1994; Slebos et al., 1994). The pRB-E2F complex represses the gene transcription inhibiting the expression of numerous proteins needed in the progression of the S phase. Partly contradictory data have been presented concerning the need of pRB-E2F pathway in p53-mediated growth arrest. In experiments where pRB functions were blocked by viral oncoproteins like the E1A protein of adenovirus, the T antigen of SV40 or E7 of human papillomavirus, p53-dependent growth arrest was inhibited (Demers et al., 1994; Slebos et al., 1994). On the other hand, cells from RB null mice were shown to be capable of undergoing full G1 arrest after γ -irradiation. Several aspects should be taken into account here: first, oncoproteins effect many other cell cycle proteins besides pRB, and secondly, RB null cells have intact RB family members p107 and p130 which may partly overtake the functions of pRB. However, in the absence of clear evidence of competing mechanisms, G1-growth arrest is generally concluded to be exerted via the p21-pRB-E2F pathway.

The role of p21 in p53-mediated G1 growth arrest is evidenced by the observation that overexpression of p21 itself leads to arrested growth (Harper et al., 1995). However, p21-/- cells are only partially defective in γ -radiation induced growth arrest (Brugarolas et al., 1995; Deng et al., 1995) whereas p53 deficiency totally abolishes it, suggesting that other p53 activated factors, for example GADD45, may be also involved. Besides well characterised G1 growth arrest, p53 has a definite role in mediating G2 growth arrest as well (Agarwal et al., 1995; Stewart et al., 1995).

Even in the absence of damaging stimulus p53 functions as a cell cycle checkpoint controller, since p53-/- MEFs exhibit disturbed cell cycle phase distributions compared to wild-type p53 cells (Harvey et al., 1993). Furthermore, the same cells treated with mitotic spindle inhibitors failed to be arrested in the G2 phase, but continued DNA synthesis inappropriately resulting in aneuploidy (Cross et al., 1995). This suggests that

p53 functions as a mitotic spindle checkpoint factor ensuring that replication is not initiated without completion of proper chromosome segregation. Studies with gas1 gene have suggested participation of p53 even in the G0 checkpoint. Gas1 gene, expressing a protein needed to keep cells in G0 state, is not a target gene of p53, but is dependent on wild-type p53 for its function. p53 mutants incapable of transactivation are still able to assist gas1 to arrest cells in G0, giving an example of a p53 checkpoint function devoid of any transactivation property (Del Sal et al., 1995).

Apoptosis

Apoptosis, or programmed cell death, is an efficient means of getting rid of harmful cellular material. Convincing number of experiments have demonstrated a role for p53 in triggering apoptosis in a variety of different conditions. DNA damaging agents, such as ionizing and UV radiation and cytotoxic drugs, c-myc (Wagner et al., 1994) and adenovirus EIA expression (Lowe and Ruley, 1993), and withdrawal of growth factors (Johnson et al., 1993), may result in p53-dependent apoptosis. γ -irradiation of mouse thymocytes provides a classic example of p53-induced cell death (Lowe et al., 1993b). Radiated thymocytes from p53 -/- mice do not undergo apoptosis as do their p53 positive counterparts (Lowe et al., 1993b). Since p53-mediated apoptosis can be blocked by treating myeloid cells with interleukin-6 (Levy et al., 1993) or erythroid cells with erythropoietin, p53 may in these circumstances function as sensor of environmental conditions and growth factor supply. Cancer threapy is also taking advatage of apoptotic pathway, since cytotoxic drugs and irradiation therapy are largely based on the wild-type p53-induced apoptosis. It should be remembered, however, that p53-independent apoptosis, such as cell death after glucocorticoid treatment (Clarke et al., 1993), probably occurs as often as p53-dependent cell death.

p53 participates in the induction of apoptosis directly by inducing the target genes bax, insulin-like growth factor-binding protein 3 (IGF-BP3) (Buckbinder et al., 1995), fas/APO1 (Owen-Schaub et al., 1995), and Killer/DR5 (Wu et al., 1997). Bax, an apoptosis promoter, can form a complex with Bcl-2, a protector against apoptosis, and the balance between these two, among other factors, determines whether apoptosis is induced (Miyashita and Reed, 1995). The IGF-BP3 gene is upregulated by p53 in response to genetic insult (Buckbinder et al., 1995). By binding to IGF it inhibits both survival and mitogenic signals representing an antimitogenic function of p53.

In contrast to the growth suppressive function of p53 that seems to be dependent on the transcriptional activity, apoptotic activity has been difficult to uniformly attribute to any certain domain of the protein. Although p53 induces several genes promoting apoptosis, p53-dependent apoptosis after DNA damage has been detected both in the presence of the translational inhibitor cycloheximide (Wagner et al., 1994) and the

transcriptional inhibitor actinomycin D (Caelles et al., 1994) suggesting that the apoptotic pathway may be independent of the transcriptional activity of p53. The same conclusion was obtained in HeLa cells transfected with mutant p53gln22, ser23. This mutation which abrogates the transcriptional activity of p53 was still able to cause p53dependent apoptosis (Haupt et al., 1995; Yonish-Rouach et al., 1995). Accordingly, neither Bax nor fas/APO1 expression were required for p53-dependent apoptosis in vivo (Knudson et al., 1995; Fuchs et al., 1997). In contrast, BRK cells stably expressing E1A and temperature-sensitive p53val135 underwent apoptosis when p53 was in its wild-type conformation, but not when the mutant status was applied (Sabbatini et al., 1995a). These controversial findings suggest the existence of two separate apoptotic functions of p53, one depending on the activation of p53 target genes, and the other using direct protein signaling, depending on the cell type or experimental situation. Repression of certain genes may offer one mechanism for transcription-independent apoptosis, since bcl-2 and adenovirus E1B 19 kD protein blocking the p53-dependent apoptosis do not interfere with transcriptional activity but suppress the repression function (Shen and Shenk, 1994; Sabbatini et al., 1995b). This is supported by observation that lack of proline-rich domain of p53 that results in defective apoptosis also impairs the repression function of p53 (Venot et al., 1998). Finally, the large number of proteins interacting with and binding to p53 give rise to numerous possible mechanisms by which p53 may induce apoptosis independent of transactivation.

Growth arrest or apoptosis?

DNA-damaging stimuli and stressful environmental conditions lead to either growth arrest of cells or apoptosis. Several factors determine which way the cells follow. One of the most important factors is the cell type: in mortal primary fibroblasts DNA-damage often leads to transient growth arrest, whereas immortal and hematopoietic cells often react by programmed cell death (Midgley et al., 1995; Haupt et al., 1996).

In addition to DNA-damaging situation, limited availability of growth factors or activation of cellular or viral oncogenes favor the induction of apoptosis rather than growth arrest, in order to eliminate cells with unstable genomes. Different viral proteins have diverse and partially controversial effects on p53 and cell survival. Expression of adenovirus E1A protein in murine fibroblasts stabilize and activate p53 resulting in apoptosis (Debbas and White, 1993). On the other hand, 55 kD E1B protein binds to the N-terminus of p53 and inhibits its transcriptional activity, whereas 19 kD E1B protein acts like bcl-2 blocking the apoptosis downstream of p53 activation (Debbas and White, 1993). Human papillomavirus E7 protein induces p53-dependent apoptosis, but E6 binds to p53 and targets it for proteosome degradation (White et al., 1994). Both apoptosis promoting oncoproteins E1A and E7 share the ability to bind to and inactivate

pRB, not p53, leading to unregulated functions and increasing amounts of E2F-1. Thus, in the presence of intact p53 but in the absence of functional pRB, the apoptotic pathway rather than growth arrest is triggered by these viral oncoproteins.

p53 in DNA repair

As the role of p53 in growth arrest and apoptosis is widely accepted, the involvement of p53 in DNA repair is far from clear. Studies for and against a role of p53 in DNA replication and repair exist. Interaction with many replication and repair proteins, for example RP-A (Dutta et al., 1993), and components of the dual transcription-repair factor TFIIH, including DNA helicases ERCC2 and ERCC3 (Wang et al., 1995; Leveillard et al., 1996), has been the first line of evidence for p53 in these functions. The binding of p53 inhibits the helicase activity of these proteins, as has been shown also with other cellular and viral helicases (Wang et al., 1996). Indirectly, upon stimulation of p21, which complexes with proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA), p53 is involved in the inhibition of DNA replication after DNA damage without interfering with the repair processes (Shivji et al., 1994; Li et al., 1996).

Although in some studies a correlation has been found between p53 deficiency and reduced repair, in others this has not been the case. UV-radiated Li-Fraumeni cells carrying homozygous deletion of p53 exhibited disturbed removal of pyrimidine dimers and photoproducts but normal transcription-coupled repair (Ford and Hanawalt, 1995; Ford and Hanawalt, 1997). However, point mutations accumulated equally (Nishino et al., 1995; Sands et al., 1995), and the rate of NER was identical in both normal and p53-/- mouse cells (Ishizaki et al., 1994) giving evidence against direct p53 functioning in DNA repair. Nevertheless, the loss of p53 reduced the rate and efficiency of nucleotide excision repair in human cells in several experimental conditions (Smith et al., 1995; Wang et al., 1995). One can not either ignore the fact that p53 binds efficiently to damaged DNA, both mismatched and irradiated DNA (Lee et al., 1995; Reed et al., 1995), and that 3'-5' exonuclease activity of p53 may be used in DNA recombination, replication or repair processes (Mummenbrauer et al., 1996).

Development

Although p53 -/- mice first appeared to develop normally (Donehower et al., 1992), more careful examination of the phenotype revealed developmental disturbances, particularly defects in neural tube closure. For example, at the age of 13.5 days 16% of p53 -/- embryos, all female, showed markable anencephaly (Armstrong et al., 1995; Sah et al., 1995). Additionally, a small fraction of p53 knockout embryos died prematurely, and the embryos of p53-/- pregnant mice were more vulnerable to diverse teratogenes compared to normal mice (Nicol et al., 1995). Mdm2 -/- mice are embryonically lethal,

but the absence of p53 in double knockout mice is able to rescue the embryos (Jones et al., 1995; Montes de Oca Luna et al., 1995). This suggests that in the presence of p53 mdm2 is needed during embryogenesis to negatively regulate p53. Thus, contrary to what was originally believed, p53, in co-operation with mdm2, is not dispensable in early development. p53 is also involved in certain differentiation processes, like B-cell maturation (Aloni-Grinstein et al., 1993) and spermatogenesis (Schwartz et al., 1995).

Transcriptional target genes of p53

The main function of p53 is the transcriptional activation of its target genes. Numerous genes have been presented as candidates for effector genes of p53, but not all of them are able to fulfill the criteria. Even if a p53 binding site is found on a gene or promoter, it should be recognized by wild-type but not mutant p53, and basal transcription of a gene should be increased p53-dependently. Besides containing a p53 response element, a gene should be induced upon cellular stress in a p53 dependent manner. Over the years, some candidates have consolidated their positions as p53-response genes and have shown particular importance in the physiological functions of p53.

p21WAF1/Cip1

Besides being the first p53 target gene discovered, p21 is among the most important effector genes. As a universal Cdk-inhibitor, p21 has a central role in p53-induced growth arrest. p21 functions are discussed thoroughly in a separate chapter.

mdm2

Originally mdm2 (<u>m</u>urine <u>d</u>ouble <u>m</u>inute gene <u>2</u>) was described as one of the genes amplified in the double minute chromosomes in spontaneously transformed 3T3 cells (Cahilly-Snyder et al., 1987), and later it was found to possess oncogenic potential (Fakharzadeh et al., 1991). Mouse mdm2 gene contains two promoters and numerous exons spread over a large area. One promoter is located upstream of the gene and used for constitutive expression, while the other is present in the first intron and regulated by p53 through two p53 binding sites (Juven et al., 1993; Wu et al., 1993; Barak et al., 1994; Zauberman et al., 1995). Basal expression of mdm2 from its constitutive promoter P1 is thought to be responsible for maintaining low levels of p53, while p53inducible mdm2 promoter P2 is not activated after DNA damage until interaction between mdm2 and p53 has been disrupted and activation of the target genes has occured. In order to give p53 time to act before it is attenuated by mdm2, transcriptional activation of mdm2 should occur later than activation of other target genes, or, alternatively, the complex formation between p53 and mdm2 can be retarded.

Mdm2 oncogene encodes several proteins, and the largest 90 kD protein binds to and inactivates p53 (Momand et al., 1992; Haupt et al., 1997; Kubbutat et al., 1997). Multiple other mdm2 proteins have also been detected, and these proteins arise through alternative splicing, proteolytic processing, or posttranslational modifications (Olson et al., 1993). p76, which is unable to bind p53 but binds ARF, is expressed and induced by UV radiation p53 independently (Saucedo et al., 1999). UV radiation has been shown to induce mdm2 in a p53 and UV-dose dependent manner: low UV doses induce the gene rapidly, while at high doses a delay is observed between mdm2 induction and p53 stabilization (Perry et al., 1993).

The mdm2 gene is amplified in about 20% of soft tissue sarcomas (Oliner et al., 1992; Leach et al., 1993) and quite frequently in esophageal tumors, astrocytomas and osteosarcomas (reviewed by Momand and Zambetti, 1997). In addition to gene amplification high levels of mdm2 may result from enhanced translation or other modifications (Landers et al., 1994). Although p53 is mutated in half of human cancers, p53 mutation is rarely found together with mdm2 amplification (Florenes et al., 1994a). Instead of p53 mutation, exceptionally high levels of wild-type p53 are observed in some cancers. Transformed epithelial cells expressing high basal level of wild-type p53 were found to overexpress mdm2 without gene amplification, and with no increase in transcription of other p53 effectors (Blaydes et al., 1997). Additionally, only a small proportion of p53 was found in a complex with mdm2, so that the amount of functional p53 was not totally abolished but was lowered to a reasonable, more physiological level (Blaydes et al., 1997). This suggests that overexpression of mdm2 provides a mechanism by which high wild-type p53 levels can be tolerated without growth arrest or the apoptosis of cells.

The main contribution of mdm2 overexpression to cancer formation is believed to be through elimination of the tumor suppressor function of p53. However, the N-terminal domain of mdm2 is able to activate E2F-1 transcription factor (Martin et al., 1995), and to bind to and inactivate pRB (Xiao et al., 1995). These functions may explain how mdm2 promotes transformation also in cells lacking p53 (Lundgren et al., 1997).

GADD45

GADD45 is the best characterized member of the growth <u>arrest and DNA damage</u> inducible gene (GADD) family. These genes are induced by DNA-damaging agents and some growth arrest conditions, for example nutrient depletion or hypoxia (Fornace et al., 1989). GADD45 is a nuclear protein, the levels of which oscillate slightly during the cell cycle being highest in G1 and lowest during the S phase (Kearsey et al., 1995). GADD45 can be transcriptionally activated by p53 via p53 consensus binding site at its third intron (Hollander et al., 1993). Although induction of GADD45 upon γ -irradiation is strictly dependent on p53 (Kastan et al., 1992), p53 independent induction of GADD45 is often seen after base-damaging agents, such as UV radiation (Kearsey et al., 1995). Even if p53 may not be necessarily required for the induction of GADD45, disruption of p53 function may reduce the extent of induction (Zhan et al., 1996). An increased level of GADD45, either due to DNA damage or overexpression of the protein, leads to G1 growth arrest of cells (Zhan et al., 1994). A role for GADD45 in DNA repair and inhibition of apoptosis has been suggested by experiments where antisense GADD45 expression decreased DNA repair and sensitized cells to UV- and cisplatin-induced apoptosis, the latter function being opposite to that of p53 (Smith et al., 1996). Moreover, in some experiments GADD45 has been shown to interact with PCNA, and, like p21, inhibit PCNA-dependent replication and thus facilitate nucleotide excision repair (Smith et al., 1994; Hall et al., 1995). However, other studies have not been able to demonstrate the effect of GADD45 on NER (Kearsey et al., 1995).

bax

Bax is a target gene of p53 involved in apoptotic function of p53. Bax forms heterodimeric complexes with bcl-2 and by dominant-negative effect antagonizes its ability to block apoptosis. Interestingly enough, also Bcl-2 seems to be under the control of p53, because p53 can downregulate bcl-2 by repressing its transcription (Haldar et al., 1994; Miyashita et al., 1994).

Others

Cyclin G encodes a cyclin of unknown function (Okamoto and Beach, 1994), which is induced in a p53 dependent manner after DNA damage (Miyashita and Reed, 1995); no Cdk has been yet found to associate with it. The regulation of PCNA by p53 has been questioned, but it seems that transactivation of PCNA is restricted to low concentrations of p53 (Shivakumar et al., 1995; Morris et al., 1996). Additionally, numerous other p53 response genes have been suggested, but the real *in vivo* importance of these target gene candidates needs to be clarified.

Transcriptional repression by p53

Besides being a transcriptional activator, p53 may function as a transcriptional repressor as well, providing yet another mechanism to influence cellular functions. Genes lacking p53-binding site but containing the TATA box can be subject to inhibition by p53 (Mack et al., 1993). c-fos, c-jun, RB, bcl-2, IL-6 and heat shock protein (hsp) 70 are examples of genes repressed by p53. The repressor function of p53

is believed to be especially important in suppression of tumorigenesis and induction of apoptosis.

p21 CDK-INHIBITOR

The p21^{WAF1/CIP1} cyclin kinase inhibitor cDNA was cloned independently by four different groups and thus was given several different names characterizing its functions. Using a yeast-two hybrid system, p21 was reported to bind to Cdk and was named CIP1 (Cdk inhibiting protein 1) (Harper et al., 1993), and, at the same time, it was identified as a gene product activated by p53, called WAF1 (wild-type p53-activated factor 1) (El-Deiry et al., 1993). Later, when DNA synthesis inhibitors were looked for from senescent cells, p21 was cloned as SDI1 (senescent cell-derived inhibitor 1) (Noda et al., 1994). Finally, p21 was identified as MDA-6, melanoma differentiation associated protein, because of its increased expression in melanoma cells after induced differentiation (Jiang et al., 1994).

Cellular effects of p21

Growth arrest

The main effect of p21 seems to be the inhibition of cell proliferation. As a common cyclin-kinase inhibitor, p21 effectively inhibits the kinase activity of Cdk2, Cdk3, Cdk4 and Cdk6, less so Cdk5 and not at all Cdk7 or Cdc2 (Harper et al., 1995). As a result, many regulatory proteins needed for progression of the cell cycle remain unphosphorylated and the cell cycle stops. Originally, p21 was assumed to induce growth arrest only at the G1/S-phase transition, but recently it has been shown to mediate G2 arrest as well (Dulic et al., 1998; Niculescu et al., 1998). p21 may induce growth arrest by at least two different mechanisms: by inhibiting the kinase activity of Cdks and by preventing the actions of PCNA. Two different domains of p21 are responsible for these inhibitory functions (Chen et al., 1995; Luo et al., 1995). The Nterminal part of p21 is required for the Cdk inhibition, while the carboxy-terminal domain interacts with PCNA and prevents the interaction of PCNA with other components of the polymerase assembly. The association with PCNA is a unique feature of p21 that distinguishes it from other CKIs. As an auxillary factor for DNA polymerases ε and δ , PCNA is essential for both DNA replication and DNA repair. Although inhibiting the PCNA-dependent replication and mismatch repair in vitro (Flores-Rozas et al., 1994; Li et al., 1994; Waga et al., 1994), p21 appears not to inhibit the function of PCNA in nucleotide excision repair (Shivji et al., 1994; Li et al., 1996).

In normal human fibroblasts, p21 is found in quaternary complexes with cyclin, Cdk and PCNA (reviewed by Kelman, 1997). Cdk in this complex may be inactive or active depending on the amount and stoichiometry of p21 protein. At low or intermediate concentrations p21 seems to function as an assembly factor enforcing the assembly of cyclin D and Cdk4 even by 35-fold and targeting the cyclin/Cdk complex to the nucleus, whereas at high concentrations p21 works as an inhibitor of kinase activity (LaBaer et al., 1997). In a recent study, the antiproliferative functions of p21, inhibition of cyclin/Cdk complexes and inhibition of PCNA, were shown to be independent of each other, the latter function alone being sufficient to block cell cycle progression at the G1/S and G2/M transitions (Cayrol et al., 1998). Interaction of p21 with GADD45 damage response protein is probably also involved in DNA damage checkpoints (Kearsey et al., 1995).

The role of p21 in DNA damage checkpoints has been studied with mice and human cells with homozygous deletion of p21 gene. Gamma-irradiated p21-/- MEFs were partially defective in G1 checkpoint control and in response to double-stranded DNA lesions (Brugarolas et al., 1995; Deng et al., 1995). However, in human colon carcinoma cells HCT116, p21 was absolutely required for p53-mediated G1 growth arrest by ionizing irradiation (Waldman et al., 1995).

Quite opposite to growth arrest, mitogenic stimuli have ben observed to induce p21 (Macleod et al., 1995). Enhanced expression of antiproliferative p21 may be perhaps seen as a compensatory mechanism to prevent the overshoots of mitogenic activation.

Terminal differentiation and senescence

p21 is often induced in the process of terminal differentiation during which cells need to exit from the cell cycle. For example, skeletal muscle cell differentiation correlates with MyoD-induced p21 expression (Halevy et al., 1995). Ectopic expression of p21 has been shown to promote differentiation of hematopoietic cells, such as megakaryoblastic leukemia cells CMK (Matsumura et al., 1997) and myelomonocytic cell line U937 by vitamin D₃ (Liu et al., 1996). Accordingly, several growth factors are able to induce p21 expression; specific examples of the regulation of p21 by some of these are mentioned below.

In addition to being discovered to be an inhibitor of DNA synthesis in senescent cells, disruption of p21 function in normal fibroblasts has been observed to lead to a bypass of senescence and an extended life span of cells (Brown et al., 1997).

Apoptosis and tumorigenesis

Although p21 has been considered inert in apoptosis, a continuous line of evidence suggests that p21 may protect cells from apoptosis (Polyak et al., 1996; Gorospe et al.,

1997; Bissonnette and Hunting, 1998), while in some studies p21 has been shown to promote it (Duttaroy et al., 1997). In contrast to tumor suppressive Cdk-inhibitor p16 and p14^{ARF}, p21 appears not to have any role in tumorigenesis. Firstly, p21 mutations are almost never found in human cancers and secondly, p21 knockout mice are not prone to tumors (Deng et al., 1995).

p53-dependent and -independent regulation of p21

Regulation of p21 protein involves both transcriptional and posttranscriptional mechanisms. Regulation at the transcriptional level may be either p53-dependent or - independent.

p53-dependent induction of p21 transcription

As an effector gene of p53, p21 promoter contains two p53-responsive elements, whose sequences are highly conserved among mouse, rat and human (El-Deiry et al., 1995); one of these sites may suffice for p53 induction (Poluha et al., 1997; Wu and Schonthal, 1997). Several different conditions and factors are able to induce the transcription of p21 in a p53 dependent manner, but DNA-damaging agents, γ -irradiation in particular, often induce p21 p53-dependently (Macleod et al., 1995). Accordinly, spindle disrupter nocodazole, differentiation factor Neu, and ribonucleotide synthesis inhibitor PALA, to list just a few, induce p21 by activating or stabilizing p53 (reviewed by Gartel and Tyner, 1999). Quite controversial findings have been reported about the dependency of p53 on the activation of p21 by UV radiation. Some groups have found p53-independent p21 induction after UV-treatment (Loignon et al., 1997), while others have shown a lack of p21 expression in the absence of p53 (Gorospe et al., 1998).

Oncogenic Ras causes growth arrest in primary fibroblasts and leads to accumulation of p53, p21 and p16 (Serrano et al., 1997), but p21 induction by Ras may occur also in a p53 independent manner (Kivinen et al., 1999). Induction of p21 by Raf, a downstream effector of Ras, has been shown to occur both p53-dependently (Lloyd et al., 1997) and independently (Sewing et al., 1997; Woods et al., 1997).

p53-independent regulation of p21 expression

Differentiation promoting agents often induce p21 by p53-independent mechanisms by inducing the binding of different transcription factors to specific elements in p21 promoter. Human p21 promoter contains six Sp1-binding sites located within 120 bp upstream of transcription initiation site, and many p21 activating agents, for example tumor suppressor BRCA-1 (Somasundaram et al., 1997), utilize these binding sites.

Accordingly, p21 activation by TGF- β is mediated by interaction of Sp1 with Smad proteins (Li et al., 1998; Moustakas and Kardassis, 1998). On the other hand, growth arrest and upregulation of p21 induced by EGF and IL- γ occur by STAT1 via several STAT-binding sites (Chin et al., 1996). In addition, specific binding sites for transcription factors E2Fs and AP2 exist in p21 promoter (Gartel and Tyner, 1999).

Although p21 regulation occurs mainly at the transcriptional level, posttranscriptional mechanisms are also possible. Both p21 mRNA (Gorospe et al., 1998) and protein (Timchenko et al., 1996) can be stabilized without an increase in its transcription. Posttranscriptional events have been suggested to possess a significant role in p21 regulation particularly after genotoxic stress (Butz et al., 1998).

CELL CYCLE REGULATORS IN MELANOMA

Malignant melanoma is one of the most common tumor types in western countries; only cancers of breast, prostate, colon, and lung occur more frequently than melanoma. Although epidemiological studies have strongly demonstrated that exposure to sunlight is the major environmental cause of melanoma, the exact molecular targets of UV radiation remain to be identified. The genetic loci 6q and 9p21 are often lost in cutaneous melanomas – the melanoma susceptibility locus at 9p21, including for example p16 gene locus, is absent in over half of malignant melanomas.

p53 changes in melanoma

Infrequent p53 mutations

In contrast to the majority of cancers, including other skin cancers, p53 mutations in melanoma are rare. p53 mutation frequency seems to correlate with the aggressiveness of the tumor, because p53 mutations are detected in less than 1% of primary melanomas (Hartmann et al., 1996), in 5% of metastatic melanomas (Florenes et al., 1994b; Akslen et al., 1998), and in approximately 20% of melanoma cell lines (Albino et al., 1994; Bae et al., 1996). This suggests that p53 mutation may not be the major underlaying cause in the development of melanoma, but instead have a role in the progression and invasiveness of this cancer type. Nevertheless, Li-Fraumeni patients with germline mutation of p53 are prone to several cancers, including melanomas (Platz et al., 1998). In non-melanoma skin cancers, squamous and basal cell carcinomas, p53 mutations are frequent and appear early in the development of a tumor (Ziegler et al., 1994). In both tumor types, however, the observed p53 mutations are typically found at dipyrimidine sites and harbor the hallmarks of UV mutagenesis suggesting UV radiation as a

causative agent of transformed growth (Ziegler et al., 1993; Nakazava et al., 1994; Hartmann et al., 1996; Zerp et al., 1999). Moreover, in the case of melanoma metastases, p53 mutations were significantly more common in skin metastases than in those of internal organs, providing further evidence of UV-radiation induced mutagenesis of p53 (Zerp et al., 1999).

Overexpression of wild-type p53

Another characteristic feature of p53 in melanomas is the overexpression of wildtype p53. In the early days of p53 research high levels of normal p53 in melanoma samples were considered as a mutant protein, since p53 mutation screening was largely based on the detection of accumulated p53 protein. Direct DNA sequencing later revealed the wild-type nature of stabilized p53 and the low frequency of p53 mutations. Overexpression of wild-type p53 in melanomas approximates 60%, and has a tendency, like p53 mutations, to occur more commonly in metastatic than in primary melanoma cells (Lassam et al., 1993; McGregor et al., 1993; Florenes et al., 1995; Zerp et al., 1999). Interestingly, melanoma patients with overexpressed p53 had better prognosis than patients with normal p53 levels (Essner et al., 1998; Healy et al., 1998). Some studies, however, have failed to confirm this correlation (Korabiowska et al., 1997).

In individual melanoma cases overexpressed p53 has been found in the wrong cellular compartment (Weiss et al., 1995), but most often the localization is normal (Lassam et al., 1993). Melanomas are not unique in expressing high levels of normal p53, since it has been also detected in some chorioncarcinoma (Landers et al., 1994), bladder (Lianes et al., 1994) and sarcoma cells (Cordon-Cardo et al., 1994). In these tumors high levels of mdm2, but not other target genes, accompanied overexpressed p53, supposedly trying to suppress the effects of elevated levels of p53. Mdm2 overexpression in a variety of tumor cells has been shown to result from enhanced expression of mdm2 mRNA, in particular initiated from the internal p53-responsive promoter (Landers et al., 1997). Despite a normal sequence of stabilized p53, its functions, target gene induction and DNA binding ability, may be reduced (Bae et al., 1996).

p16 mutations

During the last years p16 cyclin kinase inhibitor has established its role as a tumor suppressor in familial melanoma as well as in many other cancers. The pedigrees of familial melanoma with several affected individuals in several generations are rare, but over 50% of these families carry a germline p16 mutation (Hussussian et al., 1994). Family members with hereditary susceptibility to melanoma, comprising 5-10% of all

melanoma patients, also have a positive family history with at least one affected relative. Germline p16 mutations are observed in about 20% of these patients (FitzGerald et al., 1996). Germline mutations are typically point mutations or small deletions that are located in the exon 1 α thus affecting only p16 without interfering with p19^{ARF} (Gruis et al., 1995; Holland et al., 1995; Walker et al., 1995).

Other

Two familial melanoma kindreds have been found to carry Cdk4 point mutations that make Cdk4 insensitive to the inhibitory actions of p16 (Zuo et al., 1996). Additionally, 92% of sporadic melanoma cell lines have been found to harbor inactivated p16 or Cdk4 proteins, stressing the importance of p16 inactivation in the development of melanoma (Castellano et al., 1997).

The role of p21 in melanomas is theoretically interesting for two reasons: p21 is located in the same area of chromosome 6 which often contains changes in melanoma, and p21 was originally cloned also as a melanoma differentiation associated gene (mda-6). Despite these connections, p21 mutations are practically never found in melanomas. In contrast to p53, p21 expression often decreases with tumor progression (Maelandsmo et al., 1996).

AIMS OF THE PRESENT STUDY

The DNA damage response of γ -irradiated cells has been thoroughly studied during the last few years, and the requirement of wild-type p53 in growth arrest upon ionizing radiation cannot be questioned. UV radiation, causing DNA lesions specific to UV light, results in a damage response that differs from that caused by ionizing irradiation both in kinetics and in the need for cell cycle regulators. Despite the established role of p53 as a gatekeeper in cell cycle checkpoints, its necessity in UV-induced growth arrest and its functions in specific cell cycle phases have not been elucidated.

The present study was undertaken to:

- 1) study the effects of UV radiation on growth arrest, p53 stabilization, and pRB phosphorylation
- 2) examine the dependency of UV-induced p53 accumulation and transactivation on cell cycle phase
- explore the frequency of p53 mutations in melanoma cell lines and to determine the UV response in melanoma cell lines overexpressing wild-type p53
- 4) clarify the p53-independent mechanisms of p21 regulation after UV treatment

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Cell lines

The cell lines used are described in Table 1.

| Cell line | Description | p53 status | Source | Used in |
|--------------------------------|----------------------------|------------|-----------------------|---------|
| NIH3T3 | mouse fibroblast | wt | ATCC CRL 1658 | I, II |
| CCI-137 | human embryo lung | wt | ATCC | Ι |
| | fibroblast | | | |
| WI-38 human embryo lung | | wt | ATCC CC175 | Ι |
| | fibroblast | | | |
| T-24 | bladder adenocarcinoma | wt | | Ι |
| | transformed by | | | |
| | Val12-Gly ras | | | |
| SW480 | human colon carcinoma | mut | | Ι |
| 3T3RB4.6 | NIH3T3 transfected with | wt | Pitkänen et al., 1993 | Ι |
| | human RB cDNA (driven | | | |
| | by SV40 promoter) | | | |
| 3T3RB4.6p | NIH3T3 transfected with | wt | Pitkänen et al., 1993 | Ι |
| VU-0 | human RB and large T- | | | |
| | antigen (driven by SV40 | | | |
| | promoter) | | | |
| A-375 human malignant melanoma | | wt | ATCC CRL 1619 | IV |
| Malme-3M | human metastatic melanoma | wt | ATCC HTB 64 | IV |
| WM239 | human malignant melanoma | wt | ATCC | IV |
| G361 | human malignant melanoma | wt | ATCC CRL 1424 | IV |
| RPMI-7951 | human metastatic melanoma | mut | ATCC HTB 66 | IV |
| | | (166S/sto | p) | |
| SK-MEL-2 | human metastatic melanoma | mut | ATCC HTB 68 | IV |
| | | (245G/S) | | |
| SK-MEL-28 | human malignant melanoma | mut | ATCC HTB 72 | IV |
| | | (145L/R) | | |
| p53+/+ MEF | mouse embryonic fibroblast | wt | Dr. L. Donehower | III |
| p53-/- MEF | p53-deficient MEF | wt | Dr. L. Donehower | III |
| | | | and Dr. K. Wiman | |
| Melanocytes | primary human melanocytes | wt | Dr. O. Saksela | IV |

Cell culture and cell synchronization

The cells were grown at 37°C in the presence of 5% CO₂ atmosphere and maintained in DMEM (Life Technologies Inc.) supplemented with either 10% newborn calf serum (NBCS; Gibco) (NIH3T3 and its derivatives) or in 10% fetal calf serum (FCS; Life Technologies Inc.) (CCL-137, WI-38, T-24, A-375, Malme-3M, G361, WM239, SK-MEL-28, p53-/- and +/+ MEFs). SW480 cells were cultured in RPMI 1640 medium in the presence of 10% FCS, and RPMI-7951 and SK-MEL-2 cells in MEM supplemented with 10% FSC and non-essential amino acids. Primary MEFs were used between passages 3 to 8, and human skin derived melanocytes below passage 10.

NIH3T3 cells were synchronized to G_0/G_1 by contact inhibition and serum starvation for 8 h in the presence of 0.2% NBCS and released to cycle by replating cells in culture medium containing 10% NBCS. Synchronization to G_1/S was performed by initial serum starvation as above, followed by addition of fresh medium in the presence of 0.25 mM hydroxyurea (HU) (Sigma) and incubation for 16 h. After removal of HU-block the cells entered synchoronously into S. HU alone had no effect on p53 levels nor p53 DNA-binding activity.

UV treatment of cells

For UV treatment, medium was removed and the cells were exposed to UVC (254 nm) at a dose of 10 - 200 J/m² with UV-Stratalinker 1800 (I, II) or 2400 (III, IV) (Stratagene). Fresh medium was added, also to unradiated control cells, and cells were incubated for the indicated periods of time before analysis.

Immunoblotting

For semiquantitative analysis of protein by immunoblotting the cells were washed with cold 25 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), containing 150 mM NaCl (Tris buffered saline, TBS), and lysed with 25 mM Tris-HCl (pH 8.0), containing 120 mM NaCl, 0.5% Nonidet P-40 (NP-40), 4 mM NaF, 100 µM Na₃VO₄, 100 KIU/ml aprotinin, 1 mM PMSF, and 10 µg/ml leupeptin at 4°C for 25 min. Cell lysates were clarified by microcentrifugation, and protein concentrations were determined by Bradford analysis. Lysates (200 - 500 µg) were analysed by 7.5% or 12.5% SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis (SDS-PAGE) under reducing conditions followed by transfer of proteins to Immobilon-PTM membranes (Millipore). The membranes were probed either with monoclonal antibody PMG3-245 (PharMingen) against pRB, monoclonal DO-1 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or monoclonal PAb240 (PharMingen) against human and mouse p53, respectively, monoclonal 6B6 (PharMingen) against human p21, or either

polyclonal M-19 (Santa Cruz Biotechnology) or polyclonal 13436E (PharMingen) against mouse p21. PAb240 recognizes only mutant p53 under non-denaturing conditions, but both mutant and wild-type p53 under denaturing conditions. DO-1 antibody recognizes both forms of human p53. The antibodies were detected with peroxidase-conjugated secondary antibodies followed by enhanced chemiluminescence (ECL; Amersham). When indicated, densitometric scans of the immunoblots were analysed using NIH Image 1.47 program. Even loading of samples to polyacrylamide gel was verified by staining parts of the gel with Coomassie Brilliant Blue and of membranes by Ponceau S.

Immunofluorescence and 5-BrdUrd incorporation

Cells were grown on glass coverslips, fixed with methanol (MeOH) and acetone (1:1) for 5 min and stained for 1 h with primary antibody PMG3-245 to detect pRB, PAb 246 (PharMingen) or DO-1 to detect mouse and human p53, respectively. Subsequently, the coverslips were incubated with rhodamine-conjugated rabbit antimouse antibody (Dako), and nuclei were counterstained with 2 μ g/ml Hoechst 33258. The stainings were visualised with 100 x magnification under UV illumination with an Olympus BH-2 microscope.

DNA replication was determined by 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (5-BrdUrd) incorporation. Cells grown on coverslips were incubated with 50 μ M 5-BrdU (Sigma) for 1 or 2 h and fixed with ice cold MeOH for 5 min. After permeabilisation of cell membranes with 1.5 N HCl for 20 min, cells were stained with monoclonal 5-BrdUrd antibody (Amersham) and rhodamine-conjugated rabbit anti-mouse antibody (Dako), both for 1 h. Nuclei were stained with 2 μ g/ml Hoechst 33258 for 2 min and after visualisation with a microscope, the proportion of 5-BrdUrd positive nuclei of all Hoechst dye-stained nuclei was determined.

Northern (RNA) blotting

Poly(A)⁺ mRNA was isolated from cells by oligo(dT) cellulose, separated in 1% agarose gels containing formaldehyde and transferred to Hybond-N membrane (Amersham) in 20X SSC (3 M NaCl, 0.3 M sodium citrate, pH 7.0). mRNA was detected by probing with p21 (El-Deiry et al., 1993), GADD45 (Fornace et al., 1988), or mdm2 cDNA inserts (kindly provided by Dr. B. Vogelstein, Dr. A. J. Fornace Jr., and Dr. A. Levine, respectively) labeled with α [³²P]dCTP by random priming. Quantitations of the autoradiograms were carried out with Fujifilm BAS-1500 image analyser and the MacBAS 2.1 program. Fold inductions were calculated by normalizing the mRNA levels to the level of glyceraldehyde 3-phosphate dehydrogenase (GAPDH) and comparing the signals of the UV-treated and control cells.

Flow cytometry

For analysis of cell cycle phase distribution by flow cytometry the cells were trypsinized, centrifuged for 5 min at 1500 rpm, washed with phosphate-buffered saline (PBS), fixed with ice cold MeOH and stored at -20°C. Subsequently, thawed cells were centrifuged, washed with PBS, resuspended in 0.5 ml of PBS containing 50 μ g/ml RNase A (Sigma), and incubated for 30 min at 37°C. DNA was stained with 50 μ g/ml propidium iodide (Sigma) overnight, and flow cytometry analysis was performed by FACScan (Becton-Dickinson). The data of cell cycle distribution was analyzed using the CellFIT Cell Cycle Analysis program.

Assays for apoptosis

UV-treatment induced morphological changes of nuclei, apoptotic nuclear condensation and fragmentation, were estimated from cells fixed on glass coverslips and stained with DNA dye Hoechst 33258 (Sigma) at a concentration of 2 μ g/ml for 2 min, and the extent of apoptotic changes was visualised with an Olympus BH-2 microscope under UV illumination. In addition, A0-cell population, representing apoptotic cells with less than 2N DNA content, was determined by flow cytometry analysis.

Electrophoretic gel mobility shift assay

Nuclear extracts were prepared as described previously (Andrews et al., 1991). Oligonucleotides representing the consensus p53 binding sites either in the p21^{CIP}-1/WAF-1gene promoter (El-Deiry et al., 1992), 5'-AATTCTCGAGGAACA-TGTCCCAACATGTTGCTCGG-3', or mutated binding site 5'-GAATTCTCGAGG-AAAATTTCCCAAAATTTTGCTCGAG-3' were synthesized, annealed into doublestranded form and labeled with ³²P using T4 polynucleotide kinase (New England Biolabs). Oligonucleotide probes for wild-type (ATTCGGTCCCGCCTCCTTGAG-AGC) or mutant (ATTCGGTCCCGGAATCCTTGAGAGC) Sp1-binding sites were prepared similarly. Binding reactions contained 10 μ g of nuclear extract, 10 μ l of 2x binding buffer [40 mM Hepes-KOH pH 7.9, 50 mM KCl, 0.2 mM EDTA, 20% glycerol, 4 mM MgCl, 1 mM dithiothreitol, 0.05% NP-40, 4 mM spermidine (Sigma), and 100 ng poly(deoxyinosinic-deoxycytidylic acid) (Pharmacia)], and, when indicated, 500 ng of specific antibody in a final volume of 20 µl. Binding reactions were incubated at room temperature for 20 min, 0.2 ng of labeled oligonucleotide probe was added and the incubation was continued for an additional 20 min at room temperature. Reaction products were separated on a 4% nondenaturing polyacrylamide gel with

0.25X Tris-borate-EDTA buffer supplemented with 5% glycerol at 4°C. After drying, the gel was exposed to X-ray film.

Cell transfections and chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) assay

NIH 3T3 cells were co-transfected with PG13-CAT or MG15-CAT constructs (kindly provided by Dr. B. Vogelstein) (Kern et al., 1992) and with pcDneo neomycin resistance gene (Chen et al., 1987) by the calcium phosphate precipitation method and grown in the presence of 0.6 mg/ml G418 (Gibco) for two weeks. Stable cell colonies from both transfections were trypsinized and pooled. For measurement of CAT-activity the cells were pelleted, lysed and equal concentrations of protein were incubated with acetyl coenzyme A (Pharmacia) and 0.4 μ Ci of [¹⁴C]chloramphenicol (Amersham). The acetylated chloramphenicol was separated by thin-layer chromatography (Gorman et al., 1982), and signals of the acetylated forms of [¹⁴C]chloramphenicol were quantitated with a Fujifilm BAS-1500 image analyzer.

p53 sequencing

Reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) was used to generate cDNA, and all DNAs representing exons 1-11 of p53 gene were sequenced. For RT-PCR, two sets of primers generating a terminal, 774-bp fragment (forward primer, CTGCTGGGGCTCCGGGGACACTTTG; reverse primer AGGCGGCTCATAGGG-CACCACCAC) and a COOH-terminal 890 bp fragment (forward primer, TACTCC-CCTGCCCTCAACAAGATG; reverse primer TTCAAAGACCCAAAAACCCAAAATG) were used. cDNA was sequenced from both strands using automated DNA sequencing, and the sequences were compared against p53 cDNAs in the databases.

p21 promoter analyses

NIH3T3 and p53-/- MEFs were transiently transfected by the calcium phosphate precipitation method with p21 promoter deletion constructs, which were a kind gift from Dr. X.-F. Wang (Datto et al., 1995). Additionally, p21 promoter constructs containing two or three mutated Sp1-binding sites (mut 2+4, TATCTAGAAC TGAGGCGGGC ATCTAGACAT [-83 - -54]; and mut 2+3+4, TATCTAGAAC CTCTAGAAAT ATCTAGACAT [-83- -54]) were generated using one mutated Sp1-binding site containing construct (mut 2, mut 3, or mut 4) as the template in two successive PCR reactions with appropriate primers. The identities of PCR products were verified by sequencing and then cloned into 93-S vector (Kivinen et al., 1999). The cells were treated with UV radiation 24 h after transfection and after additional 20 h incubation luciferase activity was determined by Dual-Luciferase reporter assay

system (Promega). As an internal control of transfection efficiencies pRL-TK expression plasmid coding for *Renilla* luciferase was included in each transfection.

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Transient growth arrest induced by UV radiation (I, II, III, IV)

The effects of UV radiation on the growing ability and induction of apoptosis was studied in diverse cellular contexts, in both human and mouse cell lines with normal, defective or no p53. Regardless of the different genetic backgrounds, UVC radiation of 254 nm appeared to be an efficient inducer of transitory growth arrest in every cell line studied.

G1- and S-phase arrests after UV

The effect of 50 J/m² UVC radiation on DNA replication was first examined in exponentially growing mouse NIH3T3 fibroblasts. As measured by 5-bromo-2'-deoxyuridine (5-BrdUrd) nucleotide analog incorporation, cells underwent a transient growth arrest between 6 h and 12 h after irradiation followed by a gradual increase in replication from 12 h onwards (I). However, flow cytometry analyses from 6 h and 12 h timepoints indicated that despite inhibition of DNA replication cell cycle phase distribution was identical in radiated and unradiated cell populations, demonstrating that instead of gathering into G1 the radiated cells arrested in the phase they were at the time of radiation (unpublished observation).

To examine the kinetics of UV-induced growth arrest – as well as activation of tumor suppressors pRB and p53 – in specific cell cycle phases, NIH3T3 cells were synchronized by contact inhibition and serum starvation to the G0/G1 phase, replated, and stimulated with normal medium thus allowing cells to progress from G1 to S. Flow cytometry analyses revealed that if the cells were radiated in G1 or the G1/S border, they arrested in that phase for 10 to 12 h before entering back into the cell cycle. However, if the cells were exposed to UV while in S or early G2/M, the arrest period was considerably longer and cells failed to recover from the insult during follow-up unlike G1-phase cells (I).

An even more detailed study of growth arrest kinetics was carried out with NIH3T3 cells that were synchronized to G0/G1 and replated in the presence of hydroxyurea (HU) to inhibit the progression to S. Synchronized cells were treated with 50 J/m² of UV either at this artificial G1/S border or, after release from HU-block, in different S-phase stages (II). Information combined from 5-BrdUrd incorporation analyses and flow cytometry profiles indicated that during the 6 h incubation time after radiation the cells were able to minimally progress in the S phase. Accordingly, DNA replication did not cease instantly but decreased gradually becoming negligible during the last incubation hour. HU is an inhibitor of ribonucleotide reductase depleting the nucleotide

pool available and thus inhibiting the DNA replication. When it was added to the medium, cell cycle progression and DNA replication of all UV-radiated cells were inhibited (II).

Diverse DNA damaging conditions including UV radiation lead to growth arrest of cells in order to provide sufficient time for repair of the damaged DNA and maintenance of genomic stability. As found by us and others, UV-induced inhibition of growth is rapid, beginning almost immediately after the insult. Pyrimidine dimers and photoproducts caused by UV radiation impair the replication by distorting the DNA conformation Taylor et al., 1988; Taylor et al., 1990) and, at the same time, activate regulatory pathways involving damage recognition and checkpoint control. Inhibition of DNA replication upon high dose UV comprises inhibition of replicon initiation and reduction in the rate of chain elongation, the former being inhibited by 50% within the first hour after exposure to UV (reviewed by Frieberg, 1995).

Cell cycle phase synchronization is absolutely essential in order to separate the cell cycle responses of exponentially growing cells representing all cycle phases. As suggested by results obtained from exponentially growing cells (I), we demonstrated that after UV exposure the cell cycle can be halted in either G1 or S phases depending on the original stage of cells, and after insult the cells progressed in the cycle only little if at all (I, II). Moreover, S phase arrest appeared longer than G1 arrest as if more time was required for repair of S-phase lesions. Contrary to what might be expected, the apoptosis rate was not significantly higher in S-arrested cells (unpublished observation).

It has been demonstrated years ago that mutations due to UV radiation are considerably fewer if cells are prevented from entering the S phase, for example by HU (Stone-Wolff and Rossman, 1982). Due to active replication in S, repair of UV lesions may be less efficient in this phase leaving more mutations unrepaired. In addition to impaired repair, mutations are also fixed to the genome during subsequent DNA replication. Studies with synchronized normal fibroblasts have demostrated that the longer the period between UV and entry into S, the less the mutations accumulate (Konze-Thomas et al., 1982). The disappearance of premutagenic lesions before S is probably based on nucleotide excision repair, since XP cells deficient in NER display the same rate of mutations regardless of the length of G1 phase preceding S. Consistent with our findings, final cell survival is not, however, affected by the time point of UV radiation in either cell lines, suggesting that other repair mechanisms may in part overtake the functions of NER (Konze-Thomas et al., 1982). When regarding mutagenesis, a wave length of 254 nm has proven to be most efficient for cells in the S phase or its vicinity (Kaufmann, 1989).

Growth arrest and apoptosis in the absence of functional p53

The dependency of UV-induced growth arrrest on p53 functions was examined in multiple cell lines with different p53 status. Besides normal human and mouse fibroblasts, growth arrest upon UV treatment was observed also in cell lines with mutant p53 (SW480) or with p53 inactivated by SV40 large T antigen (RB4.6pVU-0) with at least 60% inhibition of DNA replication (I).

p53 coding exons of seven melanoma cell lines were sequenced, and three cell lines were found to carry mutant p53, one of them expressing a truncated form of p53 protein (IV). As determined by 5-BrdUrd incorporation, all melanoma cell lines underwent a growth arrest after 50 J/m² of UVC with at least 60% inhibition of DNA replication. Consistent with findings in NIH3T3 cells, the arrest responses of melanoma cell lines peaked at 6 to 16 h after irradiation, after which two alternative responses were found: three cell lines (A-375, WM239, and SK-MEL-2) remained arrrested for 24 h of incubation, while four lines (G361, Malme-3M, SK-MEL-28, and RPMI-7951) restored the cellular growth, RPMI-7951 with truncated p53 protein did so only partially. Melanoma cell lines permanently arrested and incapable of entering cell cycle also harbored markers of apoptosis. Melanocytes, used as control cells and an example of untransformed primary skin cells, took a course of their own; although lacking detectable DNA replication at 24 h after radiation they were able to recover at 30 h postirradiation and displayed only a few apoptotic cells. Most interestingly, neither growth arrest kinetics nor apoptosis pattern were dependent on p53 status. It should be remembered, however, that the UV response of wild-type p53 melanoma cell lines cannot be necessarily regarded as normal, since their p53 pathway may be defective due to accumulated wild-type p53. Nevertheless, UVC was shown to result in growth arrest in melanoma cell lines irrespective of functional p53 (IV).

Inspired by our previous findings we explored the growth arrest of cells totally lacking p53. Unsynchronized p53-/- MEFs from p53 knockout mice and p53 positive normal MEFs were exposed to 25 and 50 J/m² of UVC. Both cell lines were arrested with similar kinetics, maximal inhibition of DNA replication occurring 6 h after insult correlating with that seen in NIH3T3 cells. However, p53-/- cells were permanently arrested, and a considerable fraction of cells (approximately 15% with 25 J/m² and 35% with 50 J/m²) underwent apoptosis, whereas p53+/+ cells reentered the cell cycle by 24 h after UV radiation with less than 3% of cells exibiting apoptotic features (III). These findings involving both melanoma cells and p53-/- MEFs demonstrated that functional p53 is not required for UVC-induced growth arrest.

In contrast to UV radiation, functional p53 is required for successful growth arrest after γ -irradiation (Kastan et al., 1991; Kastan et al., 1992; Kuerbitz et al., 1992; Dulic et al., 1994). However, several lines of evidence have demonstrated that it is not

necessarily needed for apoptosis induced by γ -radiation or by other signals (Clarke et al., 1993; Kelley et al., 1994). Although p53 has been suggested to be essential for growth arrest after UV radiation as well, direct evidence of its requirement has been missing. On the contrary, UVC has been shown to induce G1 growth arrest in p53 deficient Li-Fraumeni cells (Loignon et al., 1997) being in accordance with our results for p53-/- MEFs (III). Recently it was reported that HaCaT cells lacking p53 ceased to proliferate when exposed to UVC during G0/G1 but not during S or G2/M suggesting that in the absence of p53 cells failed to undergo G2/M arrest but maintained the capacity for G1 arrest (Merryman, 1999). Our findings do not support the role of p53 in immediate, UV-triggered growth arrest, since growth inhibition was intact also in cells with defective or absent p53 (I, III, IV). However, after immediate inhibition of DNA replication, p53 -/- and +/+ cells followed different pathways. In contrast to normal MEFs, radiated p53 -/- MEFs were unable to re-enter cell cycle and were prone to apoptosis (III). Since apoptosis in -/- MEFs was more prominent with higher UV doses, programmed cell death can be speculated to occur due to defective DNA repair and accumulation of unrepaired DNA lesions in cells lacking p53. On the contrary, however, DeFrank et al. (1996) found no difference in survival between p53 null and p53+/+ cells. Similarly, apoptosis in UV-exposed melanoma cell lines (IV) and hepatocytes (Bellamy et al., 1997) displayed no correlation with p53 function.

Although p53 failed to be vital for successful growth arrest after UV radiation, some other cell cycle regulators – though closely related to the p53 pathway – were found to correlate with growth inhibition temporally; most of these are discussed in separate sections and are only listed here. One of our first observations was that G1 growth arrest was associated with pRB dephosphorylation and not with p53 accumulation (I). In melanoma studies, GADD45 mRNA induction was simultaneous with growth arrest and occurred in all melanoma cell lines regardless of p53 status. Moreover, high levels of GADD45 mRNA was associated with prominent apoptosis (IV). Another target gene of p53, p21, was induced in synchronized mouse fibroblasts during G1 growth arrest (II), and p21 mRNA and protein were overexpressed in UV-radiated p53-/- MEFs (III) suggesting a role for p21 in the transmission of growth arrest. However, in melanoma cell lines growth arrest failed to parallel p21 induction (IV). Depending on cell type and genetic backround, several pathways are undoubtedly involved in UV-induced growth arrest.

Function of pRB in G1-phase growth arrest (I)

Since p53 was known to accumulate in response to γ - and UV radiation (Lu and Lane, 1993; Zhan et al., 1993), we examined whether pRB, an other tumor suppressor

and cell cycle regulator, has any role in immediate cell response to UVC. As expected, p53 protein accumulated within 6 h after radiation with 50 to 100 J/m² in exponentially growing mouse (NIH3T3) and human fibroblasts (CCL-137, WI-38) (I). At the same time, pRB in radiated cells was found exclusively in the dephosphorylated, active form while unradiated control cells contained also hyperphosphorylated forms of pRB. Besides fibroblasts, dose-dependent pRB hypophosporylation upon UV insult was detected in all cell lines studied, including cells with mutant or inactive p53 (I). Hypophosphorylation of pRB correlated temporally with growth arrest kinetics in unsynchronized, UV-treated NIH3T3 cells. In addition, synchronized NIH3T3 cells radiated in G1 exhibited only hypophosphorylated pRb, and, to our initial surprise, no p53 accumulation occurred during the subsequent G1 proliferative arrest. Consistent with general growth arrest in unsynchronized cells, specific G1 arrest and pRB dephosphorylation attenuated with identical kinetics (I).

pRB hypophosphorylation is frequently detected in cells growth arrested by diverse genotoxic or growth restricting agents, but our study was one of the first to report its involvement in UV-induced growth arrest (I; Medrano et al., 1995). All DNA damage types do not lead to pRB hypophosphorylation; γ-irradiation failed to dephosphorylate pRB in p53-/- fibroblasts suggesting that the nature of the damage influences pRB phosphorylation changes (Dulic et al., 1994). This approach with synchronized cells allowed us to study pure G1 or S phase arrest and the functions of cell cycle regulators pRB and p53 in those phases.

In theory, pRB dephosphorylation in radiated cells could have been a secondary change caused by p53-mediated G1 growth arrest. However, two findings in our studies favored the p53-independent role of pRB in growth inhibition: first, pRB hypophosphorylation – and growth arrest – occurred also in cell lines harboring mutant or inactivated p53, and secondly, the kinetics of growth arrest in unsynchronized NIH3T3 cells correlated with that of pRB hypophosphorylation (I). Rephosphorylation of pRB 12 h after UV treatment, when DNA replication was still dampened, preceded, not followed, the entry of cells to the cycle. Moreover, in synchronized UV-treated NIH3T3 cells G1-phase growth arrest endured as long as pRB remained hypophosphorylated, but p53 accumulation was delayed until the cells recovered from G1 arrest and entered S phase (I).

These results thus not only demonstrate the role of pRB in UV-induced growth arrest in G1 but also question the participation of p53 in that particular phase (I). Our observation of pRB as a central mediator of the G1/S checkpoint proved to be in accordance with recent findings that exposure of RB-/- MEFs to various DNA damaging stimuli including UV, ionizing radiation, and chemotherapeutic agents resulted in defective cell cycle arrests (Harrington et al., 1998). It is particularly interesting that also γ -irradiation, which has been traditionally strongly coupled to p53 function, failed to cause G1/S arrest in the absence of pRB despite increased levels of p53 and p21 (Harrington et al., 1998). On the other hand, polyamine analog treatment has been shown to raise the level of hypophosphorylated pRB, correlating temporally with G1 growth arrest as in our studies, but that the rise was preceded by p53 accumulation (Kramer et al., 1999). Thus, the nature of DNA damage caused by numerous growth suppressive agents is one of the most important determinants when cell cycle responses are interpreted.

NIH3T3 cells synchronized to and radiated in S phase remained arrested in S, and contained both hypo- and hyperphosphorylated pRB, whereas pRB in S-phase control cells consisted solely of hyperphosphorylated forms (I). Theoretically, it seems unlikely that pRB could influence S-phase arrest in S-phase cells, because phosphorylation events inactivating pRB have already taken place in late G1 or G1/S transition during the previous cycle. However, the existence of both phosphorylation forms of pRB in radiated S-phase cells as well as existence of only hypophosphorylated pRB in exponentially growing cells including cells in S (I), raises the question of UV-induced dephosphorylation of pRB during the S phase. Indeed, it was recently found that underphosphorylated pRB was present also in cells growth arrested by sodium butyrate in the S or G2/M phases (Yen and Sturgill, 1998), and in all cell cycle phases after hypoxia treatment (Danielsen et al., 1998), suggesting that the growth controlling capability of RB may not be limited to the G1 phase alone.

Dependency of p53 accumulation on cell cycle phase (I, II)

p53 accumulation in cell lines with wild-type p53

In response to a UVC of 50 J/m², accumulation of p53 in exponentially growing NIH3T3 and CCL-137 fibroblasts was observed by immunoblotting and immunofluoresence staining between 4 and 30 h after radiation, after which elevated levels of p53 gradually decreased (I; data not shown). Similarly, p53 accumulation occurred within 6 h after UV treatment in normal MEFs (III) and in melanoma cell lines expressing wild-type p53 (IV). On the contrary, cells harboring mutant (IV) or inactivated p53 (I) already expressing high levels of stabilized p53 failed to further accumulate it in response to UV. In most experiments cells were exposed to a UVC of 50 J/m², representing a sublethal dose with less than 5% of NIH3T3 cells undergoing apoptosis after 36 h incubation (unpublished data). Doses as high as 200 J/m² seriously damaged cells resulting in enhanced apoptosis and lower accumulation of p53 (I).

Accumulation of p53 upon UV radiation was first detected by Maltzman and Czyzyk as early as 1984 (Maltzman and Czyzyk, 1984). The kinetics of p53 accumulation in

NIH3T3 was in agreement with findings of others (Lu and Lane, 1993; Zhan et al., 1993), and differed from that seen after ionizing radiation. γ -irradiation causing direct double-strand breaks is a more rapid and more efficient inducer of p53 accumulation than UV radiation (Lu and Lane, 1993). In general, agents leading to DNA strand breaks, such as topoisomerase I inhibitors, γ -irradiation, drugs intercalating to DNA, and DNA nucleases are most potent inducers of p53 (Nelson and Kastan, 1994). The C-terminal domain of p53 is known to bind to single-stranded DNA ends (Bakalkin et al., 1994) and DNA lesions (Lee et al., 1995) leading to an activation of transcriptional activity of p53. Since UV radiation causes DNA strand breaks only during repair processes, it is understandable that p53 response to UV radiation is kinetically slower but longer lasting than to ionizing radiation. Compared to ionizing radiation, a more extended accumulation of p53 after UV may correlate with the longer persistence of DNA lesions and ongoing repair processes and may hence be dependent on UV dose.

p53 accumulation requires replication of damaged DNA

Although G1-arrested cells lacked p53 stabilization, this was, however, detected in exponentially growing fibroblasts (I), indicating that cells in cell cycle phases other than G1 were responsible for elevated p53 levels. Indeed, in synchronized NIH3T3 cells p53 stabilization after UV radiation of 50 J/m² was detected in two circumstances, both involving the S phase. While absent during G1 arrest, p53 accumulation was detected when G1-arrested cells recovered from UV insult and entered the S phase (I). Alternatively, if cells were UV treated while in the G1/S-phase border or S, p53 stabilized without delay and correlated with S-phase arrest (I, II). These observations are very suggestive that not the stage in the cell cycle when the insult is encountered but the replication of damaged DNA could be a prerequisite for p53 stabilization. Furthermore, regarding p53 accumulation, p53 seemed to play an essential part rather in S and G2/M arrest than in G1 arrest.

To examine the temporal correlation between p53 stabilization and DNA replication in more detail, a double block system was used to synchronize NIH3T3 cells either to G1, the G1/S border, early- or mid-S phase (II). The 5-BrdUrd incorporation percentage of cells UV treated in G1 or the G1/S border and incubated for 6 h correlated with accumulation of p53 analyzed by both immunofluoresence staining and western blotting; p53 level was low or undetectable when less than 5% of radiated cells replicated DNA, and p53 level was high (50% of cells p53 immunopositive) when 70% of cells were replicating at the time of UV insult (II). To further demonstrate that p53 accumulation was dependent on DNA replication rather than on the S phase itself, HU was added to the medium after exposure to UV. HU treatment was able to abolish the p53 accumulation in S-phase cells, but interestingly, it failed to decrease p53 levels in cells radiated at the G1/S border; on the contrary, even higher amount of p53 was detected in the presence of HU in these cells (II).

Studies examining the cell cycle phase-dependent regulation of p53 accumulation by UV treatment had not been carried out before. We demonstrated that p53 accumulation after UV was cell cycle phase-dependent occurring only in cells radiated in S or G1/S phases or entering S after G1 arrest, and that accumulation correlated with DNA replication (I, II). Hypoxia, an other effective inducer of p53, has been later shown to induce p53 accumulation more efficiently in the S than in G1 or G2/M phases (Danielsen et al., 1998). The absence of stabilization of p53 during G1-phase growth arrest was unexpected (I), because p53 has been considered to be a G1 checkpoint controller. Assuming that p53 accumulation is dependent on recognition of DNA strand breaks, UV-type DNA lesions in G1-arrested cells may not be properly recognized by p53. In such a situation G1 arrest is perhaps maintained by other cell cycle regulators, such as pRB.

Replication of damaged DNA either in cells UV radiated in S or entering it after G1 arrest seemed to be a precondition for p53 accumulation. The replication dependency of p53 accumulation by UV is consistent with previous findings (Nelson and Kastan, 1994), but detailed analysis of p53 accumulation in different cell cycle stages had not been reported previously. Besides UV radiation, topoisomerase I inhibitor camptothecin requires DNA replication for p53 stabilization (Nelson and Kastan, 1994) suggesting that if a DNA damaging agent does not directly cause DNA strand breaks, the lesions should be at least exposed during replication. Damage signals evoked by UV in G1 may be recognized by p53 only in replicating DNA when it is processed to single-stranded DNA.

p53 accumulation in cells irradiated at the G1/S border was different from that seen in G1- or S-phase cell populations. Irradiated G1/S phase cells displayed accumulated p53, but in contrast to S-phase cells, p53 levels remained high in the presence of HU. However, G1/S time point fails to represent a normal cell cycle stage, because G1 cells that would otherwise continue to S are forced by HU to stop at the threshold of S. At the time of radiation these cells have opened replication forks, but a lack of nucleotides inhibits DNA replication but not NER. At this stage p53 stabilization independent of replication may be based on interaction of p53 with other cellular proteins. In fact, it has been later shown that p53 accumulation in G1/S, as well as in other phases, requires protein synthesis, since treatment with cycloheximide, an inhibitor of protein synthesis, totally prevented p53 accumulation in the presence and absence of HU (Pitkänen et al., 1998). It should be pointed out that up to the present, these findings apply only to these UVC-radiated mouse fibroblasts.

Dissociation between transactivation and accumulation of p53 (II)

Regulation of p53 transactivation in UV-radiated cells in different cell cycle phases turned out to be different from that of p53 accumulation. As in earlier studies, NIH3T3 mouse fibroblasts were exposed to 50J/m² of UVC in diverse stages of the cell cycle, and transactivation determinants, such as DNA binding activity, transcriptional activity as determined by chloramphenicol acetyltransferase (CAT) assay, and induction of target gene mRNAs, were compared to growth arrest kinetics and p53 accumulation. First, however, protein levels of p21 CKI were determined in cells irradiated in the G0, G1, G1/S, and S phases; G1/S represented the time point where G1 cells were inhibited by HU from entering S. In contrast to p53 protein which lacked accumulation in the G0 and G1 phases, p21 protein was induced in these and in all other stages (II). After UV radiation HU treatment abolished p21 protein induction in S but not at G1/S, a situation identical to that of p53 accumulation (II).

Since p21 protein was induced both in the presence and absence of accumulated p53, mRNA levels of two p53 target genes, p21 and GADD45, were measured in different cell cycle phases with and without HU. p21 and GADD45 mRNA levels were induced by UV radiation in all cell cycle phases. Compared to non-irradiated cells maximum induction of p21 mRNA ranged from 8-fold in G1 to 3-fold in S, GADD45 induction being 3-fold and 2-fold, respectively. Inhibition of replication by HU abolished mRNA inductions of both p21 and GADD45, including G1/S-phase cells (II).

The capability of p53 to specifically bind to the p53-responsive element and induce transcription was explored using p53-responsive reporter constructs. NIH3T3 cells were stably transfected with the reporter plasmid construct PG13-CAT, and the effect of UV on transcriptional activity of p53 was measured as an increase in CAT activity. It reached on average a 6-fold increase in G0/G1 UV-treated cells and 3-fold increase in G1/S- and S-phase cells without any inhibitory effect by HU. Transfection with MG15-CAT, containing mutant p53-binding sites, resulted in negligible CAT activities (II).

Finally, the sequence specific DNA-binding activity of p53 was assayed by EMSA. UV-activated p53 protein binds to a radiolabeled oligonucleotide containing consensus p53-binding site from p21 promoter, and the number of complexes containing active p53 was estimated after separation in polyacrylamide gel. EMSA results were consistent with the findings in CAT-assay: specific DNA binding activity of p53 was increased by UV in all cell cycle phases despite the presence of HU (II).

These results indicate that p53 transactivation is dissociated from p53 accumulation, since transcriptional activition was observed by all three methods in the G0 and G1 phases in the absence of stabilized p53. Moreover, transactivation appeared to be clearly independent of the cell cycle phase, and, according to CAT-assay and EMSA,

independent of DNA replication, because HU treatment in the S phase had no effect on DNA binding activity of p53. However, p21 and GADD45 mRNA as well as p21 protein were not induced in S in the presence of HU suggesting a role for accumulated p53 in these processes. On the other hand, neither the absence of replication nor p53 accumulation impaired the increase in p21 and GADD45 mRNA levels in G1 phase (II).

The three ways employed to analyze the transcativation function of p53 have their limitations. Mobility shift assay displays only the amount of p53 protein bound to the p53 consensus binding site. Although being highly specific for p53, it fails to measure activation of transcription. Increase in CAT activity, on the other hand, has been preceded by DNA binding and the activation of transcription by p53. Inductions of target gene mRNA and protein are close to physiological signals, but they are subject to diverse posttranscriptional and posttranslational modifications independent of p53. Thus, EMSA and CAT-assay are highly specific for p53 but may be too simplistic, whereas evaluation of target gene induction does not require artificial interventions such as transfections, but may in turn be a too complicated method to explore p53 function alone. Nevertheless, information combined from these assays provide indications of the regulation of transcriptional activity of p53.

Traditionally, p53 accumulation has been considered to be a consequence of p53 activation due to inhibition of protein degradation, and accumulation and transactivation have been regarded as simultaneous and interdependent events. However, coinciding with our report, discordance has been found between transcriptional activity and accumulation of p53 at low UV doses; 10 J/m^2 , but not higher doses, resulted in enhanced transcriptional activity without an increase in p53 protein (Lu et al., 1996). Although p53 accumulation after UV radiation seems to require replication of damaged DNA, other signals must be involved for its transcriptional activation. Regulation of p53 accumulation may depend on the ability of mdm2 to bind and target p53 for destruction, whereas other events, particularly protein modification by phosphorylation, may regulate the transcriptional activity of p53. In fact, mice lacking DNA-PK, a kinase phosphorylating Ser15 and 37, showed normal p53 accumulation but no activation of p53 by ionizing radiation (Woo et al., 1998). Discordance between accumulation and transactivation suggests that p53 accumulation is involved in recognition of unrepaired DNA lesions in the S phase. Supporting this hypothesis, NER-deficient cells accumulated p53 at much lower UV doses and exhibited a more prolonged response compared to normal cells or cells with restored NER activity, suggesting that p53 accumulation does not correlate with the NER process itself but with the presence of unrepaired cyclobutane dimers (Dumaz et al., 1997; Dumaz et al., 1998). The finding that p53 is transcriptionally active – although not accumulated – throughout the cycle,

support its role as a checkpoint controller in all phases of the cycle including G1. Whether p53 accumulation alone has a function independent of p53 transactivation still lacks direct evidence and remains to be clarified.

p53-independent induction of p21 upon UV treatment (II, III, IV)

Regulation of p21 by UV radiation in synchronized NIH3T3 cells showed many interesting aspects. Contrary to p53 accumulation, p21 protein was induced in all cell cycle phases (II) suggesting its participation in both G1- and S-phase arrests via its Cdkinhibiting or PCNA-binding functions (Chen et al., 1995; Luo et al., 1995). Although the DNA-binding activity of p53 was not dependent on DNA replication, p21 protein, its mRNA and GADD45 mRNA were upregulated in the S phase only in replicating cells (II). It seems that target gene induction requires more than binding of activated p53 to its responsive element and that these other events, whether posttranscriptional modifications or stabilization of p53, are prevented by HU. Alternatively, UV radiation can induce p21 and GADD45 independently of p53, but p53 may still augment this effect. p53-independent transcriptional regulation of p21 gene is frequently observed, although most commonly in conditions other than genotoxic stress (Chin et al., 1996; Somasundaram et al., 1997; Li et al., 1998; Moustakas and Kardassis, 1998). Additionally, cells radiated at the G1/S border showed peculiar features. HU treatment prevented p21 mRNA induction but it had no effect on p21 protein induction (II). This dissociation of p21 protein and mRNA induction has been also demonstrated in breast epithelial cells after ionizing radiation (Gudas et al., 1995) and in growth arrested fibroblasts after serum stimulation (Macleod et al., 1995), where high p21 protein levels have been detected without an increase in p21 mRNA.

The observed discordance between the induction of p21 and activation or accumulation of p53 (II) were suggestive of p53-independent regulation of p21 after UVC radiation. Similarly, a melanoma cell line carrying mutant p53 was able to induce p21 mRNA in response to UV (IV). Since mutant p53 proteins may have retained some functions of wild-type p53, p21 regulation was studied in the total absence of p53 in p53-/- MEFs (III).

As described in the context of growth arrest, UVC responses of low passage p53-/and p53+/+ MEFs were compared with respect to growth arrest and p21 induction. UVC doses of 10 to 50 J/m2, that are known to be sufficient for induction of p53 transcriptional activity, resulted in rapid increase in p21 protein in both cell lines. p53 +/+ cells, expressing higher p21 basal level than -/- cells, retained high p21 protein induction with 50 J/m², whereas the same dose in -/- MEFs yielded an attenuated p21 induction. The p53 accumulation pattern in p53+/+ MEFs followed the course observed in NIH3T3 cells and paralleled p21 induction (I, III).

Because elevation of p21 protein levels can be caused by transcriptional activation or by posttranslational modifications (Timchenko et al., 1996), mRNA levels in both cell types were evaluated. p21 mRNA was induced during the first 6 h after UV also in the absence of p53. When compared to unirradiated cells an over 5-fold induction was obtained within 16 h in both cell lines (III).

The transcriptional activation of p21 by UV radiation was further examined by studying the activation of p21 promoter. p53-/- cells were transiently transfected with p21 promoter deletion constructs containing luciferase gene as a reporter. Luciferase activity was measured from radiated (25 J/m²) and control cells 24 h after UV. Transfection with full length p21 2.4 kb promoter construct, as well as with three shorter constructs lacking either one or two p53 binding sites, resulted on the average in 6-fold induction of luciferase activity by UVC confirming the p53-independent transcriptional activation of p21 by UV radiation (III).

As p53-/- cells are incapable of activating p53 binding sites we examined whether wild-type p53 in NIH3T3 cells was able to further increase the p21 promoter activity. UVC treatment led to 4-fold increase in reporter gene activity with both full-length p21 promoter and with a construct devoid of major p53 consensus binding site. Moreover, a construct with 400 bp 5' deletion resulted in even greater induction of over 6-fold suggesting a negative regulatory element in region between -2.25 kb and -2.0 kb relative to the trancription initiation site. Deletion constructs containing DNA 500 to 110 bp upstream of the transcription initiation site showed a somewhat decreased UV inducibility, while only the shortest construct containing the last 61 bp totally abolished the UV-induced luciferase activity (III).

UV-induced transcriptional activation of p21 appeared to be most strongly regulated by a p21 promoter region between -110 bp and -61 bp relative to the transcription initiation site. Since the -110 bp area comprises five Sp1-binding sites, Sp1-binding site mutation constructs containing 93 bp were developed (Kivinen et al., 1999) and used to explore the effect of these sites on p21 induction. Of five Sp1-binding sites mutation of sites 2 and 4 decreased the UV inducibility, while the combined mutations of the two sites resulted in a complete loss of UV response. EMSA studies confirmed the sequence specific binding of Sp3 transcription factor to Sp1-binding site. In conclusion, UVinduced transcriptional activity of p21 was linked to two Sp1-binding sites in the vicinity of transcription initiation site, while a weaker regulation area was present between -1300 and -500 bp relative to transcription start. (III)

Hence, these studies indicated that UVC radiation induces p21 protein and mRNA expression and transcriptionally activates p21 promoter constructs also in the absence of

p53. While examples of p53-independent induction of p21 are abundant (see Review of the literature), only a few reports have connected it to UV radiation. p53 independency of p21 promoter activity was demonstrated by two ways: firstly, p21 promoter activity was found to be induced by UV in p53-/- cells, and secondly, deletion constructs devoid of both p53 binding sites showed normal promoter activity in NIH3T3 cells carrying normal p53 (III).

The induction of p21 by ionizing radiation, drugs, and other agents that cause double-strand breaks depends on intact p53 (Dulic et al., 1994; El-Deiry et al., 1994; Macleod et al., 1995). While UVB/A radiation has been shown to enhance p21 expression only in the presence of p53 (Liu and Pelling, 1995), UVC has been able to induce p21 protein in Li-Fraumeni cells (Loignon et al., 1997), in melanoma cells expressing mutant p53 (IV), and in p53-/- fibroblasts (III). Additionally, our study extended the findings to the transcriptional level, and was the first to determine the p21 promoter elements involved in p21 regulation after UV treatment (III). However, in contrast to our findings, UVC was recently found to be unable to induce p21 protein or mRNA in p53-/- MEFs, and, additionally, p21 induction in normal cells occurred through stabilization of p21 mRNA (Gorospe et al., 1998). Although Gorospe et al. (1998) failed to observe elevation of p21 protein levels in p53-/- cells, p21 mRNA was induced 3-4 fold, as compared to 25-fold increase in p53+/+ MEFs, the authors disregarded this relatively low level of induction in p53-/- cells. In our experiments both cell types showed equally strong p21 mRNA induction (maximum fold 5.2 and 6.7 in +/+ and -/- cells, respectively). Moreover, using the same p21 promoter luciferase construct, the authors observed only about 2-fold induction in luciferase activity while in our study the induction was 5-fold, but, most importantly, the induction was the same in -/- and +/+ cells (Gorospe et al., 1998). So, due to high p21 mRNA induction and low p21 promoter activity in normal cells the authors concluded that p21 induction resulted from stabilization of p21 mRNA rather than transcriptional activation (Gorospe et al., 1998). The stabilization of p21 mRNA is not an unusual phenomenon (Akashi et al., 1999), even if the regulation of the stability of mRNA is poorly understood. Of course, it cannot be ruled out that mRNA stabilization may participate in p21 induction in our cells as well, although p21 mRNA and promoter activity were equally induced (III); studies determining the halflife of mRNA would illuminate this aspect.

The regulatory element in the p21 promoter that totally abolished the UV response when absent was mapped between -110 bp and -61 bp proximal of the transcription start and was linked to two Sp1 binding sites (sites 2 and 4) within the region (III). This area seems to be of special importance in transcriptional activation of p21 promoter, since numerous p21 inducers, including TGF- β (Datto et al., 1995), progesterone (Owen et al., 1998), okadaic and phorbol ester (Biggs et al., 1996), nerve growth factor (Yan and Ziff, 1997) and ras (Kivinen et al., 1999) are regulated by these same or neighboring Sp1-binding sites. A negative regulatory element -2.0 kb distal relative to transcription initiation site was found in NIH3T3 but not in p53-/- cells suggesting also a p53-mediated negative regulation of p21 promoter activity.

In this study UV-induced p21 expression paralleled growth arrest kinetics, its role as proliferation controller being supported by a rapid response regulated at transcriptional level both in the presence and absence of p53 (III). Accordingly, flavone-induced G1 growth arrest induced by flavone was shown to depend on p53-independent transcriptional activation of p21 (Bai et al., 1998). It is possible that in the absence of p53 p21 may in part compensate for the function otherwise accomplished by p53. On the other hand, it has been assumed that despite p53 independent regulation, p21 induction may be enhanced by p53. For example, PMA was shown to induce p21 independent of p53 but the induction was increased manyfold in the presence of p53 (Akashi et al., 1999). For these reasons it was surprising that p21 was not only induced in the absence of p53, but that the level of protein and mRNA induction was completely independent of p53. However, two events were affected by a lack of p53: firstly, p53-/cells were not able to reenter the cell cycle and many underwent apoptosis possibly reflecting deficient repair, and secondly, high UVC doses (50 J/m²) caused attenuated induction of p21 protein. These findings suggest that p53 may be needed for full p21 induction after massive DNA damage and that p21 may function as a preventor of apoptosis.

The main results of UV-radiation induced activities of p53, pRB, and p21 in mouse fibroblasts, particularly their cell cycle phase and replication dependence, are summarized in the following figure.

| | | G1 | G1/S | S |
|----|----------------------------|----|---------|---------|
| UV | pRB hypophosphorylation | + | + | + |
| | p53 accumulation | - | + | $+_{R}$ |
| | p53 transactivation | + | + | + |
| | ↓ p21 protein induction | + | + | $+_{R}$ |
| | p21 mRNA induction | + | $+_{R}$ | $+_{R}$ |

Fig. 6. Activity of pRB, p53, and p21 in different phases of the cell cycle induced by UV radiation. *R* indicates that the activity is dependent on DNA replication. Induction of p21 can occur directly by UV, but is probably augmented by p53 function.

Aberrant p53 functions in UV-treated melanoma cell lines (IV)

The low frequency of p53 mutations (Hartmann et al., 1996) and high basal expression of wild-type p53 often encountered in melanomas (Lassam et al., 1993; Floerens et al., 1994; Floerens et al., 1995) aroused our interest in exploring the UVC response of seven melanoma cell lines. Based on previous reports (Montano et al., 1994; Bae et al., 1996) as well as on our analysis of all p53 coding exons by RT-PCR and direct sequencing (IV), four melanoma cell lines (A-375, Malme-3M, WM239, and G361) appeared to harbor wild-type p53 and three cell lines mutant p53, including a nonsense mutation leading to a truncated p53 protein (RPMI-7951), and two mutations in p53 DNA-binding domain (SK-MEL-2, SK-MEL-28). Compared to melanocytes expressing low or negligible levels of p53 protein, all untreated melanoma cell lines, regardless of the p53 status, expressed high levels of p53 protein with the exception of RPMI-7951 which lacked detectable p53. Accumulation of both wild-type and mutant p53 was detected by western blotting and immunostaining of fixed cells, the latter revealing also the nuclear localization of p53 protein. p21 protein was expressed only in melanoma cells with wild-type p53, but its level failed to correlate with that of p53. Similarly, although mdm2 mRNA levels on the average were higher in cells expressing wild-type than in cells expressing mutant p53, high mdm2 levels were not associated with high p53 protein levels in individual melanoma cell lines (IV).

UVC treatment of 50 J/m² resulted in further accumulation of p53 only in wild-type cell lines. Although the kinetics of p53 stabilization in melanoma cell lines was consistent with that in NIH3T3 cells being detectable within 6 h incubation, the elevation in most wild-type cell lines was quite modest and less than in melanocytes. As previously shown (I), mutant p53 was not subject to further stabilization (IV).

To demonstrate transcriptional activity of p53, UV-responsiveness of three p53 target genes was examined. Induction of p21 protein was observed only in melanoma cell lines expressing normal p53, whereas induction of p21 mRNA occurred also in one mutant cell line (SK-MEL-28) lacking an increase in p21 protein. Interestingly, p21 protein and mRNA levels were not elevated until 16 to 24 h after exposure to UV reflecting a slower kinetics than seen in human and mouse fibroblasts (I, II). The GADD45 response, on the other hand, was rapid and simultaneous with growth arrest. GADD45 mRNA induction was detected in all UV-treated melanoma cells studied, maximal fold induction ranging from 2.8 to 8.8 independent of p53 status and p21 induction pattern. Moreover, high induction of GADD45 mRNA (4-fold or more) correlated with prominent apoptosis, which, like growth arrest, occurred irrespective of p53 status (IV). The UV response of mdm2 mRNA was consistent in all melanoma cells, with the exception of RPMI-7951: an initial decrease in mdm2 levels 6 h after UV

was followed by slight increase 24 h after UV treatment. In RPMI-7951 cells this decrease was absent and maximal induction took place already 16 h after UV. The inductions were small, and no significant difference was detected between cells expressing wild-type or mutant p53. Thus, regulation of target gene inductions by UV – though different from each other - appeared to be independent of p53 function (IV).

Since DNA damage can stimulate p53 effector genes also in a p53-independent manner, EMSA analysis was undertaken to examine the UV-induced specific DNAbinding activity of p53. Mutant cell lines were also studied in order to find out whether mutant p53 could induce p21 mRNA expression detected in SK-MEL-28. The specificity of binding of p53 to DNA was confirmed by using oligonucleotides containing specific p53-binding sites from either p21 or GADD45 promoters and by detecting supershifts of DNA-p53-antibody -complexes in the presence of p53 antibodies. As expected, UV-stimulated DNA binding activity of p53 to both p21 and GADD45 probes was detected in A-375, Malme-3M, and WM239 cell lines expressing wild-type p53 and was absent in SK-MEL-28, SK-MEL-2, and RPMI-7951 cells carrying mutant p53 (IV; data not shown). Surprisingly, however, G361 cells exhibiting high levels of wild-type p53 completely lacked UV-stimulated DNA-binding activity with all probes even in the presence of the antibody PAb421 that is known to stimulate the binding. This suggests that the UV response in G361 occurs independent of p53, or at least independent of its transactivation property. It should be also noted that when observed, DNA-binding activity was stimulated already 6 h after DNA damage thus hardly contributing to p21 induction detected only after 16 h incubation (IV).

The expression of some other cell cycle regulators, that are known to be involved in the pathogenesis of malignant melanoma, were also studied. pRB expression was observed in all melanoma cell lines, whereas only cell lines carrying mutant p53 showed p16 protein and mRNA expression (unpublished observation); the lack of p16 expression in wild-type p53 cell lines is due to premature stop codon in A-375 (Ohta et al., 1994), or deletion of exon α in WM239 and G361 cell lines (Ohta et al., 1994). In addition to the p53 mutation, SK-MEL-28 cell line harbors Cdk4 mutation (Tsao et al., 1998). It can be speculated that in the absence of p53 mutation, inactivating mutations of p16 or other targets of RB pathway have been selected.

Human melanoma represents one of the few malignancies that seldom select for p53 mutations (Hartmann et al., 1996). Although primary melanomas rarely contain p53 mutations, they are more frequently detected in melanoma cell lines (Albino et al., 1994; Bae et al., 1996) corresponding to mutation frequency of 43% among our seven randomly selected melanoma cell lines. On the other hand, all cell lines expressing wild-type p53 showed abnormal stabilization of normal p53. Accumulation of wild-type p53 was neither due to extranuclear localization nor due to overexpression of mdm2,
since mdm2 levels failed to systematically accompany p53 accumulation although they were generally higher in the wild-type than in mutant p53 cells (III, see also " Review of the literature"). Similarly, although all untreated melanoma cell lines harboring normal but stabilized p53 were expressing p21 protein, the levels of p53 and p21 did not correlate (IV). This is in contrast to non-Hodgkin's lymphomas where overexpression of wild-type p53 was associated with accumulation of p21 (Maestro et al., 1997). Teratocarcinomas, which never contain p53 mutations, also exhibit high levels of nuclear wild-type p53. This protein is transcriptionally inactive until activated by DNA damage or by agents inducing differentiation which leads to transcriptional induction of target genes and p53-mediated apoptosis (Lutzker and Levine, 1996).

Our results indicate that despite the wild-type sequence of p53 its response to UVC radiation differed in several aspects from that of normally functioning p53. Irrespective of this, or due to it, the response patterns of mutant and wild-type p53 expressing melanoma cell lines did not show any major differences. Although wild-type p53 accumulated in response to UV as expected, the p53 pathway downstream of accumulation displayed several specific features: induction of p21 protein and mRNA expressions by UV radiation were delayed, 2) inductions of the target genes p21, GADD45, and mdm2 were dissociated from p53 regulation, 3) one wild-type p53 melanoma cell line had no UV-stimulated DNA-binding activity, and 4) of the cell cycle regulators studied only GADD45 expression correlated with growth arrest and apoptosis.

UVC-stimulated p21 protein and mRNA inductions appeared to be independent of p53 function, as accumulation and DNA-binding of p53 took place considerably earlier than p21 induction, and p21 mRNA elevation occurred with the same kinetics also in SK-MEL-28 cell line harboring mutant p53. However, p53 may still play a role in the full induction of p21, since p21 protein was not induced in SK-MEL-28 cells despite an elevation in the level of mRNA encoding it. This finding is consistent with the fact that p53-/- MEFs, but not p53+/+ MEFs, had an attenuated p21 protein response to high UVC dose (III), providing evidence that p53 activity is required for some aspects of p21 regulation. The requirement of p53 for growth arrest and p21 induction is certainly affected by the nature of DNA damage. Polyamine analogs usually cause G1 and G2/M arrests in p53 proficient cells, but treatment of SK-MEL-28 cells carrying mutant p53 have been shown to abolish G1 arrest and p21 induction (Kramer et al., 1999).

In contrast to stimulation of p21 expression, GADD45 mRNA induction occurred rapidly within 6 h after UV treatment in all melanoma cell lines irrespective of p53 status. p53-independent activation of GADD45 in response to UV has been detected previously (Kearsey et al., 1995). Since activation of GADD45, and not of p53, correlated with both growth arrest and apoptosis, GADD45 appeared to serve as a rapid

UV response target (IV). Contrary to our results, however, GADD45 has been proposed to protect cells from UV-induced apoptosis (Smith et al., 1996). Interestingly, GADD45 induction in γ -radiated melanoma cells expressing wild-type, accumulated p53 was very different from that after UV radiation. Ionizing radiation resulted in strong G1 growth arrest, prolonged p21 induction, and low or absent GADD45 induction (Bae et al., 1996). Taken together this suggests that GADD45 activation would be vital in UV response and regulated independent of p53, whereas it can be neglected after ionizing radiation and is probably under the control of intact p53.

Of the p53 effector genes mdm2 has recently received most interest due to its role as a negative regulator of p53, a function which is affected by several different p53 activating pathways. The regulation of mdm2 by UV radiation elicits some special features. Compared to p53 accumulation, low UV doses lead to rapid mdm2 induction, while with high UV doses mdm2 response is delayed, the decrease being p53-independent and the increase p53-dependent (Perry et al., 1993; Wu and Levine, 1997). The mdm2 response of melanoma cells studied here seemed to follow that pattern, but the increase in mdm2 mRNA levels after an initial decrease was detected also in two mutant p53 cell lines, one of them (RPMI-7951) displaying the highest mdm2 induction of all. Thus, UV-stimulated induction of mdm2, as well as that of p21 and GADD45, appeared to be independent of functional p53.

Although accumulation and DNA-binding activity of p53 were upregulated with rapid kinetics in all melanoma cell lines expressing wild-type p53 except for G361, none of the UV responses - growth arrest, apoptosis, or target gene inductions of p21, GADD45, or mdm2 - appeared to be regulated by p53. Despite the DNA-binding activity of p53 observed in the majority of cell lines, this suggests that abnormally stabilized wild-type p53 in melanoma cell lines is functionally inactive or possesses alternative functions not characterized here. The functional inactivity downstream of sequence-specific DNA binding would explain tolerance to high p53 levels and why mdm2 levels are not raised to downregulate p53. As in the case of p53 mutation, a cell with inactive p53 is not able to sense the effects of p53 and responds by decreasing p53 degradation leading to accumulation of inactive, though wild-type, p53 protein.

CONCLUSIONS

This study was undertaken to clarify how p53, presumably the best known cell cycle regulator and tumor suppressor, is regulated in transient growth arrest triggered by UV light. The overall cellular response to UV radiation was in many respects different from that shown to ionizing radiation, but some of the findings that at first appeared surprising have later been supported by others.

Unlike ionizing radiation, UV response studied in multiple cell lines was not abrogated by the absence of p53. Even during G1-phase growth arrest, the area believed to be governed by p53, pRB hypophosphorylation seemed to be at least equally important as activation of p53. While UV-induced transactivation of p53 was rapid taking place in all the cell cycle phases, accumulation of p53 seemed to correlate with replication of damaged DNA and, supposedly, the existence of unrepaired DNA lesions.

Regardless of apparently normal p53 status no melanoma cell line displayed normal p53 function. The identical growth arrest pattern in cell lines expressing mutant and wild-type p53 suggests no role for p53 in melanomas, whereas the functional inactivation of wild-type p53 indicates a loss of p53 function in melanomas. UV-triggered p21 induction was found to be regulated at the transcriptional level also in the absence of p53, but dissociation of p21 mRNA and protein expression was detected in several situations, and in some of them a defective p21 response was clearly caused by lack of functional p53.

Dissociation of stabilization and transcriptional activities renders p53 even more interesting, since accumulation may be involved in tasks other than those requiring transcriptional activity. Since these findings thus far apply only to mouse fibroblasts, it would be of particular interest to study the cell cycle phase-specific activation and phosphorylation of N-terminal residues of p53 in normal human fibroblasts. It would be also useful to explore whether induction of ARF, which represents a p53-activating pathway that is not induced by DNA damage, would result in different p53 responses than those detected after UV radiation.

UV radiation provides one model for damaging genetic material, and the knowledge gathered from cells treated with both UV and γ -irradiation is indicative of how damaged cells respond to and survive the DNA damage. Cell cycle phase studies like those presented in this thesis may determine in which phases p53 is indispensable and in which phases, and to what extent, its functions in damage response can be replaced by other cell cycle regulators, for example pRB or CKIs.

Along with advances in basic cancer research, the underlying mechanisms of the development or prevention of malignant transformation at the cellular level have become better understood. Instead of today's often unspecific cancer treatment, novel

therapies can be developed in the future by taking advantage of the molecular level differences between normal and transformed cells. For example, the knowledge gained from the interplay between p53 and adenovirus proteins have yielded a clinical trial where promising results have been obtained by infecting carcinoma patients with mutant adenoviruses that cause cytopathic effect only in cells lacking functional p53. These kinds of trials, demanding wide-ranging expertise of many fields, lie at the very heart of medicine reaching from knowledge to action.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

These studies were carried out at the Department of Virology, Haartman Institute, University of Helsinki, during the years 1993-1999. I am grateful to the Head of the Department, Prof. Antti Vaheri, for providing the excellent research facilities and scientific atmosphere. Already from the first years the department felt like a second home to me, because as a medical student my working hours were in the evenings and weekends - not to mention some of the nights that I spent snoozing at the library's sofa waiting for the next time point. The years of research work have taught me tremendously both scientifically and, at least as much, non-scientifically.

I wish to express my gratitude to Prof. Jorma Keski-Oja, for his interest in my work, guidance, and support. Prof. Keski-Oja is also the Head of the Helsinki Biomedical Graduate School, that I was privileged to take part in my last years of studies. I am also grateful to Prof. Tomi Mäkelä for his expertise and thought-provoking comments. Prof. Kari Alitalo, and Drs. Michael Datto and Xioa-Fan Wang are warmly thanked for collaboration and for providing reagents.

Dos. Pirkko Härkönen and Prof. Juhani Syväoja are gratefully acknowledged for reviewing and improving this thesis.

I want to express my deepest gratitude to my supervisor, the "Boss", Dos. Marikki Laiho for her excellent guidance that is so vital for anyone with a medical school backround. Due to her encouragement and support the research work continued also in less successful days, and her optimism changed the insuperable difficulties to interesting challenges. Her scientific talent, remarkable memory and enthusiasm never ceased to amaze me, and made her - in my eyes as in others'- an ideal supervisor.

The relaxed and friendly atmosphere of the laboratory has been exceptional. I want to thank the heart and soul of our lab, Annari, whose excellent technical assistance, friendship, and sense of humor have made the practical work enjoyable. During the years, the deepest thoughts and doubts I have been able to share with Laura, and there has been no scientific, medical, or personal questions that I have not been able to discuss with her. Because of her great contribution to my work and life as general she is thanked for listening, caring and friendship. I also warmly thank Minna for friendship and for explaining mysterious genetic issues, and Kimmo for welcomed co-operation in the p53 field. Leena and Hanna, who were in the prevailing circumstances forced to comment on the manuscript, are thanked for the answers and lots of laughs. Warm thanks are also owned to Erja, Aura, Jiri, and Fan. I will never forget the always-toolong lunch and coffee breaks that were spent with old, as well as with new members of our lab. I would also like to acknowledge Tiina, Piia, Heli, Carita, Kaisa, Pipsa, Juha, Kirsi, Marko, and Tuomo at the Haartman Institute for collaboration, support and wideranging discussions. Satu Cancar is thanked for introducing me to the world of science and to Marikki-, and Päivi Loizos for admirable positive attitude, and for keeping the wheels of bureaucracy rolling as smoothly as possible. I am happy that the pleasent moments with Minna G. have continued also outside the lab.

All my friends are thanked for patience and support, particularly the members of the "Five", Päivi, Terhi, Tiina, and Leena, who have faithfully followed the different phases of my scientific and private life and gave me something else to think about.

Above all, I express my gratitude to my late mother Leena, my farther Hannu, sister Virve and her Samuli, and aunt Leila and her husband Jussi for their continuous interest, support, and unquestionably love.

These studies were financially supported by the Finnish Cancer Organizations, the Academy of Finland, the Ida Montin Foundation, and the Finnish Medical Society Duodecim.

Finally, to Mika and Henriikka, my loved ones, belong my warmest thoughts. During these years my husband has shown enormous flexibility, support and understanding. More than anything, I am gratefulful for the constant love and joy he and Henriikka have brought to my life.

Helsinki, August 1999

Tarja Mälkönen

REFERENCES

- Addison C., Jenkins J. R., and Sturzbecher H. W. (1990). The p53 nuclear localisation signal is structurally linked to a p34cdc2 kinase motif. *Oncogene* **5**: 423-426.
- Agarwal M. L., Agarwal A., Taylor W. R., and Stark G. R. (1995). p53 controls both the G2/M and the G1 cell cycle checkpoints and mediates reversible growth arrest in human fibroblasts. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **92:** 8493-8497.
- Akashi M., Osawa Y., Koeffler H. P., and Hachiya M. (1999). p21WAF1 expression by an activator of protein kinase C is regulated mainly at the posttranscriptional level in cells lacking p53: important role of RNA stabilization. *Biochem. J.* 337: 607-616.
- Akslen L. A., Moenstad S. E., Larsen B., Straume I., and Igreid D. (1998). Frequent mutations of the p53 gene in cutaneous melanoma of the nodular type. *Int. J. Cancer* **79**: 91-95.
- Albino A. P., Vidal M. J., McNutt N. S., Shea C. R., Prieto V. G., Nanus D. M., Palmer J. M., and Hayward N. K. (1994). Mutation and expression of the p53 gene in human malignant melanoma. *Melanoma Res.* 4: 35-45.
- Andrews N.C., and Faller D.V. (1991). A rapid micropreparation technique for extraction of DNAbinding proteins from limiting numbers of mammalian cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **19:** 249.
- Aloni-Grinstein R., Zanbar I., Alboum I., Goldfinger N., and Rotter V. (1993). Wild type p53 functions as a control protein in the differentiation pathway of the B-cell lineage. *Oncogene* 8: 3297-3305.
- Araki R., Fujimori A., Hamatani K., Mita K., Saito T., Mori M., Fukumura R., Morimyo M., Muto M., Itoh M., Tatsumi K., and Abe M. (1997). Nonsense mutation at Tyr-4046 in the DNA-dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit of severe combined immune deficiency mice. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 94: 2438-2443.
- Armstrong J. F., Kaufman M. H., Harrison D. J., and Clarke A. R. (1995). High-frequency developmental abnormalities in p53-deficient mice. *Curr. Biol.* 5: 931-936.
- Ashcroft M., Kubbutat M. H., and Vousden K. H. (1999). Regulation of p53 function and stability by phosphorylation. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 19: 1751-1758.
- Bae I., Smith M. L., Sheikh M. S., Zhan Q., Scudiero D. A., Friend S. H., O'Connor P. M., and Fornace A. J. Jr. (1996). An abnormality in the p53 pathway following gamma-radiation in many wild-type p53 human melanoma cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 56: 840-847.
- Bai F., Matsui T., Ohtani-Fujita N., Matsukawa Y., Ding Y., and Sakai T. (1998). Promoter activation and following induction of the p21/WAF1 gene by flavone is involved in G1 phase growth arrest in A549 lung adenocarcinoma cells. *FEBS Lett.* **437**: 61-64.
- Bakalkin G., Yakovleva T., Selivanova G., Magnusson K. P., Szekely L., Kiseleva E., Klein G., Terenius L., and Wiman K. G. (1994). p53 binds single-stranded DNA ends and catalyzes DNA renaturation and strand transfer. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91: 413-417.
- Baker S. J., Fearon E. R., Nigro J. M., Hamilton S. R., Preisinger A. C., Jessup J. M., vanTuinen P., Ledbetter D. H., Barker D. F., and Nakamura Y. (1989). Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. *Science* 244: 217-221.
- Baker S. J., Markowitz S., Fearon E. R., Willson J. K., and Vogelstein B. (1990). Suppression of human colorectal carcinoma cell growth by wild-type p53. *Science* **249**: 912-915.
- Banin S., Moyal L., Shieh S., Taya Y., Anderson C. W., Chessa L., Smorondinsky N. I., Prives C., Reiss Y., Shiloh Y., and Ziv Y. (1998). Enhanced phosphorylation of p53 by ATM in response to DNA damage. *Science* 281: 1674-1677.
- Barak Y., Gottlieb E., Juven-Gershon T., and Oren M. (1994). Regulation of mdm2 expression by p53: alternative promoters produce transcripts with nonidentical translation potential. *Genes Dev.* 8: 1739-1749.
- Bargonetti J., Manfredi J. J., Chen X., Marshak D. R., and Prives C. (1993). A proteolytic fragment from the central region of p53 has marked sequence-specific DNA-binding activity when generated from wild-type but not from oncogenic mutant p53 protein. *Genes Dev.* 7: 2565-2574.

- Bartek J., Bartkova J., and Lukas J. (1996). The retinoblastoma protein pathway and the restriction point. *Curr. Opin. Cell Biol.* **8:** 805-814.
- Bartek J., Bartkova J., and Lukas J. (1997). The retinoblastoma protein pathway in cell cycle control and cancer. *Exp. Cell Res.* 237: 1-6.
- Bates S., Phillips A. C., Clark P. A., Stott F., Peters G., Ludwig R. L., and Vousden K. H. (1998). p14ARF links the tumour suppressors RB and p53. *Nature* **395**: 124-125.
- Bellamy C. O., Clarke A. R., Wyllie A. H., and Harrison D. J. (1997). p53 deficiency in liver reduces local control of survival and proliferation, but does not affect apoptosis after DNA damage. *FASEB J.* 11: 591-599.
- Benedict W. F., Lerner S. P., Zhou J., Shen X., Tokunaga H., and Czerniak B. (1999). Level of retinoblastoma protein expression correlates with p16 (MTS-1/INK4A/CDKN2) status in bladder cancer. *Oncogene* 18: 1197-1203.
- Beroud C., and Soussi T. (1998). p53 gene mutation: software and database. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26: 202-207.
- Berry D. E., Lu Y., Schmidt B., Fallon P. G., O Connell C., Hu S.-X., Xu H.-J., and Blanck G. (1996). Retinoblastoma protein inhibits IFN-gamma induced apoptosis. *Oncogene* **12**: 1809-1819.
- Biggs J. R., Kudlow J. E., and Kraft A. S. (1996). The role of the transcription factor Sp1 in regulating the expression of the WAF1/CIP1 gene in U937 leukemic cells. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 901-906.
- Birch J. M., Hartley A. L., Tricker K. J., Prosser J., Condie A., Kelsey A. M., Harris M., Jones P. H., Binchy A., and Crowther D. (1994). Prevalence and diversity of constitutional mutations in the p53 gene among 21 Li-Fraumeni families. *Cancer Res.* 54: 1298-1304.
- Birch J. M., Blair V., Kelsey A. M., Evans D. G., Harris M., Tricker K. J., and Varley J. M. (1998). Cancer phenotype correlates with constitutional TP53 genotype in families with the Li-Fraumeni syndrome. *Oncogene* **17**: 1061-1068.
- Bischoff J. R., Friedman P. N., Marshak D. R., Prives C., and Beach D. (1990). Human p53 is phosphorylated by p60-cdc2 and cyclin B-cdc2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87: 4766-4770.
- Bissonnette N., and Hunting D. J. (1998). p21-induced growth arrest in G1 protects cells from apoptosis induced by UV-irradiation or RNA polymerase II blockage. *Oncogene* **16**: 3461-3469.
- Blattner C., Tobiasch E., Litfen M., Rahmsdorf H. J., and Herrlich P. (1999). DNA damage induced p53 stabilization: no indication for an involvement of p53 phosphorylation. *Oncogene* **18**: 1723-1732.
- Blaydes J. P., Gire V., Rowson J. M., and Wynford-Thomas D. (1997). Tolerance of high levels of wildtype p53 in transformed epithelial cells dependent on autoregulation by mdm-2. *Oncogene* 14: 1859-1868.
- Bookstein R., Lee E. Y., Peccei A., and Lee W. H. (1989). Human retinoblastoma gene; long-range mapping and analysis of its deletion in a breast cancer cell line. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **9**: 1628-1634.
- Bootsma D., and Hoeijmakres J. H. (1993). DNA repair. Engagement with transcription. *Nature* **363**: 114-115.
- Bootsma D. (1993). The genetic defect in DNA repair deficiency syndromes. *European Journal of Cancer* **29A:** 1482-1488.
- Bourre F., Renault G., and Sarasin A. (1987). Sequence effect on alkali-sensitive sites in UV-irradiated SV40 DNA. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **15:** 8861-8875.
- Brain R., and Jenkins J. R. (1994). Human p53 directs DNA strans reassociation and is photolabelled by 8-azido ATP. Oncogene 9: 1775-1780.
- Brown J. P., Wei W., and Sedivy J. M. (1997). Bypass of senescence after disruption of p21CIP1/WAF1 gene in normal human fibroblasts. *Science* **277**: 831-834.
- Brugarolas J., Chandrasekaran C., Gordon J. I., Beach D., Jacks T., and Hannon G. J. (1995). Radiationinduced cell cycle arrest compromised by p21 deficiency. *Nature* **377**: 552-557.
- Buckbinder L., Talbott R., Velasco-Miguel S., Takenaka I., Fha B., Seizinger B. R., and Kley N. (1995). Induction of the growth inhibitor IGF-binding protein 3 by p53. *Nature* **377:** 646-649.

- Butz K., Geisen C., Ullmann A., Zentgraf H., and Hoppe-Seyler F. (1998). Uncoupling of p21WAF1/CIP1/SDI1 mRNA and protein expression upon genetoxic stress. Oncogene 17: 781-787.
- Caelles C., Helmberg A., and Karin M. (1994). p53-dependent apoptosis in the absence of transcriptional activation of p53-target genes. *Nature* **370**: 220-223.
- Cahilly-Snyder L., Yang-Feng T., Francke U., and George D. L. (1987). Molecular analysis and choromosomal mapping of amplified genes isolated from a transformed mouse 3T3 cell line. *Somat. Cell. Mol. Genet.* **13**: 235-244.
- Canman C. E., Lim D. S., Cimprich K. A., Taya Y., Tamai K., Sakaguchi K., Appella E., Kastan M. B., and Siliano J. D. (1998). Activation of the ATM kinase by ionizing radiation and phosphorylation of p53. *Science* 281: 1677-1679.
- Castellano M., Pollock P. M., Walters M. K., Sparrow L. E., Down L. M., Gabrielli B. G., Parsons P. G., and Hayward N. K. (1997). CDKN2A/p16 is inactivated in most melanoma cell lines. *Cancer Res.* 57: 4868-4875.
- Cavanaugh A. H., Hempel W. M., Taylor L. J., Rogalsky trong L. C., and White R. L. (1988). Expression of recessive alleles by choromosomal mechanisms in retinoblastoma. *Nature* **305**: 779-784.
- Cavanaugh A.H., Hempel W.M., Taylor L.J., Rogalsky V., Todorov G., and Rothblum L. I. (1995). Activity of RNA polymerase I transcription factor UBF blocked by Rb gene product. *Nature* **374**: 177-180.
- Cavenee W. K., Dryja T. P., Phillips R. A., benedict W. F., Godbout R., Gallie B. L., Murphree a. L., S1739-1749.
- Cayrol C., Knibiehler M., and Ducommun B. (1998). p21 binding to PCNA causes G1 and G2 cell cycle arrest in p53-deficient cells. *Oncogene* 16: 311-320.
- Chellappan S. P., Hiebert S., Mudryj M., Horowitz J. M., and Nevis J. R. (1991). The E2F transcription factor is the cellular target for the RB protein. *Cell* **65**: 1053-1061.
- Chen C., and Okayama H. (1987). High efficiency transformation of mammalian cells by plasmid DNA. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **7**: 2745-2752.
- Chen J., Jackson P. K., Kirschner M. W., and Dutta A. (1995). Separate domains of p21 involved in the inhibition of Cdk kinase and PCNA. *Nature* **374:** 386-388.
- Chin Y. E., Kitagawa M., Su W.-C. S., You Z.-H., Iwamoto Y., and Fu X.-Y. (1996). Cell growth arrest and induction of cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21WAF1/CIP1 mediated by STAT1. *Science* **272**: 719-722.
- Cho Y., Gorina S., Jeffrey P. D., and Pavletich N. P. (1994). Crystal structure of a p53 tumor suppressor-DNA complex: understanding tumorigenic mutations. *Science* **265**: 346-355.
- Chowdary D. R., Dermody J. J., Jha K. K., and Ozer H. L. (1994). Accumulation of p53 in a mutant cell line defective in the ubiquitin pathway. *Molec. Cell Biol.* **14**: 1997-2003.
- Clarke A., Maandag E., van Roon M., van der Lugt N., van der Valk M., Hooper M., Berns A., and te Riele H. (1992). Requirement for a functional Rb-1 gene in murine development. *Nature* 359: 328-330.
- Clarke A. R., Purdie C. A. H. D.J., Morris R. G., Bird C. C., Hooper M. L., and Wyllie A. H. (1993). Thymocyte apoptosis induced by p53-dependent and independent pathways. *Nature* **362**: 849-852.
- Clore G. M., Ernst J., Clubb R., Omichinski J. G., Kennedy W. M., Sakaguchi K., Appella E., and Gronenborn A. M. (1995a). Refined solution structure of the oligomerization domain of the tumour suppressor p53. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* 2: 321-333.
- Clore G. M., Omichinski J. G., Skaguchi K., Zambrano N., Sakamoto H., Appella E., and Gronenborn A. M. (1995b). Interhelical angles in the solution structure of the oligomerization domain of p53: correction. *Science* 267: 1515-1516.
- Cordon-Cardo C., Latres E., Drobnjak M., Oliva M. R., Pollack D., Woodruff J. M., Marechal V., Chen J., Brennan M. F., and Levine A. J. (1994). Molecular abnormalities of mdm2 and p53 genes in soft tissue sarcomas. *Cancer Res.* 54: 794-799.
- Cross S. M., Sanchez C. A., Morgan C. A., Schimke M. K., Ramel S., Idzerda R. L., Raskind W. H., and Reind B. J. (1995). A p53-dependent mouse spindle checkpoint. *Science* 267: 1353-1356.

- Cziepluch C., Wenzel A., Schurmann J., and Schwab M. (1993). Activation of gene transcription by the amino terminus of the N-Myc protein does not require association with the protein encoded by the retinoblastoma suppressor gene RB1. Oncogene 8: 2833-2838.
- Dameron K. M., Volpert O. V., Tainsky M. A., and Bouck N. (1994). Control of angiogenesis in fibroblasts by p53 regulation of thrombospondin-1. *Science* **265**: 1582-1584.
- Danielsen T., Hvidsten M., Stokke T., Solberg K., and Rofstad E. K. (1998). Hypoxia induces p53 accumulation in the S-phase and accumulation of hypophosphorylated retinoblastoma protein in all cell cycle phases of human melanoma cells. *Br. J. Cancer* **78**: 1547-1558.
- Datto M. B., Yu Y., and Wang X.-F. (1995). Functional analysis of the transforming growth factor beta responsive elements in the WAF1/Cip1/p21 promoter. *J. Biol. Chem.* **270**: 28623-28628.
- Debbas M., and White E. (1993). Wild-type p53 mediates apoptosis by E1A, which is inhibited by E1B. *Genes Dev.* **7:** 546-554.
- DeCaprio J. A., Ludlow J. W., Figge J., Shew J. Y., Huang C. M., Lee W. H., Marsilio E., Paucha E., and Livingston D. M. (1988). SV40 large T antigen forms a specific complex with the product of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene. *Cell* 54: 275-283.
- DeFrank J., Tang S. W., and Powell S. N. (1996). p53-null cells are more sensitive to ultraviolet light only in the presence of caffeine. *Cancer Res.* **56**: 5365-5368.
- DeGregori J., Leone G., Miron A., Jakoi L., and Nevins J. R. (1997). Distinct roles for E2F proteins in cell growth control and apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **94:** 7245-7250.
- Del Sal G., Ruaro E. M., Utrera R., Cole C. N., Levine A. J., and Schneider C. (1995). Gas1-induced growth suppression requires a transactivation-independent p53 function. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15: 152-160.
- Demers G. W., Foster S. A., Halbert C. L., and Galloway D. A. (1994). Growth arrest by induction of p53 in DNA damaged keratinocytes is bypassed by human papillomavirus 16 E7. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91:** 4381-4386.
- Deng C., Zhang P., Harper J. W., Elledge S. J., and Leder P. (1995). Mice lacking p21 CIP1/WAF1 undergo normal development, but are defective in G1 checkpoint control. *Cell* **82:** 675-684.
- DerKinderen D. J., Koten J. W., Nagelkerke N. J. D., Tan K. E., Beemer F. A., and Den Otter W. (1988). Non-ocular cancer in patients with herediatry retinoblastoma and their relatives. *Int. J. Cancer* **41**: 499-504.
- Di Leonardo A., Linke S. P., Clarkin K., and Wahl G. M. (1994). DNA damage triggers a prolonged p53dependent G1 growth arrest and long-term induction of Cip1 in normal human fibroblasts. *Genes Dev.* **8:** 2540-2551.
- Donehower L. A., Harvey B. L., Slagle B. L., McArthur M. J., Montgomery C. A., Butel J. S., and Bradley A. (1992). Mice deficient for p53 are developmentally normal but susceptible to spontaneous tumours. *Nature* 356: 215-221.
- Dulic V., Kaufmann W. K., Wilson S. J., Tlsty T. D., Lees E., Harper J. W., Elledge S. J., and Reed S. I. (1994). p53-dependent inhibition of cyclin-dependent kinase activities in human fibroblasts during radiation-induced G1 arrest. *Cell* **76**: 1013-1023.
- Dulic V., Stein G. H., Far D. F., and Reed S. I. (1998). Nuclear accumulation of p21Cip1 at the onset of mitosis: a role at the G2/M-phase transition. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **18:** 546-557.
- Dumaz N., Duthu A., Ehrhart J. C., Drougard C., Appella E., Anderson C. W., May P., Sarasin A., and Daya-Grosjean L. (1997). Prolonged p53 protein accumulation in trichothiodystrophy fibroblasts dependent on unrepaired pyrimidine dimers on the transcribed strands of cellular genes. *Mol. Carcinog.* 20: 340-347.
- Dumaz N., Drougard C., Quilliet X., Mezzina M., Sarasin A., and Daya-Grosjean L. (1998). Recovery of the normal p53 response after UV treatment in DNA repair-deficient fibroblasts by retroviralmediated correction with the XPD gene. *Carcinogenesis* 19: 1701-1704.
- Dutta A., Ruppert S. M., Aster J. C., and Winchester E. (1993). Inhibition of DNA replication factor RPA by p53. *Nature* **365**: 79-82.
- Duttaroy A., Qian J. F., Smith J. S., and Wang E. (1997). Up-regulated p21(CIP1) expression is part of the regulation quantitatively controlling serum deprivation-induced apoptosis. J. Cell Biochem. 64: 434-446.

- Dyson N., Howley P. M., Munger K., and Harlow E. (1989). The human papilloma virus-16 E7 oncoprotein is able to bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. *Science* **243**: 934-936.
- Dyson N. (1998). The regulation of E2F by pRB-family members. Genes Dev. 12: 2245-2262.
- El-Deiry W. S., Kern S. E., Pietenpol J. A., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1992). Definition of a consensus binding site for p53. *Nature Genet.* 1: 45-49.
- El-Deiry W. S., Tokino T., Velculescu V. E., Levy D. B., Parsons R., Trent J. M., Lin D., Mercer W. E., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1993). WAF1, a potential mediator of p53 tumor suppression. *Cell* 75: 817-825.
- El-Deiry W. S., Harper J. W., O'Connor P. M., Velculescu V. E., Canman C. E., Jackman J., Pietenpol J. A., Burrell M., Hill D. E., Wang Y., Wiman K. G., Mercer W. E., Kastan M. B., Kohn K. W., Elledge S. J., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1994). WAF1/CIP1 in induced in p53-mediated G1 arrest and apoptosis. *Cancer Res.* 54: 1169-1174.
- El-Deiry W. S., Tokino T., Waldman T., Oliner J. D., Velculescu V. E., Burrell M. ., Hill D. E., Hearly E., Rees J. L., Hamilton S. R., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1995). Topological control of p21WAF1/CIP1 expression in normal and neoplastic tissue. *Cancer Res.* 55: 2910-2919.
- Essner R., Kuo C. T., Wang H., Wen D. R., Turner R. R., Nguyen T., and Hoon D. S. (1998). Prognostic implications of p53 overexpression in cutaneous melanoma from sun-exposed and nonexposed sites. *Cancer* 82: 309-316.
- Fakharzadeh S. S., Trusko S. P., and George D. L. (1991). Tumorigenic potential associated with enhanced expession of a gene that is amplified in a mouse tumor cell line. *EMBO* **10**: 1565-1569.
- Fang X., Jin X., Xu H. J., Liu L., Peng H. Q., Hogg D., Roth J. A., Yu Y., Xu F., Bast R. C. j., and Mills G. B. (1998). Expression of p16 induces transcriptional downregulation of the RB gene. *Oncogene* 16: 1-8.
- Finlay C. A., Hinds P. W., and Levine A. J. (1989). The p53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation. *Cell* **57**: 1083-1093.
- FitzGerald M. G., Harkin D. P., Silva-Arrieta S., MacDonald D. J., Lucchina L. C., Unsal H., O'Neill E., Koh J., Finkelstein D. M., and Isselbacher K. J. (1996). Prevalence of germ-line mutations in p16, p19ARF, and CDK4 in familial melanoma: analysis of a clinic-based population. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93: 8541-8545.
- Florenes V. A., Maelandsmo G. M., Forus A., Andreassen A., Myklebost O., and Fodstad O. (1994a). MDM2 gene amplification and transcript level in hiuman sarcomas: relatioship to TP53 gene status. *The Journal of National Cancer Institute* 86: 1297-1302.
- Florenes V. A., Iyjord T., Holm R., Skrede M., Boerresen A. L., Nesland J. M., and Foestad I. (1994b). TP53 allele loss, mutations and expression in malignant melanoma. *Br. J. Cancer* **69**: 253-259.
- Florenes V. A., Holm R., and Foested I. (1995). Accumulation of p53 protein in human malignant melanoma. Relationship to clinical outcome. *Melanoma Res.* **5:** 183-187.
- Flores-Rozas H., Kelman Z., Dean F. B., Pan Z. Q., Harper J. W., Elledge S. J., O'Donnell M., and Hurwitz J. (1994). Cdk-interacting protein 1 directly binds with proliferating cell nuclear antigen and inhibits DNA replication catalyzed by the DNA polymerase delta holoenzyme. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* USA 91: 8655-8659.
- Ford J. M., and Hanawalt P. C. (1995). Li-Fraumeni syndrome fibroblasts honozygous for p53 mutations are deficient in global DNA repair but exhibit normal transcription-coupled repair and enhanced UV resistance. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 8876-8880.
- Ford J. M., and Hanawalt P. C. (1997). Expression of wild-type p53 is required for efficient global genomic nucleotide excision repair in UV-irradiated human fibroblasts. *J. Biol. Chem.* **272**: 28073-28080.
- Fornace A. J. Jr., Alamo, I., and Hollander M.C. (1988). DNA damage-inducible transcripts in mammalian cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85: 8800-8804.
- Fornace A. J. Jr., Nebert D. W., Hollander M. C., Luethy J. D., Papathanasiou M., Fargoli J., and Holbrook N. J. (1989). Mammalian genes coordinately regulated by growth arrest signals and DNAdamaging agents. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 9: 4196-4203.

- Friend S. H., Bernards R., Rogelj S., Weinberg R. A., Rapaprt J. M., Albert D. M., and Dryja T. P. (1986). A human DNA segment with properties of the gene that predisposes to retinoblastoma and osteosarcoma. *Nature* **323**: 643-646.
- Fuchs E. J., McKenna K. A., and Bedi A. (1997). p53-dependent DNA damage-induced apoptosis requires Fas/APO-1-independent activation of CPP32beta. *Cancer Res.* 57: 2550-2554.
- Gartel A. L., and Tyner A. L. (1999). Transcriptional regulation of the p21(WAF1/CIP1) gene. *Exp. Cell Res.* 246: 280-289.
- Goga A., Liu X., Hambuch T. M., Senechal K., Major E., Berk A. J., Witte O., and Sawyers C. L. (1995). p53-dependent growth suppression by the c-Abl nuclear tyrosine kinase. *Oncogene* **11**: 791-799.
- Gorman C.M., Moffat L.F., and Howard B.H. (1982). Recombinant genomes which express chloramphenicol acetyltransferase in mammalian cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 2: 1044-1051.
- Gorospe M., Cirielli C., Wang X., Seth P., Capogrossi M., and Holbrook N. (1997). p21 (WAF1/CIP1) protects against p53-mediated apoptosis of human melanoma cells. *Oncogene* **14**: 929-935.
- Gorospe M., Wang X., and Holbrook N. J. (1998). p53-dependent elevation of p21Waf1 expression by UV light is mediated through mRNA stabilization and involves a vanadate-sensitive regulatory system. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **18**: 1400-1407.
- Graeber T. G., Peterson J. F., Tsai M., Monica K., Fornace A. J. J., and Giaccia A. J. (1994). Hypoxia induces accumulation of p53 protein, but activation of a G1-phase checkpoint by low-oxygen conditions is independent of p53 status. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14: 6264-6277.
- Graeber T. G., Osmanian C., Jacks T., Housman D. E., Koch C. J., Lowe S. W., and Giaccia A. J. (1996). Hypoxia-mediated selection of cells with diminished apoptotic potential in solid tumors. *Nature* 379: 88-91.
- Grana X., and Reddy E.P. (1995). Cell cycle control in mammalian cells. Role of cyclins, cyclin dependent kinases (CDKs), growth suppressor genes and cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitors. *Oncogene* **11**: 211-219.
- Grossman S. R., Perez M., Kung A. L., Joseph M., Mansur C., Xiao Z. X., Kumar S., Howley P. M., and Livingston D. M. (1998). p300/MDM2 complexes participate in MDM2-mediated p53 degradation. *Molecular Cell* 2: 405-415.
- Gruis N. A., van der Velden S. L.A., Prins D. E., Weaver-Feldhouse J., Kamb A., Bergman W., and Frants R. (1995). Homozygotes for CDKN2(p16) germline mutation in Dutch familial melanoma kindreds. *Nature Genet.* 10: 351-353.
- Gu W., and Roeder R. G. (1997). Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by acetylation of the p53 C-terminal domain. *Cell* **90:** 595-606.
- Gudas J., Nguyen H., LI T., Hill D., and Cowan K. H. (1995). Effects of cell cycle, wild type p53 and DNA damage on p21 CIP1/Waf1 expression in human breast epithelial cells. *Oncogene* **11**: 253-261.
- Gurley K. E., and Kemp C. J. (1996). p53 induction, cell cycle checkpoints, and apoptosis in DNAPKdeficient scid mice. *Carcinogenesis* 17: 2537-2542.
- Haas-Kogan D. A., Kogan S. C., Levi D., Dazin P., TAng A., Fung Y.-K. T., and Israel M. A. (1995). Inhibition of apoptosis by the retinoblastoma gene product. *EMBO* 14: 461-472.
- Hainaut P., and Milner J. (1993). Redox modulation of p53 conformation and sequence-specific DNA binding in vitro. *Cancer Res.* 53: 4469-4473.
- Halazonetis T. D., Davis L. J., and Kandil A. N. (1993). Wild-type p53 adopts a "mutant"-like conformation when bound to DNA. *EMBO* **12:** 1021-1028.
- Haldar S., Negrini M., Monne M., Sabbioni S., and Croce C. M. (1994). Down-regulation of bcl-2 by p53 in breast cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* **54**: 2095-2097.
- Halevy O., Novitch B. G., Spicer D. B., Skapek S. X., Rhee J., Hannon G. J., Beach D., and Lassar A. B. (1995). Correlation of terminal cell cycle arrest of skeletal muscle with induction of p21 by MyoD. *Science* 267: 1018-1021.
- Hall P. A., Kearsey J. M., Coates P. J., Norman D. G., Warbrick E., and Cox L. S. (1995). Characterization of the interaction between PCNA and Gadd45. *Oncogene* **10**: 2427-2433.

- Hamel P. A., Gill R. M., Philips R. A., and Gallie B. L. (1992). Transcriptional repression of the E2containing promoters EIIaE, c-myc, and RB1 by the product of RB1 gene. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 12: 3431-3438.
- Harbour J. W., Lai S. L., Whang-Peng J., Gazdar A. F., Minna J. D., and Kaye F. J. (1988). Abnormalities in structure and expression of the human retinoblastoma gene in SCLC. *Science* 241: 353-357.
- Harper J. W., Adami G. R., Wei N., Keyomarsi K., and Elledge S. J. (1993). The p21 Cdk-interacting protein Cip1 is a potent inhibitor of G1 cyclin-dependent kinases. *Cell* **75**: 805-816.
- Harper J. W., Elledge S. J., Keyomarsi K., Dynlacht B., Tsai L., Zhang P., Dobtolowski S., Bai C., Connell-Crowley L., Swindell E., Fox M. P., and Wei N. (1995). Inhibition of cyclin dependent kinases by p21. *Mol. Biol. Cell* 6: 387-400.
- Harrington E. A., Bruce J. L., Harlow E., and Dyson N. (1998). pRB plays an essential role in cell cycle arrest induced by DNA damage. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **95**: 11945-11950.
- Hartmann A., Blaszyk H., Cunningham J. S., McGovern R. M., Schroeder J. S., Helander S. D., Pittelkow M. R., Sommer S. S., and Kovach J. S. (1996). Overexpression and mutations in metastatic malignant melanomas. *Int. J. Cancer* 67: 253-259.
- Harvey M., McArthur M. J., Montgomery C. A. Jr., Bradley A., and Donehower L. A. (1993a). Genetic backround alters the spectrum of tumors that develop in p53-deficient mice. *FASEB J.* **7**: 938-943.
- Harvey M., McArthur M. J., Montgomery C. A. Jr., Butel J. S., Bradley A., and Donehower L. A. (1993b). Spontaneous and carsinogen-induced tumorigenesis in p53-deficient mice. *Nature Genet.* **5**: 225-229.
- Harvey M., Sands A. T., Weiss R. S., Hegi M. E., Wiseman R. W., Pantazis P., Giovanella B. C., Tainsky M. A., Bradley A., and Donehower L. A. (1993c). In vitro growth characteristics of embryo fibroblasts from p53-deficient mice. *Oncogene* 8: 2457-2467.
- Harvey M., Vogel H., Morris D., Bradley A., Bernstein A., and Donehower L. A. (1995). A mutant p53 transgene accelerates tumour development in heterozygous but not nullizygous p53-deficient mice. *Nature Genet.* 9: 305-311.
- Haupt Y., Rowan S., and Oren M. (1995). p53-mediated apoptosis in HeLa cells can be overcome by excess pRB. *Oncogene* **10**: 1563-1571.
- Haupt Y., Barak Y., and Oren M. (1996). Cell type specific inhibition of p53-mediated apoptosis by mdm2. *EMBO* **15**: 1596-1606.
- Haupt Y., Maya R., Kazaz A., and Oren M. (1997). Mdm2 promotes rapid degradation of p53. *Nature* **387:** 296-299.
- Healy E., Belgaid C., Takata M., Harrison D., Zhu N. W., Burd D. A., Rigby H. S., Matthews J. N., and Rees J. L. (1998). Prognostic significance of allelic losses in primary melanoma. *Oncogene* 16: 2213-2218.
- Herrera R. E., Sah V. P., Williams B. O., Mäkelä T. P., Weinberg R. A., and Jacks T. (1996). Altered cell cycle kinetics, gene expression, and G1 restriction point regulation in Rb-deficient fibroblasts. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 16: 2402-2407.
- Herrmann C. P., Kraiss S., and Montenarh M. (1991). Association of casein kinase II with immunopurified p53. Oncogene 6: 877-884.
- Hinds P. W., Mittnacht S., Dulic V., Arnold A., Reed S. I., and Weinberg R. A. (1992). Regulation of retinoblastoma protein functions by ectopic expression of human cyclins. *Cell* **70**: 993-1006.
- Holland E. A., Beaton S. C., Becker T. M., Grulet O. M. C., Peters B. A., Rizos H., Kefford R. F., and Mann G. J. (1995). Analysis of the p16 gene, CDKN2, in 17 Australian melanoma kindreds. *Oncogene* 11: 2289-2294.
- Hollander M. C., Alamo I., Jackman J., Wang M. G., McBride O. W., and Fornace A. J. Jr. (1993). Analysis of the mammalian gadd45 gene and its response to DNA damage. *J. Biol. Chem.* **268**: 24385-24393.
- Hollstein M., Sidransky D., Vogelstein B., and Harris C. C. (1991). p53 mutations in human cancers. *Science* 253: 49-53.

- Hollstein M., Rice K., Greenblatt M. S., Soussi T., Fuchs R., Sorlie T., Hovig E., Smith-Sorensen B., Montesano R., and Harris C. C. (1994). Database of p53 gene somatic mutations in human tumors and cell lines. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 22: 3551-3555.
- Honda R., Tanaka H., and Yasuda H. (1997). Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. FEBS Lett. 420: 25-27.
- Honda R., and Yasuda H. (1999). Association of p19ARF with the Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. *EMBO* 18: 22-27.
- Horikoshi N., Usheva A., Chen J., Levine A. J., Weinmann R., and Shenk T. (1995). Two domains of p53 interact with the TATA-binding protein, and the adenovirus 13S E1A protein disrupts the association, relieving p53-mediated transcriptional repression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15: 227-234.
- Horowitz J. M., Park S. H., Bogenmann E., Cheng J. C., Yandell D. W., Kaye F. J., Minna J. D., Dryja T. P., and Weinberg R. A. (1990). Frequent inactivation of the retinoblastoma anti-oncogene is restricted to a subset of human tumor cells. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 87: 2775-2779.
- Howes K. A., Ransom N., Papermaster D. S., Lasudry J. G., Albert D. M., and Windle J. J. (1994). Apoptosis or retinoblastoma: alternative fates of photoreceptors expressing the HPV-16 E7 gene in the presence or absence of p53. *Genes Dev.* **8**: 1300-1310.
- Hsiao M., Low J., Dorn E., Ku D., Pettengale P., Yeargin J., and Haas M. (1994). Gain-of-function mutations of the p53 gene induce lymphohematopoietic metastatic potential and tissue invasiveness. *Am. J. Pathol.* 145: 702-714.
- Hu N., Gutsman A., Herbert d. C., Bradley A., Lee W. H., and Lee E. Y. (1994). Heteroxygous Rb-1 delta 20/+ mice are predisposed to tumors of the pituitary gland with a nearly complete penetrance. *Oncogene* 9: 1021-1027.
- Hupp T. R., Meek D. W., Midgley C., and Lane D. P. (1992). Regulation of the specific DNA binding function of p53. *Cell* 71: 875-886.
- Hupp T. R., Meek D. W., Midgley C. A., and Lane D. P. (1993). Activation of the cryptic DNA binding function of mutant forms of p53. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21: 3167-3174.
- Hupp T. R., Sparks A., and Lane D. P. (1995). Small peptides activate the latent sequence-specific DNA binding function of p53. *Cell* 83: 237-249.
- Hussussian C. J., Struewing J. P., Goldstein A. M., Higgins P. A. T., Ally D. S., Sheahan M. D., Clark W. H. Jr., Tucker M. A., and Dracopoli N. C. (1994). Germline p16 mutations in familial melanoma. *Nature Genet.* 8: 15-21.
- Ishizaki K., Ejima Y., Matsunaga T., Hara R., Sakamoto A., Ikenaga Y., and Aizawa S. (1994). Increased UV-induced SCEs but normal repair of DNA damage in p53-deficient mouse cells. *Int. J. Cancer* 58: 254-257.
- Iwabuchi K., Li B., Massa H. F., Trask B. J., Date T., and Fields S. (1998). The Journal Biological Chemistry. *The Journal Biological Chemistry* 273: 26061-26068.
- Jacks T., Fazeli A., Schmitt E., Bronson R., Goodell M., and Weinberg R. (1992). Effects of Rb mutation in the mouse. *Nature* **359**: 295-300.
- Jayamaran L., and Prives C. (1995). Activation of p53 sequence-specific DNA binding by short single strands of DNA requires the p53 C-terminus. *Cell* **81**: 1021-1029.
- Jiang H., Lin J., Su Z.-Z., Collart F. R., Huberman E., and Fisher P. B. (1994). Induction of differentiation in human promyelocytic HL-60 leukemia cells activates p21, WAF1/CP1, expression in the absence of p53. Oncogene 9: 3397-3406.
- Johnson D. G., Schwarz J. K., Cress W. D., and Nevins J. R. (1993). Expression of transcription factor E2F1 induces quiescent cells to enter S phase. *Nature* 365: 349-352.
- Johnson D. G., Cress W. D., Jakoi L., and Nevins J. R. (1994). Oncogenic capacity of the E2F1 gene. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91: 12823-12827.
- Jones S. N., Roc A. E., Donehower L. A., and Bradley A. (1995). Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. *Nature* 378: 206-208.
- Jost C.A., Marin M.C., and Kaelin W.G. Jr. (1997). p73 is a human p53-related protein that can induce apoptosis. *Nature* **389**: 191-194.

- Juven T., Barak Y., Zauberman A., George D. L., and Oren M. (1993). Wild type p53 can mediate sequence-specific transactivation of an internal promoter within mdm2 gene. Oncogene 8: 3411-3416.
- Kaghad M., Bonnet H., yang A., Creancier L., Biscan J.C., valent A., Minty A., Chalon P., Lelias J.M., dumont X., Ferrara P., McKeon F., and Caput D. (1997). Monoallelically expressed gene related to p53 at 1p36, a region frequently deleted in neuroblastomas and other human cancers. *Cell* 90: 809-819.
- Kamb A. (1995). Cell-cycle regulators and cancer. Trends Gen. 11: 136-140.
- Kamijo T., Zindy F., Roussel M. F., Quelle D. E., Downing J. R., Ashmun R. A., Grosveld G., and Sherr C. J. (1997). Tumor suppression at the mouse INK4a locus mediated by the alternative reading frame product p19ARF. *Cell* **91**: 649-659.
- Kamijo T., Weber J. D., Zambetti G., Zindy F., Roussel M. F., and Sherr C. J. (1998). Functional and physical interactions of the ARF tumor suppressor with p53 and Mdm2. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95: 8292-8297.
- Kapoor M., and Lozano G. (1998). Functional activation of p53 via phosphorylation following DNA damage by UV but not gamma radiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95: 2834-2837.
- Kastan M. B., Onyekwere O., Sidransky D., Vogelstein B., and Craig R. W. (1991). Participation of p53 protein in the cellular response to DNA damage. *Cancer Res.* **51**: 6304-6311.
- Kastan M. B., Zhan Q., El-Deiry W. S., Carrier F., Jacks T., Walsh W. V., Plunkett B. S., Vogelstein B., and Fornace A. J. J. (1992). A mammalian cell cycle checkpoint pathway utilizing p53 and GADD45 is defective in ataxia-telangiectasia. *Cell* **71**: 587-597.
- Kaufmann W. K. (1989). Pathways of human cell post-replication repair. Carcinogenesis 10: 1-11.
- Kearsey J. M., Coates P. J., Prescott A. R., Warbrick E., and Hall P. A. (1995). Gadd45 is a nuclear cell cycle regulated protein which interacts with p21Cip1. *Oncogene* **11**: 1675-1683.
- Kelley L. L., Green W. F., Hicks G. G., Bondurant M. C., Koury M. J., and Ruley H. E. (1994). Apoptosis in erythroid progenitors deprived of erythropoietin occurs during the G1 and S phases of the cell cycle without growth arrest or stabilization of wild-type p53. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14: 4183-4192.
- Kelman Z., Prokocimer M., Peller S., Kahn Y., Rechavi G., Manor Y., Cohen A., and Rotter V. (1989). Rearrangements in the p53 gene in Philadelphia chromosome positive chronic meylogenous leukemia. *Blood* 74: 2318-2324.
- Kelman Z. (1997). PCNA: Structure, functions and interactions. Oncogene 14: 629-640.
- Kern S.E., Pietenpol J.A., Thiagalingam S., Seymor A., Kinzler K., and Vogelstein B. (1992). Oncogenic forms of p53 inhibit p53-regulated gene expression. *Science* 256: 827-830.
- Khanna K. K., and Lavin M. F. (1993). Ionizing radiation and UV induction of p53 protein by different pathways in ataxia-telangiectasia cells. *Oncogene* 8: 3307-3312.
- Kieser A., Weich H. A., Brandner G., Marme D., and Kolch W. (1994). Mutant p53 potentiates protein kinase C induction of vascular endothelial growth factor expression. *Oncogene* **9:** 963-969.
- Kivinen L., Tsubari M., Pitkänen K., and Laiho M. (1999). Ras induces p21Cip1/Waf1 cyclin kinase inhibitor transcriptionally through Sp1-binding sites. *Oncogene* in press.
- Knudsen E. S., and Wang J. Y. J. (1996). Differential regulation of retinoblastoma protein function by specific Cdk phosphorylation sites. J. Biol. Chem. 271: 8313-8320.
- Knudson C. M., Tung K. S., Tourtellotte W. G., Brown G. A., and Korsmeyer S. J. (1995). Bax-deficient mice with lymphoid hyperplasia and male germ cell death. *Science* 270: 96-99.
- Konze-Thomas B., Hazard R. M., Maher V. M., and McCormick J. J. (1982). Extent of excision repair before DNA synthesis determines the mutagenic but not the lethal effect of UV radiation. *Mutat. Res.* 94: 421-434.
- Korabiowska M., Betke H., Kellner S., Stachura J., and Schauer A. (1997). Differential expression of growth arrest, DNA damage genes and tumour suppressor gene p53 in naevi and malignant melanoma. *Anticancer Res.* **17:** 3697-3700.
- Kramer D. L., Vujcic S., Diegelman P., Alderfer J., Miller J. T., Black J. D., Bergeron R. J., and Porter C. W. (1999). Polyamine analogue induction of the p53-21WAF/CIP1-Rb pathway and G1 arrest in human melanoma cells. *Cancer Res.* 59: 1278-1286.

- Kubbutat M. H. G., and Vousden K. H. (1997). Proteolytic cleavage of human p53 by calpain: a potential regulator of protein stability. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17: 460-468.
- Kubbutat M. H. G., Jones S. N., and Vousden K. (1997). Regulation of p53 stbility by Mdm2. *Nature* **387:** 299-303.
- Kuerbitz S. J., Plunkett B. S., Walsh W. V., and Kastan M. B. (1992). Wild-type p53 is a cell cycle checkpoint determinant following irradiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **89**: 7491-7495.
- LaBaer J., Garrett M. D., Stevenson L. F., Slingerland J. M., Sandhu C., Chou H. S., Fattaey A., and Harlow E. (1997). New functional activities for the p21 family of CDK inhibitors. *Genes Dev.* **11**: 847-862.
- Landers J. E., Haines D. S., Strauss J. F. 3., and George D. L. (1994). Enhanced translation: a novel mechanism of mdm2 oncogene overexpression identified in human tumor cells. *Oncogene* 9: 2745-2750.
- Landers J. E., Cassel S. L., and George D. L. (1997). Translational enhancement of mdm2 oncogene expression in human tumor cells containing the stabilized wild-type p53 protein. *Cancer Res.* 57: 3562-3568.
- Lane D. P., and Crawford L. V. (1979). T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40-transformed cells. *Nature* **278**: 261-263.
- Lassam N. J., From L., and Kahn H. J. (1993). Overexpression of p53 is a late event in the development of malignant melanoma. *Cancer Res.* **53**: 2235-2238.
- Leach F. S., Tokono T., Meltzer P., Burrell M., Oliner J. D., Smith S., Hill D. E., Sidransky D., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1993). p53 mutation and MDM2 amplification in human soft tissue sarcomas. *Cancer Res.* 53: 2231-2234.
- Lee E. Y., To H., Shew J. Y., Bookstein R., Scully P., and Lee W. H. (1988). Inactivation of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene in human breast cancers. *Science* 241: 218-221.
- Lee E. Y., Chang C. Y., Hu N., Wang Y. C., Lai C. C., Herrup K., Lee W. H., and Bradley A. (1992). Mice deficient for Rb are nonviable and show defects in neurogenesis and hematopoiesis. *Nature* **359**: 288-294.
- Lee M.-H., Williams B. H., Mulligan G., Mukai S., Bronson R. T., Dyson N., and Helin K. (1996). Targeted disruption of p107: Functional overlap between p107 and Rb. *Genes Dev.* **10**: 1621-1632.
- Lee S., Elenbaas B., Levine A., and Griffith J. (1995). p53 and its 14 kDa C-terminal domain recognize primary DNA damage in the form of insertion/deletion mismatches. *Cell* **81:** 1013-1020.
- Lee W., Harvey T. S., Yin Y., Yau P., Litchfield D., and Arrowsmith C. H. (1994). Solution structure of the tetrameric minimum transforming domain of p53. *Nat. Struct. Biol.* **1:** 877-890.
- Lehmann A. R., and Carr A. M. (1994). DNA damage, repair and the cell cycle. *Trends Cell. Biol.* **4:** 24-26.
- Leveillard T., Andera L., Bissonnette N., Schaeffer L., Bracco L., Egly J.-M., and Wasylyk B. (1996). Functional interactions between p53 and TFIIH complex are affected by tumour-associated mutations. *EMBO* **15**: 1615-1624.
- Levy N., Yonish-Rouach E., Oren M., and Kimchi A. (1993). Complementation by wild-type p53 of interleukin-6 effects on M1 cells - induction of cell cycle exit and cooperativity with c-myc suppression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 13: 7942-7952.
- Li J.-M., Datto M. B., Shen X., Hu P. P.-C., Yu Y., and Wang X.-F. (1998). Sp1, but not Sp3, functions to mediate promoter activation by TGF-beta through canonical Sp1 binding sites. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 26: 2449-2456.
- Li R., Waga S., Hannon G., Beach D., and Stillman B. (1994). Differential effects by the p21 CDK inhibitor on PCNA-dependent DNA replication and repair. *Nature* **371:** 539-542.
- Li R., Hannon G. J., Beach D., and Stillman B. (1996). Subcellular distribution of p21 and PCNA in normal and repair deficient cells following DNA damage. *Curr. Biol.* **6**: 189-199.
- Li Y., Nichols M. A., Shay J. W., and Xiong Y. (1994). Transcriptional repression of the D-type cyclindependent kinase inhibitor p16 by the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product pRb. *Cancer Res.* 54: 6078-6082.

- Lianes P., Orlow I., Zhang Z.-F., Oliva M. R., Sarkis A. S., Reuter V. E., and Cordon-Cardo C. (1994). Altered patterns of MDM2 and TP53 expression in human bladder cancer. J. Natl. Cancer Inst. 86: 1325-1330.
- Lin J., Chen J., Elenbaas B., and Levine A. J. (1994). Several hydrophobic amino acids in the p53 aminoterminal domain are required for transcriptional activation, binding to mdm-2 and the adenovirus 5 E1B 55-kD protein. *Genes Dev.* 8: 1235-1246.
- Linke S. P., Clarkin K. C., Di Leonardo A., Tsou A., and Wahl G. M. (1996). A reversible, p53dependent G0/G1 cell cycle arrest induced by ribonucleotide depletion in the absence of detectable DNA damage. *Genes Dev.* **10**: 934-947.
- Linzer D. I. H., and Levine A. J. (1979). Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40 transformed cells and uninfected embryonal fibroblasts. *Cell* **17**: 43-52.
- Liu M., and Pelling J. C. (1995). UV-B/A irradiation of mouse keratinocytes results in p53-mediated WAF1/CIP1 expression. *Oncogene* **10**: 1955-1960.
- Liu M., Lee M. H., Cohen M., Bommakanti M., and Freedman L. P. (1996). Transcriptional activation of the Cdk inhibitor p21 by vitamin D3 leads to the induced differentiation of the myelomonocytic cell line U937. *Genes Dev.* 10: 142-153.
- Lloyd A. C., Obermüller F., Staddon S., Barth C. F., McMahon M., and Land H. (1997). Cooperating oncogenes converge to regulate cyclin/cdk complexes. *Genes Dev.* 11: 663-677.
- Loignon M., Fetni R., Gordon A. J., and Drobetsky E. A. (1997). A p53-independent pathway for induction of p21waf1cip1 and concomitant G1 arrest in UV-irradiated skin fibroblasts. *Cancer Res.* 57: 3390-3394.
- Lowe S. W., and Ruley H. E. (1993). Stabilization of the p53 tumor suppressor is induced by adenovirus 5 E1A and accompanies apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* **7:** 535-545.
- Lowe S. W., Ruley H. E., Jacks T., and Housman D. E. (1993a). p53-dependent apoptosis modulates the cytotoxicity of anticancer agents. *Cell* **74**: 957-967.
- Lowe S. W., Schmitt E. M., Smith S. W., and Osborne B. A. J. T. (1993b). p53 is required for radiationinduced apoptosis in mouse thymocytes. *Nature* 362: 847-849.
- Lu H., and Levine A. J. (1995). Human TAF31 protein is a transcriptional activator of the p53 protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 5154-5158.
- Lu H., Taya Y., Ikeda M., and Levine A. J. (1998). Ultraviolet radiation, but not gamma radiation or etoposide-induced DNA damage, results in the phosphorylation of the murine p53 protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95: 6399-6402.
- Lu X., and Lane D. P. (1993). Differential induction of transcriptionally active p53 following UV or ionozing radiation: defects in chromosome instability syndromes? *Cell* **75**: 765-778.
- Lu X., Burbidge S. A., Griffin S., and Smith H. M. (1996). Discordance between accumulated p53 protein level and its transcriptional activity in response to u.v. radiation. *Oncogene* **13**: 413-418.
- Ludlow J. W., Shon J., Pipas J. M., Livingston D. M., and DeCaprio J. A. (1990). The retinoblastoma susceptibility gene product undergoes cell cycle-dependent dephosphorylation and binding to and release from SV40 large T. *Cell* **60**: 387-396.
- Lukas J., Parry D., Aagaard L., Mann D. J., Bartkova J., Strauss M., Peters G., and Bartek J. (1995). Retinoblastoma-protein-dependent cell-cycle inhibition by the tumor suppressor p16. *Nature* **375**: 503-506.
- Lundgren K., Montes de Oca Luna R., McNeill Y. B., Emerick E. P., Spencer B., Barfield C. R., Lozano G., Rosenberg M. P., and Finlay C. A. (1997). Targeted expression of MDM2 uncouples S phase from mitosis and inhibits mammary gland development independent of p53. *Genes Dev.* 11: 714-725.
- Luo Y., Hurwitz J., and Massague J. (1995). Cell-cycle inhibition by independent CDK and PCNA binding domains in p21Cip1. *Nature* **375**: 159-161.
- Lutzker S., and Levine A. J. (1996). A functionally inactive p53 protein in embryonal carcinoma cells is activated by DNA damage or cellular differentiation. *Nature Med.* **2:** 804-810.
- Mack D. H., Vartikar J., Pipas J. M., and Laimins L. A. (1993). Specific repression of TATA-mediated but not initiator-mediated transcription by wild-type p53. *Nature* **363**: 281-283.

- Macleod K. F., Sherry N., Hannon G., Beach D., Tokino T., Kinzler K., Vogelstein B., and Jacks T. (1995). p53-dependent and independent expression of p21 during cell growth, differentiation, and DNA damage. *Genes Dev.* 9: 935-944.
- Macleod K. (1999). pRb and E2F-1 in mouse development and tumorigenesis. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Dev.* **9**: 31-39.
- Maelandsmo G. M., Holm R., Foestad O., Kerbel R. S., and Florenes V. A. (1996). Cyclin kinase inhibitor p21WAF1/CIP1 in malignant melanoma: reduced expression in metastic lesions. *Am. J. Pathol.* **149:** 1813-1822.
- Maestro R., Gloghini A., Doglioni C., Piccinin S., Vukosavljevic T., Gasparotto D., Carbone A., and Boiocchi M. (1997). Human non-Hodgkin's lymphomas overexpress a wild-type form of p53 which is a functional transcriptional activator of the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21. *Blood* **89**: 2523-2528.
- Maki C. G., Huibregtse J. M., and Howley P. M. (1996). In vivo ubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation of p53. *Cancer Res.* 56: 2649-2654.
- Malkin D. (1993). p53 and the Li-Fraumeni syndrome. Cancer Genet. Cytogenet. 66: 83-92.
- Maltzman W., and Czyzyk L. (1984). UV irradiation stimulate levels of p53 cellular tumor antigen in nontransformed mouse cells. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **4**: 1689-1694.
- Mao L., Merlo A., bedi G., Shapiro G. I., Edwards C. D., Rollin B. J., and Sidransky D. (1995). A novel p16/INK4a transcript. *Cancer Res.* 55: 2995-2997.
- Martin K., Trouche D., Hagemeier C., Sorensen T. S., La Thangue N. B., and Kouzarides T. (1995). Stimulation of E2F1/DP1 transcriptional activity by MDM2 oncoprotein. *Nature* **375**: 691-694.
- Matsumura I., Ishikawa J., Nakajima K., Oritani K., Tomiyama Y., Miyagawa J.-I., Kato T., Miyazaki H., Matsuzawa Y., and Kanakura Y. (1997). Thrombopoietin-induced differentiation of a human megakaryoblastic leukemia cell line, CMK, involves transcriptional activation of p21WAF1/Cip1 by STAT5. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17: 2933-2943.
- McGregor J. M., Yu C. C., Dublin E. A., Barnes D. M., Levison D. A., and MacDonald D. M. (1993). p53 immunoreactivity in human malignant melanoma and dysplastic nevi. *Br. J. Dermatol.* 128: 606-611.
- Medrano E. E., Im S., Yang F., and Abdel-Malek Z. A. (1995). Ultraviolet B light induces G1 arrest in human melanocytes by prolonged inhibition of retinoblastoma protein phosphorylation associated with long-term expression of the p21Waf-1/SDI-1/Cip-1 protein. *Cancer Res.* **55**: 4047-4052.
- Mellon I., Spivak G., and Hanawalt P. (1987). Selective removal of transcription-blocking DNA damage from the transcrobed strand of the mammalian DHFR gene. *Cell* **51**: 241-249.
- Merryman J. I. (1999). Effects of ultraviolet C radiation on cellular proliferation in p53-/- keratinocytes. *J. Environ. Pathol. Toxicol. Oncol.* **18:** 1-9.
- Michalowitz D., Halevy O., and Oren M. (1990). Conditional inhibition of transformation and of cell proliferation by a temperature-sensitive mutant of p53. *Cell* **62**: 671-680.
- Midgley C. A., Owens B., Briscoe C. V., Brynmor T., and Lane D. P. (1995). Coupling between gamma irradiation, p53 induction and the apoptotic response depends on cell type in vivo. J. Cell Sci. 108: 1843-1848.
- Mitchell D. L., Jen J., and Cleaver J. E. (1989). The biology of the (6-4)photoproduct. *Photochem. Photobiol.* **49:** 805-819.
- Mitchell D.L., Jen J., and Cleaver J.E. (1992). Sequence specificity of cyclobutane pyrimidine dimers in DNA treated with solar (ultraviolet B) radiation. *Nucleic Acids Res.* **20**: 225-229.
- Miyashita T., Krajewski S., Krajewska M., Wang H. G., Lin H. K., Liebermann D. A., Hoffman B., and Reed J. C. (1994). Tumor suppressor p53 is a regulator of bcl-2 and bax gene expression in vitro and in vivo. *Oncogene* 9: 1799-1805.
- Miyashita T., and Reed J. C. (1995). Tumor suppressor p53 is a transcriptional inducer of the human bax gene. *Cell* **80:** 293-299.

- Moll U., LaQuaglia M., Benard J., and Riou G. (1995). Wild-type p53 protein undergoes cytoplasmic sequesteration in undifferentiated neuroblastomas but not in differentiated tumors. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 4407-4411.
- Momand J., Zambetti G. P., Olson D. C., George D., and Levine A. J. (1992). The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. *Cell* **69**: 1237-1245.
- Momand J., and Zambetti G. P. (1997). Mdm-2: "big brother" of p53. J. Cell Biochem. 64: 343-352.
- Montano X., Shamsher M., Whitehead P., Dawson K., and Newton J. (1994). Analysis of p53 in human cutaneus melanoma cell lines. *Oncogene* **9:** 1455-1459.
- Montes de Oca Luna R., Wagner D. S., and Lozano G. (1995). Rescue of early embryonic lethality in mdm2-deficient mice by deletion of p53. *Nature* **378**: 203-206.
- Morris G. F., Bischoff J. R., and Mathews M. B. (1996). Transcriptional activation of the human proliferating-cell nuclear antigen promoter by p53. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **93**: 895-899.
- Mosner J., Mummenbrauer T., Bauer C., Sczakiel G., Grosse F., and Deppert W. (1995). Negative feedback regulation of wild-type p53 biosynthesis. *EMBO* **14**: 4442-4449.
- Moustakas A., and Kardassis D. (1998). Regulation of the human p21/WAF1/Cip1 promoter in hepatic cells by functional inreactions between Sp1 and Smad family members. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 95: 6733-6738.
- Mummenbrauer T., Janus F., Muller B., Wiesmuller L., Deppert W., and Grosse F. (1996). p53 protein exhibits 3'-to-5'exonuclease activity. *Cell* 85: 1089-1099.
- Nakazava H., English D., Randell P. L., Nakazava K., Martel N., Armstrong B. K., and Yamasaki H. (1994). UV and skin cancer: specific p53 gene mutation in normal skin as a biologically relevant exposure measurement. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91: 360-364.
- Nelson W. G., and Kastan M. B. (1994). DNA strand breaks: the DNA template alterations that trigger p53-dependent DNA damage response pathways. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **14**: 1815-1823.
- Nicol C. J., Harrison M. L., laposa R. R., Gimelshtein I. L., and Wells P. G. (1995). A teratologic suppressor role for p53 in benzo-a-pyrene-treated transgenic p53-deficient mice. *Nature Genet.* 10: 181-187.
- Niculescu A. B., Chen X., Smeets M., Hengst L., Prives C., and Reed S. I. (1998). Effects of p21Cip1/Waf1 at both the G1/S and G2/M cell cycle transitions: pRB is a critical determinant in blocking DNA replication and in preventing endoreduplication. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 18: 629-643.
- Nigro J. M., Baker S. J., Preisinger A. C., Jessup J. M., Hostetter R., Cleary K., Bigner S. H., Davidson N., Baylin S., and Devilee P. (1989). Mutations in the p53 gene occur in diverse human tumour types. *Nature* 342: 705-708.
- Nikitin A. Y., and Lee W. H. (1996). Early loss of the retinoblastoma gene is associated with impaired growth inhibitory innervation during melanotroph carcinogenesis in Rb+/- mice. *Genes Dev.* **10**: 1870-1879.
- Nishino H., Knoll A., Buettner V. L., Frisk C. S., Marura Y., Haavik J., and Sommer S. S. (1995). p53 wild-type and p53 nullizygous Big Blue transgenic mice have similar frquencies and patterns of observed mutation in liver, spleen, and brain. *Oncogene* 11: 263-270.
- Noda A., Ning Y., Venable S. F., Pereira-Smith O. M., and Smith J. R. (1994). Cloning of senescent cellderived inhibitors of DNA synthesis using an expression screen. *Exp. Cell Res.* **211**: 90-98.
- Ohta M., Nagai H., Shimizu M., Rasio D., Berd D., mastrangelo M., Singh A. D., Shileds J. A., Shields C. L., and Croce C. M. (1994). Rarity of somatic and germline mutations of the cyclin-dependent kinase 4 inhibitor gene, CDK41, in melanoma. *Cancer Res.* 54: 5269-5272.
- Okamoto K., and Beach D. (1994). Cyclin G is a transcriptional target of the p53 tumor suppressor protein. *EMBO* 13: 4816-4822.
- Oliner J. D., Kinzler K. W., Meltzer P. S., George D. L., and Vogelstein B. (1992). Amplification of a gene encoding a p53-associated protein in human sarcomas. *Nature* **358**: 80-83.
- Oliner J. D., Pietenpol J. A., Thiagalingam S., Gyuris J., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1993). Oncoprotein MDM2 conceals the activation domain of tumor suppressor p53. *Nature* **362**: 857-860.

- Olson D. C., Marechal V., Momand J., Chen J., Romocki C., and Levine A. R. (1993). Identification and characterization of multiple mdm-2 proteins and mdm-2-p53 protein complexes. *Oncogene* **8:** 2353-2360.
- Owen G. I., Richer J. K., Tung L., Takimoto G., and Horwitz K. B. (1998). Progesterone regulates transcription of the p21WAF1 Cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor gene through Sp1 and CBP/p300. *J. Biol. Chem.* **273:** 10696-10701.
- Owen-Schaub L. B., Zhang W., Cusack J. C., Angelo L. S., Santee S. M., Fujiwara T., Roth J. A., Deisseroth A. B., Zhang W. W., and Kruzel E. (1995). Wild-type human p53 and temperaturesensitive mutant induce fas/APO-1 expression. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15: 3032-3040.
- Pardee A. B. (1989). G1 events and regulation of cell proliferation. Science 246: 603-608.
- Paulovich A. P., Toczyski D. P., and Hartwell L. H. (1997). When checkpoints fail. Cell 88: 315-321.
- Pavletich N. P., Chambers K. A., and Pabo C. O. (1993). The DNA-binding domain of p53 contains the four conserved regions and the major mutation hot spots. *Genes Dev.* 7: 2556-2564.
- Perry M. E., Piette J., Zawadzki J. A., Harvey D., and Levine A. J. (1993). The mdm-2 oncogene is induced in response to UV light in a p53-dependent manner. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 90: 11623-11627.
- Picksley S. M., Vojtesek B., Sparks A., and Lane D. P. (1994). Immunochemical analysis of the interaction of p53 with mdm2; fine mapping of the Mdm2 binding site on p53 using synthetic peptides. *Oncogene* **9**: 2523-2529.
- Pierce A. M., Fisher S. M., Conti C. J., and Johnson D. G. (1998). Deregulated expression of E2F1 induces hyperplasia and cooperates with ras in skin tumor development. *Oncogene* 16: 1267-1276.
- Pitkänen K., Haapajärvi T., and Laiho M. (1998). UVC-induction of p53 activation and accumulation is dependent on cell cycle and pathways involving protein synthesis and phosphorylation. *Oncogene* **16:** 459-469.
- Platz A., Hansson J., and Ringborg U. (1998). Screening of germline mutations in the CDK4, CDKN2C and TP53 genes in familial melanoma: a clinic-based population study. *Int. J. Cancer* **78:** 13-15.
- Pollock P. M., Pearson J. V., and Hayward N. K. (1996). Complication of somatic mutation of the CDKN2 gene in human cancers: non-random distribution of base substitutions. *Genes Chromosom. Cancer* 15: 77-88.
- Poluha W., Schonhoff C. M., Harrington K. S., Lachyankar M. B., Crosbie N. E., Bulseco D. A., and Ross A. H. (1997). A novel, nerve growth factor-activated pathway involving nitric oxid, p53 and p21WAF1 regulates neuronal differentiation of PC12 cells. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 24002-24007.
- Polyak K., Waldman T., He T. C., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1996). Genetic determinants of p53-induced apoptosis and growth arrest. *Genes Dev.* **10**: 1945-1952.
- Pomerantz J., Schreiber-Agus N., Liegois N. J., Silverman A., Alland L., Chin L., Potes J., Chen K., Orlow I., Lee H. W., Cordon-Cardo C., and DePinho R. A. (1998). The Ink4a tumor suppressor gene product, p19Arf, interacts with MDM2 and neutralizes MDM2's inhibition of p53. *Cell* 92: 713-723.
- Qian Y., Luckey C., Horton L., Esser M., and Templeten D. J. (1992). Biological function of the retinoblastoma protein requires distinct domains for hyperphosphorylation and transcription factor binding. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **12:** 5363-5372.
- Qin X.-Q., Livingston D. M., Kaelin W. G. J., and Adams P. (1994). Deregulated transcription factor E2F-1 expression leads to S-phase entry and p53-mediated apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 91: 10918-10922.
- Quelle D. E., Zindy F., Ashmun R. A., and Sherr C. J. (1995a). Alternative reading frames of the INK4a tumor suppressor gene encode two unrelated proteins capable of inducing cell cycle arrest. *Cell* 83: 993-1000.
- Quelle D. E., Ashmun R. E., Hannon G. J., Rehberger P. A., Trono D., Richter K. H., Walker C., Beach D., Sherr C. J., and Serrano M. (1995b). Cloning and characterization of murine p16INK4a and p15INK4b genes. *Oncogene* 11: 635-645.
- Reed M., Woelker B., Wang P., Wang Y., Anderson M. E., and Tegtmeyer P. (1995). The C-terminal domain of p53 recognices DNA damaged by ionizing radiation. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 9455-9459.

- Reismann P. T., Koga H., Takahashi R., Figlin R. A., Holmes E. C., Piantadosi S., Cordon-Cardo C., and Slamon D. J. (1993). Inactivation of the retinoblastoma susceptibility gene in non-small-cell lung cancer. The Lung Cancer Study Group. *Oncogene* 8: 1913-1919.
- Reynisdottir I., Polyak K., Iavarone A., and Massague J. (1995). Kip/Cip and Ink4 Cdk inhibitors cooperate to induce cell cycle arrest in response to TGF-beta. *Genes Dev.* **9**: 1831-1845.
- Robanus-Maandag E., Dekker M., van der Valk M., Carrozza M. L., jeanny J. C., Dannenberg J. H., Berns A., and te Riele H. (1998). p107 is a suppressor of retinoblastoma development in pRBdeficient mice. *Genes Dev.* 12: 1599-1609.
- Roth J., Dobbelstein M., Freedman D. A., Shenk T., and Levine A. J. (1998). Nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of the hdm2 oncoprotein regulates the levels of the p53 protein via a pathway used by the human immunodeficiency virus rev protein. *EMBO* 17: 554-564.
- Ruggeri B., Zhang S. Y., Caamano J., DiRado M., Flynn S. D., and Klein-Szanto A. J. (1992). Human pancreatic carcinomas ans cell lines reveal frecuent and multiple alterations in the p53 and Rb-1 tumor-suppressor genes. *Oncogene* 7: 1503-1511.
- Sabbatini P., Lin J., Levine A. J., and White E. (1995a). Essential role for p53-mediated transcription in E1A-induced apoptosis. *Genes Dev.* **9:** 2184-2192.
- Sabbatini P., Chiou S. K., Rao L., and White E. (1995b). Modulation of p53-mediated transcriptional repression and apoptosis by the adenovirus E1B 19K protein. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**: 1060-1070.
- Sah V. P., Attardi L. D., Mulligan G. J., Williams B. O., Bronson R. T., and Jacks T. (1995). A subset of p53-deficient embryos exhibit exencephaly. *Nature Genet.* **10:** 175-180.
- Saito M., Helin K., Valentine M. B., Griffith B. B., Willman C. L., Harlow E., and Look A. T. (1995). Amplification of the E2F1 transcription factor gene in the HEL erythroleukemia cell line. *Genomics* **25**: 130-138.
- Sakaguchi K., Herrera J. E., Saito S., Miki T., Bustin M., Vassilev A., Anderson C. W., and Appella E. (1998). DNA damage activates p53 through a phosphorylation-acetylation cascade. *Genes Dev.* **12**: 2831-2841.
- Sandell L.L., and Zakian V.A. (1993). Loss of a yeast telomere: arrest, recovery, and chromosome lost. *Cell* **75**: 729-739.
- Sands A. T., Suraokar M. B., Sanchez A., Marth J. E., Donehower L. A., and Bradley A. (1995). p53 deficiency does not affect the accumulation of point mutations in a transgene target. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 92: 8517-8521.
- Saucedo L. J., Myers C. D., and Perry M. E. (1999). Multiple murine double minute gene 2 (MDM2) proteins are induced by ultraviolet light. *J. Biol. Chem.* **274:** 8161-8168.
- Savitsky K., A. B.-S., Gilad S., Rotman G., Ziv Y., Vanagaite L., Tagle D. A., Smith S., Uziel T., and Stef S. (1995). A single ataxia telangiectasia gene with a product similar to PI-3 kinase. *Science* 268: 1749-1753.
- Scheffner M., Huibregtse J. M., Viersta R. D., and Howley P. M. (1993). The HPV-16 E6-AP complex functions as a ubiquitin-protein ligase in the ubiquitination of p53. *Cell* **75**: 495-505.
- Schwartz D., Goldfinger N., and Rotter V. (1995). Expression of p53 protein in spermatogenesis is confined to the tetrapoid pachytene primary spermatocytes. *Oncogene* 8: 1487-1494.
- Sedlacek Z., Kodet R., Seemanova E., Vodvarka P., Wilgenbus P., Mares J., Poustka A., and Goetz P. (1998). Two Li-Fraumeni syndrome families with novel germline p53 mutations: loss of the wild-type p53 allele in only 50% of tumours. *Br. J. Cancer* **77:** 1034-1039.
- Selivanova G., Iotsova v., Okan I., Fritche M., Strom M., Groner B., Grafstrom R.C., and Wiman k.G. (1997). Restoration of the growth suppression function of mutant p53 by a synthetic peptide derived from the C-terminal domain. *Nature Med.* **3**: 632-638.
- Selivanova G., Kawasaki T., Ryabchenko L., and Wiman K.G. (1998). Reactivation of mutant p53: a new strategy for cancer therapy. *Sem. Cancer Biol.* 8: 369-378.
- Selivanova G., Ryabchenko L., Jansson E., Iotsova V., and Wiman K.G. (1999). Reactivation of mutant p53 through interaction of a C-terminal peptide with the core domain. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **9**: 3395-3402.

- Serrano M., Hannon G. J., and Beach D. (1993). A new regulatory motif in cell-cycle control causing specific inhibition of cyclin D/CDK4. *Nature* 366: 704-707.
- Serrano M., Gomez-Lahoz E., DePinho R. A., Beach D., and Bar-Sagi D. (1995). Inhibition of Rasinduced proliferation and cellular transformation by p16INK4. *Science* **267**: 249-252.
- Serrano M., Lee H., Chin L., Cordon-Cardo C., Beach D., and DePinho R. A. (1996). Role of the INK4a locus in tumor suppression and cell mortality. *Cell* **85:** 27-37.
- Serrano M., Lin A. W., McCurrach M. E., Beach D., and Lowe S. W. (1997). Oncogenic ras provokes premature cell senescence associated with accumulation of p53 and p16INK4a. *Cell* **88**: 593-602.
- Seto E., Usheva A., Zambetti G. P., Momand J., Horikoshi N., Weinmann R., Levine A. J., and Shenk T. (1992). Wild-type p53 binds to the TATA-binding protein and represses transcription. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 89: 12028-12032.
- Sewing A., Wiseman B., Lloyd A., and Land H. (1997). High-intensity Raf signal causes cell cycle arrest mediated by p21Cip1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17: 5588-5597.
- Shan B., and Lee W.-H. (1994). Deregulated expression of E2F-1 induces S-phase entry and leads to apoptosis. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 14: 8166-8173.
- Shaw P., Freeman J., Bovey R., and Iggo R. (1996). Regulation of specific DNA binding by p53: Evidence for a role for O-glycosylation and charged residues at the carboxy-terminus. *Oncogene* **12**: 921-930.
- Shen Y., and Shenk T. (1994). Relief of p53-mediated transcriptional repression by the adenovirus E1B 19-kDa protein or the cellular Bcl-2 protein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91:** 8940-8944.
- Sherr C. J. (1996). Cancer cell cycles. Science 274: 1672-1677.
- Shieh S. Y., Ikeda M., Taya Y., and Prives C. (1997). DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. *Cell* **91**: 325-334.
- Shieh S. Y., Taya Y., and Prives C. (1999). DNA damage-inducible phosphorylation of p53 at N-terminal sites including a novel site, Ser20, requires tetramerization. *EMBO* **18**: 1815-1823.
- Shivakumar C. V., Brown D. R., Deb S., and Deb S. P. (1995). Wild-type human p53 transactivates the human proliferating cell nuclear antigen promoter. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **15**: 6785-6793.
- Shivji M. K. K., Grey S. J., Strausfeld U. P., Wood R. D., and Blow J. J. (1994). Cip1 inhibits DNA replication but not PCNA-dependent nucleotide excision repair. *Curr. Biol.* **4**: 1062-1068.
- Siegel J., Fritsche M., Mai S., Brandner G., and Hess R. D. (1995). Enhanced p53 activity and accumulation in response to DNA damage upon DNA transfection. *Oncogene* **11**: 1363-1370.
- Siliciano J. D., Canman C. E., Taya Y., Sakaguchi K., Appella E., and Kastan M. B. (1997). DNA damage induces phosphorylation of the amino terminus of p53. *Genes Dev.* **11**: 3471-3481.
- Slebos R. J. C., Lee M. H., Plunkett B. S., Kessis T. D., Williams B. O., Jacks T., Hedrick L., Kastan M. B., and Cho K. R. (1994). p53-dependent G1 arrest involves pRB related proteins and is disrupted by the human papillomavirus 16 E7 oncoprotein. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91**: 5320-5324.
- Smith M. L., Chen I. T., Zhan Q., Bae I., Chen C. Y., Gilmer T. M., Kastan M. B., O'Conner P. M., and Fornace A. J. Jr. (1994). Interaction of the p53-regulated protein gadd45 with proliferating cell nuclear antigen. *Science* 266: 1376-1380.
- Smith M. L., Chen I. T., Zhan Q., O'Connor P. M., and Fornace A. J. J. (1995). Involvement of the p53 tumor suppressor in repair of u.v.-type DNA damage. *Oncogene* **10**: 1053-1059.
- Smith M. L., Kontny H. U., Zhan Q., Sreenath A., O'Connor P. M., and Fornace Jr A. J. (1996). Antisense GADD45 expression results in decreased DNA repair and sensitizes cells to u.v.-irradiation or cisplatin. *Oncogene* 13: 2255-2263.
- Somasundaram K., Zhang H., Zeng Y.-X., Houvras Y., Peng Y., Zhang H., Wu G. S., Licht J. D., Weber B. L., and El-Deiry W. S. (1997). Arrest of the cell cycle by tumour-suppressor BRCA1 requires the CDK-inhibitor p21WAF1/CIp1. *Nature* 389: 187-190.
- de Stanchina E., McCurrach M. E., Zindy F., Shieh S. Y., ferbeyre G., samuelson A. V., Prives C., Roussel M. F., Sherr C. J., and Lowe S. W. (1998). E1A signaling to p53 involves the 19ARF tumor suppressor. *Genes Dev.* 12: 2435-2443.

- Steegenga W. T., van der Eb A. J., and Jochemsen A. G. (1996). How phosphorylation regulates the activity of p53. J. Mol. Biol. 263: 103-113.
- Stefanini M., Lagomarsini P., Giliani S., Nardo T., Botta E., Peserico A., Kleijer W. J., Lehmann A. R., and A. S. (1993). Genetic heterogeneity of the excision repair defect associated with trichothiodystrophy. *Carcinogenesis* 14: 1101-1105.
- Stewart N., Hicks G. G., Parakevas F., and Mowat M. (1995). Evidence for a second cell cycle clock block at G2/M by p53. *Oncogene* **10**: 109-115.
- Stone S., Jiang P., Dayananth P., tavtigian S. V., Katcher H., Parry D., Peters G., and Kamb A. (1995). Complex structure and regulation of the p16(MTS1) locus. *Cancer Res.* **55**: 2988-2994.
- Stone-Wolff D. S., and Rossman T. G. (1982). Demonstration of recovery from the potentially mutagenic effects of ultra-violet light by replication inhibited Chinese hamster V79 cells. *Mutat. Res.* **95:** 493-503.
- Stott F. J., Bates S., James M. C., McConnell B. B., Starborg M., Brookes S., Palmero I., Rayn K., Hara E., Vousden K. H., and Peters G. (1998). The alternative product from the human CDKN2A locus, p14(ARF), participates in a regulatory feedback loop with p53 and MDM2. *EMBO* 17: 5001-5014.
- Takenaka I., Morin F., Seizinger B. R., and Kley N. (1995). Regulation of the sequence-specific DNA binding function of p53 by protein kinase C and protein phosphatases. J. Biol. Chem. 270: 5405-5411.
- Taylor J.-S., Garret D. S., and Cohrs M. P. (1988). Solution-state structure of the Dewar pyrimidinone photoproduct of thymidylyl-(3'-5')-thymidine. *Biochemistry* 27: 7206-7215.
- Taylor J.-S., Garret D. S., Brockie I. R., Svoboda D. L., and Telser J. (1990). H NMR assignment and melting temperature study of cis-syn and tran-syn thymine dimer containing duplexes of d(CGTATTATGC).d(GCATAATACG). *Biochemistry* 29: 8858-8866.
- Thut C., Chen J. L., Klemm R., and Tjian R. (1995). p53 transcriptional activation mediated by coactivators TAFII40 and TAFII60. *Science* 267: 100-104.
- Tibbets R. S., Brumbaugh K. M., Williams J. M., Sarkaria J. N., Cliby W. A., Shieh S. Y., Taya Y., Prives C., and Abraham R. T. (1999). A role for ATR in the DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53. *Genes Dev.* **13**: 152-157.
- Timchenko N. A., Wilde M., Nakanishi M., Smith J. R., and Darlington G. J. (1996). CCAAT/enhancerbinding protein alpha (C/EBP alpha) inhibits cell proliferation through the p21 (WAF-1/CIP-1/SDI-1) protein. *Genes Dev.* 10: 804-815.
- Tornaletti S., Rozek D., and Pfeifer G.P. (1993). The distribution of UV photoproducts along the human p53 gene and its relation to mutations in skin cancer. *Oncogene* **8:** 2051-2057.
- Tsao H., Benoit E., Sober A. J., Thiele C., and Haluska F. G. (1998). Novel mutations in the p16/CDKN2A binding region of the cyclin-dependent kinase-4 gene. *Cancer Res.* **58**: 109-113.
- Tyrrell R. M. (1991). UVA (320-380 nm) radiation as an oxidative stress. Oxidative stress: oxidants and antioxidants 57-85.
- T'Ang A., Varley J. M., Chakraborty S., Murphree A. L., and Fung Y. K. (1988). Structural rearrangement of the retinoblastoma gene in human breast carcinoma. *Science* 242: 263-266.
- Unger T., Juven-Gershon T., Moallem E., Berger M., Vogt Sionov R., Lozano G., Oren M., and Haupt Y. (1999). Critical role for ser20 of human p53 in the negative regulation of p53 by mdm2. *EMBO* 18: 1805-1814.
- van Hoffen A., Natarajan A. T., Mayne L. V., van Zeeland A. A., Mullenders L. H., and Venema J. (1993). Deficient repair of the transcribed strand of active genes in Cockaynes's syndrome cells. *Nucleic Acids Res.* 21: 5890-5895.
- Van Meir E. G., Polverini P. J., Chazin V. R., Su Huang H.-J., de Tribolet N., and Cavanee W. K. (1994). Release of an inhibitor of angiogenesis upon induction of wild type p53 expression in glioblastoma cells. *Nature Genet.* 8: 171-176.
- Varley J. M., McGown G., Thornecroft M., Santibanez-Koref M. F., Kelsey A. M., Tricker K. J., Evans D. G., and Birch J. M. (1997). Germ-line mutations of TP53 in Li-Fraumeni families: an extended study of 39 families. *Cancer Res.* 57: 3245-3252.

- Venot C., Maratrat M., Dureuil C., Conseiller E., Bracco L., and Debussche L. (1998). The requirement of the p53 proline-rich functional domain for mediation of apoptosis is correlated with specific PIG3 gene transactivation and with transcriptional repression. *EMBO* 17: 4668-4679.
- Waga S., Hannon G. J., Beach D., and Stillman B. (1994). The p21 inhibitor of cyclin-dependent kinases controls DNA replication by interaction with PCNA. *Nature* **369**: 574-578.
- Wagner A. J., Kokontis J. M., and Hay N. (1994). Myc-mediated apoptosis requires wild-type p53 in a manner independent of cell cycle arrest and the ability of p53 to induce p21waf1/cip1. *Genes Dev.* 8: 2817-2830.
- Waldman T., Kinzler K. W., and Vogelstein B. (1995). p21 is necessary for the p53-mediated G1-arrest in human cancer cells. *Cancer Res.* 55: 5187-5190.
- Walker G. J., Hussussian C. J., Flores J. F., Glendening J. M., Haluska F. G., Dracopoli N. C., Hayward N. K., and Fountain J. W. (1995). Mutations of the CDKN2/p16INK4 gene in Australian melanoma kindreds. *Hum. Mol. Genet.* 4: 1845-1852.
- Walker K. K., and Levine A. J. (1996). Identification of a novel p53 functional domain that is necessary for efficient growth suppression. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 93: 15335-15340.
- Wang X. W., Yeh H., Schaeffer L., Roy R., Moncollin V., Egly J. M., Wang Z., Freidberg E. C., Evans M. K., and Taffe B. G. (1995). p53 modulation of TFIIH-associated nucleotide excision repair activity. *Nature Genet.* 10: 188-195.
- Wang X. W., Vermeulen W., Coursen J. D., Gibson M., Lupold S. E., Forrester K., Xu G., Elmore L., Yeh H., Hoeijmakres J. H., and Harris C. C. (1996). The XPB and XPD DNA helicases are components of the p53-mediated apoptosis pathway. *Genes Dev.* 10: 1219-1232.
- Waterman M. J., Stavridi E. S., Waterman J. L. F., and Halazonetis T. D. (1998). ATM-dependent activation of p53 involves dephosphorylation and association with 14-3-3 proteins. *Nature Genet.* 19: 175-178.
- Weichselbaum R. R., Beckett M., and Diamond A. (1988). Some retinoblastomas, osteosarcomas, and softtissue sarcomas may share a common etiology. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* 85: 2106-2109.
- Weinberg R. A. (1995). The retinoblastoma protein and cell cycle control. Cell 81: 323-330.
- Weintraub S. J., Prater C. A., and Dean D. C. (1992). Retinoblastoma protein switches the E2F site from positive to negative element. *Nature* 358: 259-261.
- Weiss J., Heine M., Arden K. C., Korner B., Pilch H., Herbst R. A., and Jung E. G. (1995). Mutation and expression of TP53 in malignant melanomas. *Cancer Res.* 139: 137-154.
- Welch P. J., and Wang J. Y. J. (1995). Disruption of retinoblatoma protein function by co-expression of its C pocket fragment. *Genes Dev.* 9: 31-46.
- White A. E., Livanos E. M., and Tlsty T. D. (1994). Differential disruption of genomic integrity and cell cycle regulation in normal fibroblasts by the HPV oncoproteins. *Genes Dev.* **8:** 666-667.
- White R. J., Trouche D., Martin K., Jackson S. P., and Kouzarides T. (1996). Repression of RNA polymerase III by the retinoblastoma protein. *Nature* **382**: 88-90.
- Whyte P., Buchkowich K., Horowitz J. M., Friend S. H., Raybuck M., Weinberg R. A., and Harlow E. (1988). Association between an oncogene and an anti-oncogene: the adenovirus E1A proteins bind to the retinoblastoma gene product. *Nature* 334: 124-129.
- Wilkie A.O., Lamb J., Harris P.C., Finney R.D., and Higgs D.R. (1990). A truncated human chromosome 16 associated with alpha thalassemia in stabilized by addition of telomeric repeat (TTAGGG)n. *Nature* 346: 868-871.
- Wolf D., and Rotter V. (1985). Major deletions in the gene encoding the p53 tumor antigen cause lack of expression in HL-60 cells. Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 82: 790-794.
- Woo R. A., McLure K. G., Lees-Miller S. P., Rancourt D. E., and Lee P. W. (1998). DNA-dependent protein kinase acts upstrem of p53 in response to DNA damage. *Nature* **394:** 700-704.
- Woods D., Parry D., Cherwinski H., Bosch E., Lees E., and McMahon M. (1997). Raf-induced proliferation or cell cycle arrest is determined by the level of Raf-activity with arrest mediated by p21Cip1. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 17: 5598-5611.

- Wu G. S., Burns T. F., McDonald E. R. 3., Jiang W., Meng R., Krantz I. D., Kao G., Gan D. D., Zhou J. Y., Muchel R., hamilton S. R., Spinner N. B., Markowitz S., Wu G., and El-Deiry W. S. (1997). Killer/DR5 is a DNA damage inducible p53-regulated death receptor gene. *Nature Genet.* 17: 141-143.
- Wu L., Bayle J. H., Elenbaas B., Pavletich N. P., and Levine A. J. (1995). Alternatively spliced forms in the carboxy-terminal domain of the p53 protein regulate its ability to promote annealing of complementary single strands of nucleic acids. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* 15: 497-504.
- Wu L., and Levine A. J. (1997). Differential regulation of the p21/WAF-1 and mdm2 genes after highdose UV irradiation: p53-dependent and p53-independent regulation of the mdm2 gene. *Mol. Med.* 3: 441-451.
- Wu R. C., and Schonthal A. H. (1997). Activation of p53-p21waf1 pathway in response to disruption of cell-matrix interactions. J. Biol. Chem. 272: 29091-29098.
- Wu X., Bayle J. H., Olson D., and Levine A. J. (1993). The p53-mdm-2 autoregulatory feedback loop. *Genes Dev.* **7:** 1126-1132.
- Wu X., and Levine A. J. (1994). p53 and E2F-1 cooperate to mediate apoptosis. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **91:** 3602-3606.
- Xiao Z. X., Chen J., Levine A. J., Modjtahedi N., Xing J., Sellers W. R., and Livingston D. M. (1995). Interaction between the retinoblastoma protein and the oncoprotein MDM2. *Nature* **375**: 694-698.
- Yamasaki L., Jacks T., Bronson R., Goillot E., Harlow E., and Dyson N. (1996). Tumor induction and tissue atrophy in mice lacking E2F-1. *Cell* 85: 537-548.
- Yamasaki L., Bronson R., Williams B. O., Dyson N. J., Harlow E., and Jacks T. (1998). Loss of E2F-1 reduces tumorigenesis and extends life-span of Rb(+/-) mice. *Nature Genet.* **18**: 360-364.
- Yan G.-Z., and Ziff E. B. (1997). Nerve growth factor induces transcription of the p21WAF1/CIP1 and Cyclin D1 genes in PC12 cells by activating the Sp1 transcription factor. *J. Neurosci.* **17:** 6122-6132.
- Yang A., Kaghad M., Wang Y., Gillett E., Fleming M.D., Dotsch V., Andrews N.C., caput D., and McKeon F. (1998). p63, a p53 homolog at 3q27-29, encodes multiple products with transactivating, death-inducing, and dominant-negative activities. *Mol. Cell* 2: 305-316.
- Yen A., and Sturgill R. (1998). Hypophosphorylation of the RB protein in S and G2 as well as G1 during growth arrest. *Exp. Cell Res.* **241**: 324-331.
- Yokota J., Akiyama T., Fung Y. K., Benedict W. F., Namba Y., Hanaoka M., Wada M., Terasaki T., Shimosato Y., and Sugimura T. (1988). Altered expression of the retinoblastoma (RB) gene in smallcell caricinoma of the lung. *Oncogene* 3: 471-475.
- Yonish-Rouach E., Deguin V., Zaitchouk T., Breugnot C., Mishal Z., Jenkins J., and May E. (1995). Transcriptional activation plays a role in the induction of apoptosis by transiently transfected wildtype p53. Oncogene 11: 2197-2205.
- Zauberman A., Lupo A., and Oren M. (1995). Identification of p53 target genes through immune selection of genomic DNA: the cyclin G gene contains two distinct p53 binding sites. *Oncogene* **10**: 2361-2366.
- Zerp S. F., van Elsas A., Peltenburg L. T., and Schrier P. I. (1999). p53 mutations in human cutaneus melanoma correlates with sun exposure but are not always involved in melanomagenesis. *Br. J. Cancer* **79**: 921-926.
- Zhan Q., Carrier F., and Fornace A. J. J. (1993). Induction of cellular p53 activity by DNA-damaging agents and growth arrest. *Mol. Cell. Biol.* **13:** 4242-4250.
- Zhan Q., Bae I., Kastan M. B., and Fornace A. J. Jr. (1994). The p53-dependent gamma-ray response of GADD45. *Cancer Res.* 54: 2755-2760.
- Zhan Q., Fan S., Smith M.L., Bae I., Yu K., Alamo I. Jr., O'Connor P.M., and Fornace A.J. Jr. (1996).
- Abrogation of p53 function affects gadd gene responses to DNA base damaging agents and starvation. *DNA and Cell Biol.* **15:** 805-815.
- Zhang H. S., Postigo A. A., and Dean D. C. (1999). Active transcriptional repression by the Rb-E2F complex mediates G1 arrest triggered by p16INK4a, TGFbeta, and contact inhibition. *Cell* **97:** 53-61.

- Zhang Y., Xiong Y., and Yarbrough W. G. (1998). ARF protects MDM2 degradation and stabilizes p53: ARF-INK4a locus deletion impairs both the Rb and p53 tunor suppressor. *Cell* **92**: 725-734.
- Zhang Y., and Xiong Y. (1999). Mutations in human ARF exon 2 disrupt its nucleolar localization and impair its ability to block nuclear export of MDM2 and p53. *Molecular Cell* **3**: 579-591.
- Zhu J., Jiang J., Zhou W., Zhu K., and Chen X. (1999). Differential regulation of cellular target genes by p53 devoid of the PXXP motifs with impired apoptotic activity. *Oncogene* 18: 2149-2155.
- Ziegler A., Leffell D. J., Kunala S., Sharma H. W., Gailani M., Simon J. A., Halperin A. J., Baden H. P., Shapiro P. E., Bale A. E., and Brash D. E. (1993). Mutation hotspot due to sunlight in the p53 gene of nonmelanoma skin cancers. *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA* **90**: 4216-4220.
- Ziegler A., Jonason A. S., Leffell D. J., Simon J. A., Sharma H. W., Kimmelman J., Remington L., Jacks T., and Brash D. E. (1994). Sunburn and p53 in the onset of skin cancer. *Nature* **372**: 773-776.
- Zindy F., Eichen C. M., Randle D. H., Kamijo T., Cleveland J. L., Sherr C. J., and Roussel M. F. (1998). Myc signaling via the ARF tumor suppressor regulates p53-dependent apoptosis and immortalization. *Genes Dev.* 12: 2424-2433.
- Zuo L., Weger J., Yang Q., Goldstein A. M., Tucker M. A., Walker G. J., Hayward N., and Dracopoli N. C. (1996). Germline mutations in the p16INK4a binding domain of CDK4 in familial melanoma. *Nature Genet.* 12: 97-99.